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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

FY2023 Fy2022 Fy2021 FY2020 FY2019

US$’000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Revenue 585,484 490,378 454,250 348,922 171,919

Gross profit 274,372 142,289 176,107 152,419 67,234

Profit/(loss) before tax 87,472 (21,841) 51,009 60,057 6,934
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable

to owners of the parent 77,481 (16,276) 41,588 54,723 6,372

Total comprehensive income/(loss)
for the year attributable to owners

of the parent 77,184 (20,495) 42,685 56,752 6,349
FY2023 FY2022 FY2021 FY2020 FY2019
US$°000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Assets:
Non-current assets 59,247 61,229 45,138 30,602 12,728
Current assets 505,887 396,065 415,669 339,122 75,922
Total asset 565,134 457,294 460,807 369,724 88,650

Equity and liabilities:

Share capital 1,500 1,500 1,503 1,449 1
Treasury shares (7,856) — — — —
Share premium 172,273 186,955 199,885 189,625 4,210
Reserves 161,599 89,043 113,250 69,057 12,183
Non-controlling interests — (41) — — —
Total equity 327,516 277,457 314,638 260,131 16,394
Non-current liabilities 9,370 11,585 13,353 12,198 8,620
Current liabilities 228,248 168,252 132,816 97,395 63,636
Total liabilities 237,618 179,837 146,169 109,593 72,256
Total equity and liabilities 565,134 457,294 460,807 369,724 88,650
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CHAIRPERSON’S STATEMENT

OUR MISSION AND VISION

We are committed to helping users “build a better living” and becoming “the intelligent ecology that understands users
best”, namely, “creating opportunities for our customers, employees and business partners to realize their dreams
through technology and innovation”.

ONLY BY EXPERIENCING COUNTLESS HARDSHIPS CAN WE REAP THE
SWEETEST FRUITS

In 2023, we bounced back even stronger and started a new cycle of growth, which is destined to leave a mark in the
Company’s development history. We grew against the trend in an economically turbulent environment, and our business
scale reached a new high:

In 2023, our revenue and profit attributable to the owners of the parent reached new highs. We recorded revenue of
approximately US$585.5 million, with a gross profit of approximately US$274.4 million, representing an increase of
approximately 19.4% and 92.8%, respectively, as compared to that of the same period in 2022. The profit attributable to
the owners of the parent amounted to approximately US$77.5 million, which is the highest level in our history. In addition
to reaching new highs in revenue and profit attributable to the owners of the parent, our net cash flows from operating
activities amounted to approximately US$106.1 million (2022: US$1.3 million), representing explosive growth. Strong
cash flows provided us with sufficient guarantees for our user centered innovative product development, channel
expansion, regional expansion, comprehensive integrated marketing, and operational efficiency optimization. We are
committed to paying back for the trust and support of our Shareholders. In 2023, we declared interim dividend and
proposed final dividend with a total amount of approximately US$31 million (2022: Nil), accounting for approximately
40% of the profit attributable to the owners of the parent.

In 2023, the market share of our products achieved first place in multiple markets. According to the statistics of NPD
Group, Inc. (“NPD”)"® " our Levoit air purifier continued to make breakthroughs, ranking first in omni-channel shares in
the U.S. from the dimensions of sales amount and sales volume for two consecutive years. Our Levoit air humidifier
business grew from the No. 1 in market share of sales on the American Amazon channel to the No. 1 in omni-channel
shares in the U.S. market. We have become the leader in these two product categories in the U.S. market. Our Cosori
air fryers continued to achieve the No. 1 ranking in sales share in the Spanish market and Norway market, accounting
for approximately 31.5% and 43% of the Spanish market and Norway market, respectively, and rapidly expanded its
sales share in the Hungarian and Swedish markets, ranking in the top three (according to the statistics of GfKN*?).

Note 1:  Such data are obtained from NPD Group’s statistics on the air purifiers and air humidifiers in the United States for 2023. NPD collects point-of-
sale data from selected retailers for its U.S. Small Appliance POS Tracking Service. This data is the actual sales from retailers/data partners on
a product basis.

Note 2. Such data are obtained from GfK’s statistics on sales data for air fryers in Spain, Norway, Hungary and Sweden for 2023.
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CHAIRPERSON’S STATEMENT

In 2023, we made further breakthroughs in expanding our non-Amazon channels. The percentage of revenue from non-
Amazon channels to total revenue increased to approximately 22.0% from approximately 16.3% in the same period in
2022, representing an increase of approximately 5.7 percentage points. More of our products entered into over 16,000
mainstream retail stores, an increase of approximately 66% as compared to the same period in 2022. Among which, in
the North American market, we have continued to increase the number of product models and stores available in
mainstream retailers, according to the information available to the Company, our products have been on more than
approximately 11,000 stores’ shelves of mainstream retailers in 2023. In the European market, our products have been
available in approximately 2,400 stores of mainstream retailers in more than 20 countries or regions, including Northern
Europe, Spain, Hungary and Germany, amounting to approximately 3,200 stores, which represented a 300% year-over-
year increase as compared to that of the same period in 2022. In the Asia-Pacific market, our products have been newly
sold in over 1,400 stores of mainstream retails in Singapore, Malaysia, Thailand, Japan, and the Middle East, etc.,
amounting to approximately 1,900 stores. All these stores made contribution to the increase of our sales from non-
Amazon channels.

In 2023, we continued to invest in product development and quality control, and our product development capability
has been strengthened through practice. We launched more new products to meet the diverse and personalized needs
of consumers based on in-depth insight into user needs, such as five new categories including the tower fan with a high
standard of quietness and fast airflow, and cordless handheld vacuum cleaner for preventing hair from wrapping
around rollers as well as over 10 new products including Levoit Vital series of smart air purifier with high sensitivity and
improved purification efficiency, the tower air humidifier for large room, evaporative humidifier with wet and dry
separation technology, one-person air fryer and the air fryers with the faster and more flexible motor technology. These
new products supplemented our existing products and further improved our brand’s market share.

As of December 31, 2023, the number of activated devices and users registered with the VeSync App continued to
grow rapidly to approximately 6.7 million and 6.7 million, respectively, with an increase of approximately 52.3% and
42.6%, respectively, as compared with the same period in 2022, and the VeSync App ranked among the top 30 in the
IOS App Store in terms of downloads in the Lifestyle category totaling no less than 120,000 apps™®©?. In addition, the
VeSync App maintained a high score of 4.8 stars rated by more than 31,000 users, as well as a high user retention rate,
and its user engagement and capability to commercialize private domain traffic were enhanced steadily. All these
achievements were attributable to our focus on high-quality user-centric product development and our systematic
construction of the VeSync App, which enabled us to manage contents by labels and recommend key sections in a
personalized way, so that users can get a more accurate and personalized experience on the VeSync App. In 2024, we
will continue to optimize the VeSync App to improve various indicators in high quality.

Note 3:  Relevant data is sourced from Qimai Data (-2 £0%).
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CHAIRPERSON’S STATEMENT

During the scale expansion of a company, it is very challenging to develop organizational capabilities that support its
business growth, as different development stages have different requirements. But once there is a breakthrough in
establishing the capability that supports the next stage, it can prop up a long-term growth in the future. In 2023, the
improvement of our organizational capabilities strongly boosted the above business development and performance
growth. As a company that pursues excellence, we continue to improve our management system and enhance the
capabilities of our team, so as to better promote business expansion. Making continuous progress themselves by
learning, our management team is committed to the growth of the Company driven by the mission of the Group, with
user-oriented, open and enterprising concept in mind.

2024 OUTLOOK

We started a new growth cycle in 2023. We believe that we will make more breakthroughs and lay a new foundation
along the way in 2024.

In 2024, we will further enhance our product innovation capability based on deep insight into user needs, combined
with product development process optimization and talent optimization, so as to significantly improve our product
development capabilities. Based on the development and innovation capabilities of China’s supply chain, we will make
good use of industry resources, and combine our core industry development platform and innovation capabilities to
achieve a balance among category, innovation and development cycle.

In 2024, we will accelerate the frequency and pace of product launches, with no fewer than 10 new products for existing
key categories, including air purifiers, humidifiers, air fryers and vacuum cleaners. Apart from this, we will continue to
expand our market share by expanding into new key categories, such as pet supplies and air-circulating fans.

In 2024, we will further accelerate channel expansion with more expansion in non-Amazon channels and in regions
such as Europe and Asia. More of our products will be selected for offline retailers, such as Target’s offline superstores,
and cover more stores.

In 2024, we will continue to follow the strategic direction of integrating hardware, software, content and services to
further improve the scenario-based content of our VeSync Holistic Wellness strategy, further magnify the value of smart
products to users and help customers achieve a healthier and more active lifestyle.

In 2024, we will expand the breadth of brand operations by implementing methods from Asian e-commerce and digital
marketing practices. Leveraging insights from our user base in markets such as the United States, Europe and Japan,
we will operate our brand from a multidimensional perspective with content at the core. This approach aims to promote
brand management across all touchpoints throughout the product lifecycle and consumer purchase decision journey,
thereby enhancing our brand awareness and influence among users.

Vesync Co., Ltd
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CHAIRPERSON’S STATEMENT

In the next few years, we will continue to advance on the Holistic Wellness market, which is based on user health, and
further perfect the intelligent, automated and individualized solutions integrating of “software + hardware + content +
algorithms”, which involves the interconnection and interoperability of multiple product categories, providing in-depth
professional content and big data analytics to capture actionable insight. In the Holistic Wellness market in particular,
only solutions that provide actionable insight are truly intelligent. Everyone is unique, with different genes, living
environment, goals, personalities, preferences, habits, etc. A healthy lifestyle should not be sameness, but variable. A
product solution that “understands users” is a truly intelligent solution. This requires us to have a strong professionalism,
to understand users, develop an innovative methodology, so as to foster a strong R&D, supply chain, and other
capabilities required along with the entire chain. To this end, all employees of VeSync are required to constantly learn
about Holistic wellness, and build up a team of experts and establish a professional knowledge base, and equip with
strong digital intelligence capabilities, so that we can help users to identify key elements amidst the comprehensive and
complex factors. By providing quality recommendations, the user value will increase, and business results will come as
nature. Our reputation endorses our products. That is a long journey to achievements waiting for us. We will firmly march
towards this goal by making changes and adjustments continuously every year.

Last but not least, | would like to thank the management and employees for their efforts and dedication. | would also like

to express my sincere gratitude to all our business partners, customers and shareholders for their vigorous support and
confidence in the Group!

Yang Lin
Chairperson of the Board

March 25, 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

With our mission to help users “build a better living”, we are dedicated to continuously improving users’ daily lives and
making users’ lives healthier in small but meaningful ways with innovative and user-friendly products and services. We
primarily design, develop and sell products under our three core brands. Among them, the “Levoit” brand focuses on
the home environment, with business planning based on the environmental health elements, such as air, temperature,
humidity, light, water and sound, etc. Currently, the brand offers products covering airborne particles, humidity, ground
cleaning, temperature and other areas and is committed to building a healthy home environment for users; the “Cosori”
brand focuses on dietary health, and currently offers products covering air frying, toasting, boiling, steaming and other
cooking methods. We have been exploring ways to promote healthy cooking methods, healthy recipes, healthy food
database, and dietary programs as well as popularizing healthy diet knowledge, with an aim to make healthy diets more
convenient and accessible to users; and the “Etekcity” brand focuses on users’ body weight and fithess management,
health monitoring and personal care. Furthermore, to make things more convenient, efficient and enjoyable for our
users, our VeSync App enables users to achieve centralized control of smart home devices and also provides them with
professional contents and services to offer a more efficient and personalized product experience for our users.

Over the past three years, we continued to invest in and upgrade our product development capabilities and are
committed to operating our brands in a multi-dimensional manner and strengthening our efforts to expand into non-
Amazon channels. We expanded our veteran management and team, adhered to independent technology development
and innovative design, continually optimized our product development process. Although these investments will place
pressures on our operating profit margins in the short term, we believe that our perseverance to withstand the pressures
will enable us to reap long-term returns from these investments. In 2023, our business operations witnessed positive
changes brought by such perseverance.

In 2023, we witnessed continuous growth in sales revenue and further improvement in profitability, marking the
beginning of a new round of growth. The Group’s revenue and profit attributable to owners of the parent reached new
heights. The revenue of the Group amounted to approximately US$585.5 million, with a gross profit of approximately
US$274.4 million, representing an increase of approximately 19.4% and 92.8%, respectively, as compared to that of the
same period in 2022. The profit attributable to owners of the parent amounted to approximately US$77.5 million,
reaching a historical high of the Group. Benefiting from the Group’s continuous efforts to enhance and accumulate its
capabilities in various aspects, including but not limited to product excellence, channel development, regional
expansion, brand promotion, and operational efficiency improvement, we achieved favorable market performance and
significantly improved profitability in 2023. The gross profit margin of the Group was approximately 46.9% (2022:
approximately 29.0%), representing an increase of approximately 17.9 percentage points as compared with the same
period last year.

Vesync Co., Ltd
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In terms of market share of product, our main product categories ranked first in many markets. According to the
statistics of NPD Group, Inc. (“NPD”)™*"  the sales volume and sales share of Levoit air purifiers in the U.S. market
continued to expand and accounted for approximately 28.6% of the market share in terms of sales, increased by 5.6
percentage points as compared to that of the same period in 2022, and ranking first in the U.S. market for two
consecutive years. After several years of intensive cultivation, Levoit air humidifiers continued the success of air purifier
products and grew from No. 1 in market share of sales on the American Amazon channel to No. 1 in market share of
sales in the U.S. market (according to the statistics of NPD), accounting for approximately 22.7% market share. Cosori
air fryers achieved No. 1 rankings in sales share in both Spanish and Norwegian markets, accounting for approximately
31.5% of the Spanish market and approximately 43% of the Norwegian market, and rapidly expanded in Hungary and
Sweden, already among the top three in terms of market share (according to the statistics of GfK"®?). In addition,
according to the Company’s internal statistics, the Company’s Etekcity body scales, kitchen scales, luggage scales,
infrared thermometers, Cosori food dehydrators and electric kettles, all achieved first place in terms of sales volume
market share on the American Amazon channel, which fully demonstrates that the Company can keep rapid growth and
iteration in terms of user insights and innovation, cross-channel research and development, global value chain control,
streamlined and agile operation, brand expansion and multi-dimensional marketing, to stand out in the competition with
other well-known brands.

In terms of channel development, the revenue from Amazon channel and non-Amazon channels in 2023 increased by
approximately 11.2% and 61.2%, respectively, as compared to that of the same period in 2022. The percentage of
revenue from non-Amazon channels to total revenue increased to approximately 22.0% from approximately 16.3% in
the same period in 2022, representing an increase of approximately 5.7 percentage points. In the North American
market, we have continued to increase the number of product models and stores available in mainstream retailers,
according to the information available to the Company, our products have been on more than approximately 11,000
stores’ shelves of mainstream retailers in 2023, which led to an increase in sales of the corresponding retailer channels,
compared with the same period in 2022, the Company’s growth in revenue derived from Walmart, one of the major
retailers, increased by more than 150%. In the European market, our products have been available in approximately 2,400
stores of mainstream retailers in more than 20 countries or regions, including Northern Europe, Spain, Hungary and
Germany, amounting to approximately 3,200 stores, which represented a 300% year-over-year increase as compared
to that of the same period in 2022. In the Asia-Pacific market, our products have been newly sold in over 1,400 stores of
mainstream retails in Singapore, Malaysia, Thailand, Japan, and the Middle East, etc., amounting to approximately 1,900
stores.

In terms of regional expansion, sales from the European market reached approximately US$125.7 million. As demand
for air fryers in Europe market surged in the second half of 2022 due to the impact of the significant increase in energy
prices, in the context of essentially flat gas prices in Europe in 2023, the European market still achieved growth of
16.5% as compared to that of the same period in 2022, driven by continued users demand and the competitiveness of
Cosori products. Our Cosori kitchen appliances continued to gain momentum in the European market. According to the
Company’s internal statistics, in 2023, Cosori air fryers achieved a high ranking in Amazon’s major European site
channels and rapidly expanded store numbers in non-Amazon channels. The Asian market also experienced rapid
growth, with sales of approximately US$29.8 million, representing an increase of approximately 83.4% compared to that
of the same period in 2022.

Note 1: Such data are obtained from NPD Group’s statistics on the air purifiers and air humidifiers in the United States for 2023. NPD collects point-of-
sale data from selected retailers for its U.S. Small Appliance POS Tracking Service. This data is the actual sales from retailers/data partners on a
product basis.

Note 2. Such data are obtained from GfK’s statistics on sales data for air fryers in Spain, Norway, Hungary and Sweden for 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

We continued to invest in product development and quality control, and our product development capability has been
strengthened through practice. In 2023, we launched more new products to meet the diverse and personalized needs
of consumers based on in-depth insight into user needs, such as five new categories including the tower fan with a high
standard of quietness and fast airflow, and cordless handheld vacuum cleaner for preventing hair from wrapping
around rollers as well as over 10 new products including Levoit Vital series of smart air purifier with high sensitivity and
improved purification efficiency, the tower air humidifier for large room, evaporative humidifier with wet and dry
separation technology, one-person air fryer and the air fryers with the faster and more flexible motor technology. These
new products supplemented our existing products and further improved our brand’s market share. Meanwhile, our
product design capabilities have also been further demonstrated. The Company’s Levoit Vital series of smart air
purifiers, Levoit 42-inch smart tower fan, LI401S air fryer and smart food thermometer have won the iF Design Award.

For smart home solution providers, we have gradually evolved from single-product intelligence to multi-scene
intelligence to constantly enrich and enhance consumers’ experience, so as to increase the chances of selling more
products and to increase product premiums. We strengthen the software and products interconnection technologies to
create an integrated product experience and provide consumers with professional content and services to make our
products more efficient, convenient and personalized, which in turn will contribute to the synergy effects between our
hardware product sales, VeSync App users and registrations. In 2023, the number of activated devices and users
registered with the VeSync App continued to grow rapidly to approximately 6.7 million and 6.7 million, respectively, with
an increase of approximately 52.3% and 42.6%, respectively, as compared with the same period in 2022. As of
December 31, 2023, the VeSync Apps ranked among the top 30 in the IOS App Store in terms of downloads in the
Lifestyle category totaling no less than 120,000 Apps™®*.

As a company with international brands, we operate our brands in multiple dimensions to increase the recognition of
our brands among consumers. We continued to consolidate our brand influence on online platforms. In addition to
increasing the conversion rate of our products by optimizing our promotional strategies on e-commerce platforms, we
have also strengthened investments in social media operations with a focus on the operation of our official accounts on
Facebook, Youtube, TikTok, X and other platforms in North American, European and Asian markets by frequently
posting videos of our products and other content, interacting with our fans and cooperating with key opinion leaders to
increase our brand exposure and help our products meet customer expectations. As of December 31, 2023, more than 1.1
million followers subscribed to us on these social media platforms in aggregate. We also organized physical product
experience events, participated in international exhibitions and held offline products exhibition to communicate with
consumers deeply, thereby increasing their understanding of our brand. In addition, we actively engage into
environmental protection to show the positive power. We advocate low carbon and environmental protection through
our products, and carry out public welfare activities to help the disadvantaged groups.

Note 3: Such data are obtained from gimai data.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

In 2023, the Group’s revenue amounted to approximately US$585.5 million, representing an increase of approximately
19.4% as compared with the same period of 2022. The gross profit was approximately US$274.4 million, representing
an increase of approximately 92.8% as compared with the same period of 2022, the gross profit margin of the Group
was approximately 46.9% (2022: 29.0%), representing an increase of approximately 17.9 percentage points as
compared with 2022. The profit attributable to owners of the parent was approximately US$77.5 million. The basic
earning per share was approximately US6.92 cents (2022: basic loss per share of US1.44 cents).

The Company recorded an explosive growth in net cash flow from operation activities of approximately US$106.1 million
in 2023 (2022: US$1.3 million). The strong cash flow provides sufficient guarantee for the Group’s development of user-
centric innovative products, channel development, regional expansion, fully integrated marketing and optimization of
operational efficiency.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group’s overall revenue amounted to approximately US$585.5 million,
representing an increase of approximately 19.4% as compared to approximately US$490.4 million recorded for the year
ended December 31, 2022. This was mainly driven by the strong sales of various home products in terms of quantities
sold, including Levoit air purifiers, tower fans, Cosori air fryers, toaster ovens and Etekcity smart fitness scales, kitchen
scales, etc. Our products, such as Levoit air purifier and air humidifier, achieved no. 1 in terms of sales share in the
United States according to the statistics of NPD. Cosori air fryers achieved a high ranking in Amazon’s major site
channels and expanded stores rapidly in non-Amazon channels.

Business Review by Sales Channel

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the revenue by sales channels of the Group:

2022
US$'000

Amazon channel 456,603 410,443
Non-Amazon channels 128,881 79,935
Total 585,484 490,378

A majority of the Group’s revenue from the Amazon channel was generated from the Vendor Central program in 2023.
Under the Vendor Central program, Amazon makes bulk purchase orders from us and then sells to its customers
through the Amazon e-commerce marketplace. Non-Amazon channels primarily include chain retailers, other e-commerce
marketplaces and our own online shopping websites.

The revenue of the Group generated from the Amazon channel increased by approximately 11.2% in 2023 as compared
with 2022, primarily due to the increase in sales volume of categories such as air purifiers, tower fans, air fryers, toaster
ovens, body fitness scales, kitchen scales, etc.

Vesync Co., Ltd
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The revenue of the Group in the non-Amazon channels in 2023 increased significantly by approximately 61.2% as
compared to that of 2022. The revenue growth of the Group in the chain retailers was primarily due to the significant
increase in in-store sales. As the reputation of our brands, products and our track records in chain retailers continue to
grow, we have secured favorable shelf positions in key chain retailers. Compared to the same period in 2022, the
Company’s growth in revenue derived from Walmart, one of the major retailers, increased by more than 150%. In the
European market, our products have been available in approximately 3,200 stores of mainstream retailers in over 20
countries or regions, including Northern Europe, Spain, Hungary and Germany. In the Asia-Pacific market, our products
have been sold in over approximately 1,900 stores of mainstream retailers in Singapore, Malaysia, Thailand, Japan, and
the Middle East, etc.

Business Review by Geographic Location

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the revenue by geographic location:

2023 2022
US$’000 US$'000

North America 429,936 366,182
Europe 125,741 107,946
Asia 29,807 16,250
Total 585,484 490,378

Revenues generated in North America increased to approximately US$429.9 million in 2023, primarily driven by the
growth in revenue from the United States. The growth in revenue from the United States was mainly attributable to the
increase in sales volume of (i) home environment appliances such as the Levoit air purifiers and supporting filters; and (ii)
the revenue from the non-Amazon channels. The Group’s revenue in European sales in 2023 increased by
approximately 16.5% to US$125.7 million as compared to that of 2022, which was primarily due to (i) the increase in
sales volume of Cosori air fryers, water bottles and Levoit air purifiers, and (ii) the active demand for Levoit's new
product categories like vacuum cleaners and tower fans in Germany, the United Kingdom, Spain and other European
countries. Revenue in Asia increased by approximately 83.4% in 2023, primarily attributable to the increased sales in
Japan.

Vesync Co., Ltd
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Business Review by Brand

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the revenue by brand:

2023 2022
US$°000 US$'000

Levoit 327,155 276,459
Cosori 195,764 166,779
Etekcity 61,348 46,663
Others 1,217 477
Total 585,484 490,378

Revenue generated from the Levoit brand increased by approximately US$50.7 million in 2023 as compared to that of
2022, primarily driven by the growth in revenue from air purifiers and air purifier filters. Revenue generated from the
Cosori brand increased by approximately US$29.0 million or 17.4% as compared to that of 2022, mainly driven by air
fryer sales in the European market. In addition, Cosori toaster ovens performed well, which increased in revenue by
nearly 70% for the whole year. Revenue generated from Etekcity products increased by approximately 31.5%, mainly
due to the approximately 30.2% or approximately US$6.7 million increase in revenue from body scales. Our product
categories other than air purifiers, air humidifiers and air fryers accounted for an increased proportion of our total
revenue, which also contributed to further growth of the Company’s performance.

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the gross profit of the Group amounted to approximately US$274.4 million,
representing an increase of approximately 92.8% as compared to that of 2022, and the gross profit margin of the Group
was approximately 46.9% (2022: 29.0%), representing an increase of approximately 17.9 percentage points as
compared to that of 2022. The increase in gross profit and gross profit margin was primarily attributable to the further
increase in revenue generated from our products, and the significant decrease in cost of sales due to a reduction in
international freight rates and other costs as compared to that of 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Other income and gains of the Group primarily consist of (i) bank interest income; (ii) government grants; and (iii)
foreign exchange gains, net.

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the Group’s other income and gains:

2023 2022
US$’000 US$'000

Bank interest income 3,771 775
Government grants 2,930 2,562
Foreign exchange gains, net 3,494 —
Others 62 705
Total 10,257 4,042

For the year ended December 31, 2023, other income and gains of the Group amounted to approximately US$10.3
million (2022: approximately US$4.0 million), representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 153.8%. This was
mainly attributable to the increase in foreign exchange gains resulting from exchange rate fluctuations and the bank
interest income.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

Selling and distribution expenses of the Group primarily consists of (i) marketing and advertising expenses; (ii)
commission to platform; (iii) staff costs; and (iv) warehousing expenses.

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the Group’s selling and distribution expenses:

2023 2022
US$’000 US$'000

Marketing and advertising expenses 42,448 35,993
Commission to platform 2,568 2,409
Staff costs 23,975 23,319
Warehousing expenses 24,161 20,680
Others 6,065 6,838
Total 99,217 89,239

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses increased by approximately 11.2% from approximately US$89.2 million
for the year ended December 31, 2022 to approximately US$99.2 million for year ended December 31, 2023. Such
increase was driven by (i) the increase in marketing and advertising expenses to increase the market presence of the
Group’s key products and new products; (ii) the increase in warehousing expenses due to the increase in sales volume.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group’s administrative expenses primarily consists of (i) research and development expenses; (ii) administrative
staff costs; (iii) professional fees; (iv) office expenses; (v) depreciation and amortization; and (vi) travelling and
entertainment expenses.

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the Group’s administrative expenses:

2023 2022
US$’000 US$'000

Research and development expenses 34,161 29,954
Administrative staff costs 26,677 22,535
Professional fees 12,244 8,128
Office expenses 1,789 2,776
Depreciation and amortization 3,505 4,146
Travelling and entertainment expenses 852 528
Others 3,861 1,624
Total 83,089 69,591

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by approximately 19.4% from approximately US$69.6 million for the
year ended December 31, 2022 to approximately US$83.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily due
to (i) the increase in research and development expenses to prepare for product upgrades and new products; and (ii)
the increase in the administrative staff costs as a result of the increase in the per capita salaries.

OTHER EXPENSES

The Group’s other expenses totaled approximately US$12.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 (2022:
approximately US$8.0 million).
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FINANCE COST

Finance costs of the Group primarily represent (i) interest on bank loans; and (ii) interest on lease liabilities.

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the Group’s finance costs:

2023 2022
US$°000 US$'000

Interest on bank loans 626 893
Interest on lease liabilities 480 653
Others 426 145
Total 1,532 1,691

The Group’s finance costs decreased from approximately US$1.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 to
approximately US$1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily due to the decrease in interest on bank
loans and interest on lease liabilities.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profit arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which
members of the Group are domiciled and operate.

The Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and the BVI, the Company and its subsidiary are not
subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

Chinese Mainland

The provision for current income tax in Chinese Mainland is based on the statutory rate of 25% of the assessable profits
of certain PRC subsidiaries of the Group as determined in accordance with the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, which
was approved and became effective on 1 January 2008, except for certain subsidiaries of the Group in Chinese
Mainland which are granted tax concession and are taxed at preferential tax rates.

Shenzhen Chenbei is qualified as a High and New Technology Enterprise and was subject to tax at a preferential
income tax rate of 15% (2022: 15%) during the year.

Chongging Xiaodao is located in Western Region and was entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 15% during the
year, according to the Income Tax Policy for Enterprises in the Large-scale Development of the Western Region.

Dongguan Zhilun is qualified as a High and New Technology Enterprise and was subject to tax at a preferential income
tax rate of 15% (2022: 2.5% for the taxable income less than or equal to RMB1,000,000 and 5% for the taxable income
between RMB1,000,000 and RMB3,000,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Singapore

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Singapore, the income derived from qualifying activities is taxed at a
concessionary tax rate of 10% and the non-qualifying income is taxed at the prevailing corporate tax rate of 17%.

United States

Pursuant to the relevant tax laws of the United States, tax at a maximum of 21% (2022: 21%) federal corporate income
tax rate and 8.84% (2022: 8.84%) California state tax rate has been provided on the taxable income arising in the United
States during the year.

Netherlands, Germany and the United Kingdom

The subsidiary in the Netherlands is entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 19% for the taxable income less than or
equal to EUR200,000 and an income tax rate of 25.8% for the taxable income over EUR200,000 (2022: 15% for the
taxable income less than or equal to EUR395,000 and an income tax rate of 25.8% for the taxable income over
EUR395,000). The subsidiary in Germany is entitled to a combined tax rate of 29.13% (2022: 29.13%), consisting of a
corporate tax rate of 15%, a solidarity surcharge thereon of 5.5% and a trade tax rate of 13.3%. The subsidiary in the
United Kingdom is entitled to a statutory tax rate of 25%.

Income tax expenses of the Group changed from income tax gains of approximately US$5.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022 to income tax expenses of approximately US$10.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023,
primarily due to the increased profit before income tax in 2023 as compared with the corresponding period in 2022 and
the deferred income tax.

EARNINGS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT

As a result of the foregoing, the Group had earnings attributable to owners of parent of approximately US$77.5 million
for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared with a loss attributable to owners of parent of approximately US$16.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2022.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise (i) bank and other borrowings; (i) cash generated from operations;
and (iii) net proceeds from the Global Offering.

The Group meets its capital needs through cash flows from operations and financing as a result of the net proceeds
from the Global Offering. The Group had cash and cash equivalents of approximately US$93.6 million as of December
31, 2022 and approximately US$104.3 million as of December 31, 2023. The cash and cash equivalents of the Group
are mainly denominated in RMB, US$ and EUR.
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As of December 31, 2023, the Group had total bank borrowings of approximately US$29.8 million (2022: approximately
US$9.2 million), which were all denominated in US$ and RMB.

The table sets forth a breakdown of the bank borrowings of the Group as of December 31, 2023:

2023 2022
US$’000 US$'000

Interest-bearing bank borrowing
— current portion 29,584 8,495
— non-current portion 219 741
Total 29,803 9,236

The table below sets forth the aging analysis of the repayment terms of interest-bearing bank borrowings as of
December 31, 2023:

2023 2022
US$’000 US$'000

Bank loans repayable:

Within one year or on demand 29,584 8,495

Over one year 219 741
Total 29,803 9,236
TREASURY POLICY

The Group adopts a prudent approach in its cash management and risk control. Most of the sales are denominated in
US$, with the remaining mainly denominated in currencies of the countries to which the Group sells its products. The
Group pays subcontractors and suppliers (including those located in the PRC) mainly in US$ and RMB. As a result of
the foregoing, the Group’s consolidated financial results are affected by currency exchange rate fluctuations. The
Group recorded a currency exchange gains of approximately US$3.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 (2022:
currency exchange losses of approximately US$4.4 million).

As of December 31, 2023, the Group manages its foreign exchange risk by using appropriate financial derivatives, and
priority will be given to simple, cost-efficient and effective hedge instruments which meet the HKFRS 9 in performing
foreign exchange risk management responsibilities. Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognized at fair
value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Any
gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives are taken directly to profit or loss.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

As of December 31, 2023, there were no significant investments held by the Group or future plans for significant
investments or capital assets.

The Company did not have any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures for the
year ended December 31, 2023.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As of December 31, 2023, the Group had 1,296 employees in total, in which 1,164 employees were in the PRC, 125
employees were in the Unites States and 7 employees were in other locations. For the year ended December 31, 2023,
the Group recognized staff costs of approximately US$78.8 million (2022: approximately US$69.5 million).

The Company believes that the ability to recruit and retain experienced and skilled labor is crucial to the Group’s growth
and development. The Group provides training to its new employees to familiarize them with the working environment
and work culture. The Group also provides on-the-job training to the employees, which aims at developing their skills so
as to meet the strategic goals and customer requirements. In addition to providing the Group’s staff with the
opportunities to receive on-the-job trainings, the Group strives to create a harmonious and warm working and living
environment for the staff. For the year ended December 31, 2023, several culture webinars were held to drive forward
our employees’ understanding of the connection between product design and our end-users.

The Company also adopted a training policy, pursuant to which training on management skills, technology and other
relevant topics are regularly provided to the employees by internal speakers and third-party consultants.

The Group enters into employment agreements with each of the employees in accordance with the applicable laws and
regulations. The remuneration packages of the employees generally include basic salaries, bonuses and employee
benefits such as medical insurance packages. The Group conducts annual review to identify employees with
extraordinary performance and offers them promotions and salary raises.

During the Reporting Period, the Group maintained social insurance for its employees pursuant to the applicable PRC
laws and regulations by making contributions to the mandatory social insurance and housing provident funds which
provide basic retirement, work-related injury and maternity benefits. Contributions made from the Group to the pension
schemes are recognized as expenses when incurred and will not be reduced by contributions forfeited by employees
who leave the schemes prior to vesting fully in the contributions.

In addition, to provide incentive or reward to the employees for their contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote
the interests of, the Group, the Company has adopted the Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme, the Share Option Scheme and
the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme.

The Remuneration Committee has been established to provide recommendations to the Board on the overall
remuneration policy and structure of all Directors and senior management of the Group, review the remuneration and
ensure that no Directors have determined their own remuneration, and review/approve matters relating to the Share
Option Scheme and the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme.
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CHARGES ON ASSETS

As of December 31, 2023, the Group had approximately US$82.4 million of charges on assets, primarily attributable to
pledged deposits for issuing banker’s acceptances to suppliers. (2022: approximately US$12.0 million).

GEARING RATIO

As of December 31, 2023, the Group's gearing ratio (calculated as the total debt (including interest-bearing bank
borrowings and lease liabilities) divided by total equity as of the end of each year) was approximately 11.7% (December
31, 2022: approximately 7.4%).

FUTURE OUTLOOK

We remain firmly committed to our core belief to foster connected lifestyles and make life better by creating smarter
products under the brands of Levoit, Cosori and Etekcity. Going forward in 2024, we aim to continue focusing on our
strategies: (i) further upgrade and expand our user-oriented product portfolio; (ii) bring greater business potential from
other sales channels by enlarging our product portfolio in existing stores, entering into new stores and getting access to
more new chain retailers, thus leveraging our brand recognition; (iii) expand geographic coverage, especially deepen
the market share of Cosori and Levoit products in the European market; (iv) continue to invest in technologies with an
aim to develop VeSync App into a home loT platform; and (v) strengthen brand operation from multiple dimensions to
enhance consumer awareness of the brand.

We aim to further enhance our product portfolio, in particular smart home devices in the consumer space, while
leveraging our track record for developing relevant, consumer-friendly products in the business-to-business space. In
2024, the Company will launch more than 10 format types of new generation multi-functional products, such as smart air
purifiers, smart air humidifiers, air-circulating fans, multi-functional smart air fryers, new generation vacuums, smart pet
products, new generation of massagers and smart fitness scales. In terms of brand marketing, we continue to increase
the amount video content to enhance brand reputation and reach target users deeply; in terms of channel expansion,
more of our products have entered mainstream superstores and we have increased the share of non-Amazon channels
to strengthen the operation of the U.S. TikTok platform and expand the sales share of the TikTok platform.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Ms. Yang Lin (##f), aged 50, is the founder of the Group. She was appointed as a Director on January 9, 2019 and
designated as an executive Director on May 27, 2020. Ms. Yang is also the chairperson of the Board and the chief
executive officer responsible for overall strategic planning and overseeing general management and daily operation of
the Group. Ms. Yang holds directorships in each of the subsidiaries of the Group except Ecomine Co., Limited,
ARCESUS (VIETNAM) CO., LTD and Vitasync Investment (HK) Co., Limited. She is also the chairperson of the
nomination committee and a member of the remuneration committee of the Company. Ms. Yang has more than 18 years
of experience in the small home appliance and smart home device industry. Prior to founding the Group in 2006, from
January 2005 to March 2007, Ms. Yang worked at Community CPA & Associates Inc. with last position served as an
office manager, where she was principally responsible for preparing financial statements and management proprietary
report, tax filling and business consultation for business and individual clients. In anticipation of the business potential
of the small home appliances and electronic gadgets market, Ms. Yang first commenced the trading business of small
home appliances and electronic gadgets through establishing L&H Y U.S. in the United States in October 2006.

Ms. Yang obtained a master’s degree in law from East China University of Political Science and Law (EEERBUAAE) in
the PRC in December 2004.

Ms. Yang is the sister of Mr. Yang Hai, the executive Director and the daughter of Mr. Yang Yuzheng, the non-executive
Director.

Mr. Yang Hai (#53%), aged 48, was appointed as an executive Director on May 27, 2020. Mr. Yang Hai is also the vice
president of the Company principally responsible for overseeing sales, marketing and online operation of the Group. He
is also a member of the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the Company.

Mr. Yang has more than 20 years of experience in the communication technology industry. Prior to joining the Group in
2011 from June 2003 to September 2006, Mr. Yang worked as a software engineer at Asiainfo Technologies (China)
Inc. (ER{5RHE AR A F]), where he was principally responsible for billing system development. From September 2006 to
June 2011, he worked at Ericsson (China) Communications Co., Ltd as a software engineer responsible for gateway
server development. In December 2011, Mr. Yang Hai joined Etekcity Corporation and has since served as the vice
president of the Group. Mr. Yang is currently an independent non-executive director of Howkingtech International
Holding Limited (ZEERHEBIFRIEAZ AR A 8)) (stock code: 2440), a company listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Yang obtained a bachelor’s degree in thermal energy and power engineering from Southeast University (3 AZ2)
in the PRC in June 1996. He further obtained a master’s degree in engineering from Shanghai Jiaotong University (/&
ZBAER) in the PRC in March 1999.

Mr. Yang Hai is the brother of Ms. Yang Lin, the executive Director and the son of Mr. Yang Yuzheng, the non-executive
Director.
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Mr. Chen Zhaojun (FRIKE), aged 46, was appointed as an executive Director on May 27, 2020. Mr. Chen is also the
chief finance officer and vice president of the Company principally responsible for overseeing financial management,
internal control and compliance matters of the Group.

Mr. Chen has more than 20 years of experience in the accounting and business management industry. Prior to joining
the Group in 2018, from September 2003 to June 2004 Mr. Chen worked as a senior project manager of investment
department in ZTE Corporation (stock code: 763), a multinational company principally engaged in the manufacturing of
telecom equipment whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. In July 2004, Mr. Chen joined MOBI Development
Co., Ltd. (“"MOBI") (stock code: 947) as a finance manager, a company principally engaged in the manufacturing and
sales of wireless communication antennas and base station radio frequency subsystems whose shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange, where he was subsequently promoted to the chief finance officer in August 2009 and was appointed
as an executive director in July 2016. On July 13, 2018, Mr. Chen was redesignated from an executive director to a non-
executive director and resigned as the chief finance officer on the same date. Mr. Chen then joined Shenzhen City
Chenbei Technology Company Limited (RYITEILEHZBRAFR) in July 2018, and has served as the chief finance
officer and vice president since then. In March 2019, Mr. Chen resigned as the non-executive director of MOBI.

Mr. Chen obtained a bachelor’'s degree and a master’s degree both in economics from Xiamen University (EFIAZ) in
the PRC in July 1999 and July 2002, respectively. He also obtained a master’s degree in business administration from
the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in November 2014. Mr. Chen passed the exam of certified public
accountants in the PRC in October 2006 and has been a member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
since February 2015.

Non-executive Director

Mr. Yang Yuzheng ((3#i1E), aged 80, was appointed as a non-executive Director on May 27, 2020, and is principally
responsible for providing advice on the management of the Group.

Mr. Yang Yuzheng has been retired since April 1999. Prior to his retirement, he had worked as a public servant in a
number of government authorities, including United Front Revolutionary Committee of Industry and Communication of
Maoming City, Guangdong Province (BR&XKET LB FEZ), Organization Department of County Committee of
Tongzi County, Guizhou Province (E /& REHZ4B%EF), Commission for Discipline Inspection of Tongzi County,
Guizhou Province (BEME RS LEBREZEE), United Front Work Department of the County Committee of Tongzi
County, Guizhou Province (& /N&AFH%Z 48iE6), Commission of Ethnic and Religious Affairs of Tongzi County,
Guizhou Province (BMAMIEZRERHEEZE®), Bureau of Land and Restheces of Tongzi County, Guizhou
Province (B M &A% &R /E) and Bureau of Natural Restheces of Tongzi County, Guizhou Province (& M & 1i1E
SHRERD) for around 30 years.

Mr. Yang Yuzheng graduated from the South-Central Minzu University (F F R iz KX 2) (formerly known as South Central
Minzu College (F7 Fg R 5 E2F%)) majoring in Chinese language in the PRC in July 1967.

Mr. Yang Yuzheng is the father of Ms. Yang Lin and Mr. Yang Hai, both of whom are the executive Directors.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fong Wo, Felix (75 ), BBS, JP, aged 73, was appointed as the independent non-executive Director on December 1,
2020. Mr. Fong is responsible for supervising the management of the Group and providing independent judgement to
the Board. He is also the chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of the audit committee and the
nomination committee of the Company.

Mr. Fong has practiced law for more than 40 years. Mr. Fong was admitted as a barrister and solicitor in Ontario,
Canada in 1980, a solicitor in England and Wales in 1986, and in Hong Kong in 1987. He is a member of the Law
Societies of Hong Kong, Upper Canada and England. Since August 1988, Mr. Fong has been with King & Wood
Mallesons (formerly known as Robert Lee &Fong, Felix Fong & Hon, Fong & Ng, Arculli Fong & Ng and King & Wood)
specializing in the areas of corporate and finance. From May 2000 to December 2008, Mr. Fong also served as a non-
executive director of Cinda International Holdings Limited (stock code: 111), a financial institution principally engaged
in corporate finance advisory, securities broking and asset management whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange. From May 2010 to May 2016, Mr. Fong served as an independent non-executive director of China Oilfield
Services Limited (FF/&mMARTEBERAR]), a company dually listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2883) and
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601808) which is principally engaged in offshore oil and gas exploration,
development and production. From April 2011 to July 2018, he served as an independent non-executive director of
China Investment Development Limited (FREI1%& R # BFR A F]) (formerly known as Temuijin International Investments
Limited) (stock code: 204), a company principally engaged in investment in listed and unlisted securities whose shares
are listed on the Stock Exchange. From October 2010 to March 2020, he served as an independent non-executive
director of Evergreen International Holdings Limited (RELBIFR (LB )IEARBBRAF]) (stock code: 238), a company
principally engaged in the manufacturing and sales of menswear whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. From
June 2012 to May 29, 2020, he served as an independent non-executive director of Sheen Tai Holdings Group
Company Limited (IEZ=1Ex =B BBRAR]) (stock code: 1335), a company principally engaged in the manufacturing
and sales of cigarette packaging materials whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. From May 2017 to June 9,
2020, he served as an independent non-executive director of Wuxi Biologics (Cayman) Inc. (2588 £ ¥ # i B R A &) (stock
code: 2269), a company principally engaged in the provision of biologics services whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange. From June 8, 2015 to October 31, 2021, he served as an independent non-executive director of Xinming
China Holdings Limited (¥TEAFFEIZAXBRAR]) (stock code: 2699), an investment holding company principally
engaged in property development whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Fong is currently an independent non-executive director of Bank of Shanghai (Hong Kong) Limited (_E/&R1T(EH)
BBR7AF]), a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability, and an independent non-executive director of
the following companies listed on the Stock Exchange: Howkingtech International Holding Limited (ZREERHYEIFRIE A
[R/A&]) (stock code: 2440), Television Broadcasts Limited (B EEBR A 7)) (stock code: 511), Guangdong Land
Holdings Limited (28 &2 B A A]) (stock code: 124, formerly known as Kingway Brewery Holdings Limited),
Greenland Hong Kong Holdings Limited (k& 815 8% B BR A 7)) (stock code: 337, formerly known as SPG Land (Holdings)
Limited).

Mr. Fong obtained a bachelor’s degree in engineering from McMaster University in Canada in June 1974 and a Juris
Doctor degree from Osgoode Hall Law School of York University in Canada in June 1978. Mr. Fong is appointed by the
Ministry of Justice of the PRC (FF % A R 2 F1E 5)7%E6) as one of the China-appointed Attesting Officers in Hong Kong.
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Mr. Gu Jiong (E/d), aged 51, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on December 1, 2020. Mr. Gu
is responsible for supervising the management of the Group and providing independent judgement to the Board. He is
also the chairman of the audit committee and a member of the remuneration committee and the nomination committee
of the Company.

From July 1995 to April 2004, Mr. Gu worked at Ernst & Young’s Shanghai office and was the senior manager of audit
department when he left the firm. From April 2004 to December 2009, Mr. Gu joined UTStarcom Telecom Co., Ltd. and
its holding company UTStarcom Holdings Corp. (formerly known as UTStarcom. Inc.) (ticker symbol: UTSI), whose
shares are listed on NASDAQ and is a global telecom infrastructure provider specialized in the provision of packet
optical transport and broadband access products to network operators, where he was responsible for accounting and
financial matters, and was the finance controller (B #42&5) when he left the company in December 2009. From January
2010 to August 2013, Mr. Gu served as the chief financial officer in BesTV New Media Co., Ltd. (stock code: 600637)
(currently known as Oriental Pearly Media Co., Ltd (35 BR%#T1E 82N B R A F])), whose shares are listed on Shanghai
Stock Exchange and principally engaged in the provision of technical services, content services and marketing services
for television terminals, computer terminals and mobile terminals through a media source platforms where he was
responsible for the financial matters of this company. From September 2013 to August 2016, Mr. Gu served as the chief
financial officer of CMC Capital Partners (2 AX{LEZEIZEES), an investment fund specializing in media and
entertainment investments inside and outside the PRC. From January 2016 to October 2016 and from October 2016 to
January 2019, Mr. Gu was a non-executive director and an alternative director to Hui To Thomas of Shaw Brothers
Holdings Limited (stock code: 953), a company listed on the Stock Exchange, respectively. From June 2015 to June
2021, Mr. Gu was an independent non-executive director of Xinming China Holdings Limited (37884 BI#E A& ABR A F))
(stock code: 2699), a company listed on the Stock Exchange. From September 2018 to January 2023, Mr. Gu was an
independent non-executive director of DaFa Properties Group Limited (REHESEBE AR A F]) (stock code: 6111), a
company listed on the Stock Exchange. From September 2016 to July 2023, Mr. Gu was an independent non-executive
director of Amlogic (Shanghai) Co.,Ltd (S&E¥EE (LM BRAT]) (stock code:688099), the shares of which are
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.

Since September 2016, Mr. Gu has been the vice president of CMC Inc. (FEAX{LBRELAR]) (“CMC”) (formerly
known as CMC Holdings Limited), an investment platform focused on the media and entertainment investments. Mr. Gu
is currently the independent non-executive director of the following companies whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange: Howkingtech International Holding Limited (FREREHZBIFRIE AR A R)) (stock code: 2440), Mulsanne Group
Holding Limited (stock code: 1817) and Ascletis Pharma Inc. (2515 R 2 7)) (stock code: 1672).

Mr. Gu obtained a bachelor’s degree in financial management from Fudan University (f EA&) in the PRC in July
1995. He is currently a non-practicing member of The Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants (7 B 5 fft & 51Af
).
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Mr. Tan Wen (#32), aged 49, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on December 1, 2020. Mr. Tan
is responsible for supervising the management of the Group and providing independent judgement to the Board. He is
also a member of the audit committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the Company.

Mr. Tan has over 20 years of experience in the field of investment banking and domestic and foreign venture capital
investment focusing on healthcare, retail and consumer sectors. From February 2000 to August 2003, Mr. Tan worked
as a business development manager at Singapore Computer Systems Limited, an IT system service provider, where he
was responsible for market and industry research, and business development, investment, merger and acquisition in
e-commerce area. From August 2003 to May 2005, Mr. Tan worked as a technology investment manager at Singapore
Technologies Dynamics Pte Ltd (“STD”), an engineering systems service provider, where he was responsible for market
and industry research, and business development, investment, merger and acquisition in emerging technology area.
STD was a subsidiary of Singapore Technologies Engineering Ltd (stock code: S63), a company principally engaged in
offering services and products specializing in the aerospace, electronics, land systems and marine sectors whose
shares are listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange. From May 2005 to July 2007, Mr. Tan served as an associate
director of China Euro Securities Co., Ltd CERIRR#EH B R E (LA 7). From June 2007 to October 2013, he served as
a vice president at Capital Today Growth (HK) Limited principally responsible for originating, evaluating investment
opportunities and monitoring the existing portfolio companies. From October 2013 to September 2021, Mr. Tan served
as the managing director of the Shanghai office of Industrial Innovation Capital Management Co., Ltd (EEEIFTE AR E
AR /AT]), a subsidiary of Industrial Securities Co., Ltd (EZEASHDBRAT]) (stock code: 01377) (“Industrial
Securities”). Industrial Securities is a company principally engaged in the provision of financial services and whose
shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Since September 2021, Mr. Tan served as deputy general manager
of Guoxing (Xiamen) Investment management Ltd, a private equity investment company. From December 2015 to
November 2021, Mr. Tan was a director of Elite Color Environmental Resources Science & Technology Co., Ltd (B %I
RERRHRID BFR A E]) (stock code: 002998), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. From May 2020 to
March 2022, Mr. Tan was a director of Fujian Snowman Co., Ltd (fB2ZEARMER QA (stock code: 002639), a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Since October 2021, Mr. Tan served as the director of Success
Biotech Co., Ltd, a company mainly engaged in the manufacture and sale of implanted medical equipment in mainland
China.

Mr. Tan obtained a bachelor’'s degree in electronic materials and components from Tianjin University (FZAZ) in the
PRC in July 1995. He then obtained a master's degree in business administration from the National University of
Singapore in Singapore in March 2000. He subsequently obtained a doctor’s degree in global economics from Fudan
university (2B X2 in the PRC in January 2018. Mr. Tan was qualified as a Financial Risk Manager as certified by the
Global Association of Risk Professionals in April 2006 and has been a non-practicing member of the Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (B2 5HEM#%E) since June 2014. He was also certified as a chartered financial
analyst of the Association for Investment Management and Research (currently known as CFA Institute) in September
2008.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Yang Lin (#3##). Please refer to “Directors — Executive Directors” above in this section for details of biography of
Ms. Yang Lin.

Mr. Yang Hai (#7%). Please refer to “Directors — Executive Directors” above in this section for details of biography of
Mr. Yang Hai.

Mr. Chen Zhaojun (FRJKE). Please refer to “Directors — Executive Directors” above in this section for details of
biography of Mr. Chen Zhaojun.
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The Board is pleased to present this annual report and the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2023.

GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on January 9, 2019 as an exempted company with limited
liability. The Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on December 18, 2020 through the Global
Offering.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company during the Reporting Period are set out in note 29 to the financial
statements.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESSES AND ACTIVITIES

The Group is a key player in the small domestic appliance markets in the United States (“the U.S.”) and Europe, with
brands like LEVOIT, COSORI, and ETEKCITY. They offer home, kitchen, and healthcare appliances sold in numerous
countries and regions globally.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s business review for the Reporting Period and future business development are set out in the sections
headed “Chairperson’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. The key financial
performance indicators used in the Group’s performance analysis for the Reporting Period are set out in the section
headed “Five Year Financial Summary” of this annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company in general meeting may declare dividends in any currency but no dividends shall exceed the amount
recommended by the Board. The declaration of or recommendation of declaration of dividends is subject to the sole
discretion of the Board. Even if the Board decides to recommend and pay dividends, the form, frequency and amount
will depend upon the operations and earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general financial condition, contractual
restrictions and other factors of and affecting the Group.

In deciding whether to recommend the payment of dividend to Shareholders, the Board will take into account various
factors, including but not limited to, general business conditions, the financial condition and results of operations, the
capital requirements and future prospects of the Group.

The payment of dividend is also subject to applicable laws and regulations and the Company’s constitutional
documents. No dividend shall be paid otherwise than out of profits available for distribution.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board resolved to recommend to the Shareholders at the 2024 AGM of a final ordinary dividend of HK15.69 cents
(equivalent to approximately US2.01 cents) per Share for the Reporting Period (2022: Nil) (the “Proposed Final
Dividend”) to be paid on Friday, July 26, 2024 to the Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company on Friday, July 5, 2024.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement of the Shareholders to attend and vote at the 2024 AGM to be held on Thursday, May
30, 2024, the register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday, May 27, 2024 to Thursday, May 30,
2024, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be qualified for
attending and voting at the 2024 AGM, all share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited at
2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric Road, North Point, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, May 24,
2024.

For determining the entitlement of the Shareholders to the Proposed Final Dividend, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Wednesday, July 3, 2024 to Friday, July 5, 2024, both days inclusive, during which period
no transfer of Shares shall be registered. In order to qualify for the Proposed Final Dividend, all transfers of Shares
accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer
office in Hong Kong, Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited at 2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric Road, North Point, Hong
Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, July 2, 2024.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee, consisting of three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Gu Jiong (Chairman), Mr.
Fong Wo, Felix and Mr. Tan Wen, has reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended December 31, 2023, including the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and has
recommended for the Board’s approval thereof. There is no disagreement by the Audit Committee with the accounting
treatment adopted by the Company.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the Reporting Period are set out in note 39 to the financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of December 31, 2023, the amount of reserves available for distribution of the Company was approximately
US$170.3 million (December 31, 2022: approximately US$187.0 million).

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group made charitable donations of approximately US$123,889 (2022: approximately
US$5,222).
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since December 18, 2020. The net
proceeds from the Global Offering (after the full exercise of the over-allotment option) after deducting the underwriting
fees and commissions and related expenses was HK$1,662.9 million (the “Net Proceeds”). The Group will continue to
utilize the net proceeds from the Global Offering as set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in
the Prospectus. The intended application of the net proceeds as stated in the Prospectus and the actual utilization of
the net proceeds from the Global Offering up to December 31, 2023 was as below:

Unutilized Utilized  Unutilized as Expected timeline
Approximate Allocation asof duringthe of the end of for the use of
Percentage of of Net December31, Reporting the Reporting unutilized Net

Purpose total amount Proceeds 2022 Period Period Proceeds"*")
HK$ million HK$ million  HK$ million HK$ million

1. Research and development of new products and upgrade and iteration of existing products

Research and development of new 15% 249.4 150.4 79.3 71.1 By December 2024"¢?
products

Upgrade and iterate existing products 5% 83.2 5.2 5.2 0 —

Upgrade R&D design facilities and 5% 83.2 66.3 1.7 64.6 By December 20242
R&D management system

Enhance testing capability 5% 83.2 53.8 214 32.4 By December 20242

2. Expand our sales channels and geographic coverage and enhance brand awareness

Expand sales channels and market 8% 133.0 0 0 0 —
presence in existing major markets

Expand and solidify market presence in 8% 133.0 95.9 14.2 81.7 By December 20242
regions

Devote more resources in brand promotion 9% 149.7 27.0 27.0 0 —

3. Upgrade VeSync App into a home loT platform

Build and expand talent pools in cloud 10% 166.3 504 504 0 —
infrastructure, loT technology, data
technology

Acquire or partner with companies in the 15% 249.4 147.4 0 147.4 By December 2024

data technology industry

4. Develop and launch smart solutions, including smart security solutions, for business customers

Research and development of smart 5% 83.1 60.1 13.0 47.1 By December 20242
solutions for business customers
Expand North America market of smart 5% 83.1 495 16.7 32.8 By December 20242
solutions for business customer
5. Working capital 10% 166.3 0 0 0 —
Total 1,662.9 706.0 228.9 4771
Note:
1. The Net Proceeds have been and will be used according to the purposes as stated in the Prospectus, and there are no material change in the use

of proceeds.
2. The expected timeline for the planned use of proceeds was by December 2023 as disclosed in the 2022 Annual Report. Due to the market

uncertainty and instability, the Board has adopted a more prudent approach to prioritise maintaining the Group’s daily operations and slowdown its
implementation of future plans, resulting in a delay in the use of proceeds as disclosed above.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s aggregate sales to the five largest customers of the Group amounted to
approximately US$513.8 million, representing approximately 87.7% of the Group’s total revenue; and sales to the
largest customer of the Group (without considering retail customers from Amazon’s Seller Central program or other
sales channels) amounted to approximately US$444.1 million, representing approximately 75.9% of the Group’s total
revenue.

During the Reporting Period, purchase value from the five largest suppliers of the Group amounted to approximately
US$171.9 million, representing approximately 60.8% of the Group’s total purchase value; and purchase value from the
largest supplier of the Group amounted to approximately US$67.4 million, representing approximately 23.8% of the
Group’s total purchase value.

During the Reporting Period, to the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their close associates, or
Shareholders (which, to the knowledge of the Directors, owned more than 5% of the number of issued Shares) had
interests in the five largest suppliers or customers of the Group.

DIRECTORS

The Directors for the Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable Date were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Yang Lin (Chairperson and chief executive officer)
Mr. Yang Hai
Mr. Chen Zhaojun (Chief financial officer)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Yang Yuzheng

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fong Wo, Felix
Mr. Gu Jiong
Mr. Tan Wen
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent.

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a renewal of service contract with the Company for a term of three
years commencing from December 2, 2023, which may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either party on the other.

Each of the non-executive Director and the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of renewal of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing from December 19, 2023, which may be
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

None of the Directors has entered into any service contract/letter of appointment with the Company or any of its

subsidiaries which was not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Below is the change of Director’s information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules:

Ms. Yang Lin does not hold directorship in ARCESUS (VIETNAM) CO., LTD or Vitasync Investment (HK) Co., Limited,
which are subsidiaries of the Company established in January and February 2024, respectively.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no information of Directors which shall be disclosed under
Paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors had any interest in any businesses which compete or are likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Saved as disclosed in note 34 to the financial statements, there were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business, to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which any of the Directors or an entity connected with the Directors or the controlling shareholders of the Company had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, during Reporting Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the Reporting Period, the Company did not enter into any contract, other than the contracts of service with the
Directors or any person engaged in the full-time employment of the Company, whereby any individual, firm or body
corporate undertakes the management and administration of the whole, or any substantial part of any business of the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTEREST AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As of December 31, 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO), which were required to be (i) notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or (ii) entered in the register kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, or (iii) notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the Model Code, were as follows:

Interest in Shares and underlying Shares

Long Approximate
position/ Number of percentage of

Name of Director or  Capacity/ short Number of  underlying interest in the

chief executive Nature of interest position Shares Shares Total Company

Ms. Yang Lin®® Founder of a discretionary trust L 406,040,800 —
who can influence how the
trustee exercises his discretion

Interests held jointly with another L 373,786,400 1,350,000
person
Beneficial owner Lo 7,933,000 1,150,000

790,260,200 67.96%
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Long Approximate
position/ Number of percentage of

Name of Director or  Capacity/ short Number of underlying interest in the

chief executive Nature of interest position Shares Shares Total Company

Mr.

Mr.

Mr.

Mr.

=

Mr.

Mr.

Notes:

Yang Hai®® Interest of corporation controlled L™ 8,067,200 —
Interests held jointly with another L™ 779,693,000 1,350,000
person
Beneficial owner Lo — 1,150,000
790,260,200 67.96%
Yang Yuzheng“®  Interest of corporation controlled L™ 365,719,200
Interests held jointly with another L™ 422,041,000 2,300,000
person
Beneficial owner Lo — 200,000
790,260,200 67.96%
Chen Zhaojun®  Beneficial owner Lo 2,000,000 2,000,000 4,000,000 0.34%
Fong Wo, Felix”  Beneficial owner Lo — 200,000 200,000 0.017%
Gu Jiong® Beneficial owner Lo — 200,000 200,000 0.017%
Tan Wen® Beneficial owner Lo — 200,000 200,000 0.017%

The calculation is based on the total number of 1,162,884,800 Shares in issue as of December 31, 2023.

Each of Karis | LLC and Karis Il LLC is wholly owned by North Point Trust Company LLC., the trustee of the Annuity Trusts, on trust for the benefit
of the Annuity Trusts, which were established by Ms. Yang for the ultimate benefit of the Family Trusts, pursuant to certain arrangements. The
Family Trust | and Family Trust Il were established by Ms. Yang as both the settlor and the trustee, and the beneficiaries of which are any children
born to or adopted by Ms. Yang and their respective issue, and Mr. Ryan Xu, being Ms. Yang’s child, during his lifetime, and any charitable
organizations to be subsequently determined by the independent trustee (if any) at its discretion upon its appointment, respectively. Pursuant to
the Annuity Trusts, Ms. Yang, as the powerholder, has the power to appoint additional trustees and remove and replace North Point Trust Company
LLC., and as the sole manager of Karis | LLC and Karis Il LLC, has the authority to make all decisions in relation to them. Ms. Yang is deemed to
be interested in both Karis | LLC and Karis Il LLC, and is therefore deemed to be interested in any Shares in which each of Karis | LLC and Karis Il
LLC is interested.

Ms. Yang Lin is interested in 1,150,000 share options granted to her under the Share Option Scheme to subscribe for 1,150,000 Shares.

Arceus Co., Ltd holds 8,067,200 Shares. Arceus Co., Ltd is wholly owned by Mr. Yang Hai. Mr. Yang Hai is therefore deemed to be interested in
any Shares in which Arceus Co., Ltd is interested.

Mr. Yang Hai is interested in 1,150,000 share options granted to him under the Share Option Scheme to subscribe for 1,150,000 Shares.

Vesync Co., Ltd
Annual Report 2023



REPORT OF DIRECTORS

4. Caerus Co., Ltd holds 365,719,200 Shares. Caerus Co., Ltd is wholly owned by Acevation Trust. Mr. Yang Yuzheng is the trustor of Acevation
Trust, and retains the right to revoke and amend the trust agreement during his lifetime.

Mr. Yang Yuzheng is interested in 200,000 share options granted to him under the Share Option Scheme to subscribe for 200,000 Shares.

5. Each of Ms. Yang Lin, Mr. Yang Yuzheng and Mr. Yang Hai is family member of one another, and is therefore deemed to be interested in any
Shares in which one another is interested.

6. Mr. Chen Zhaojun is interested in 2,000,000 share options granted to him under the Share Option Scheme to subscribe for 2,000,000 Shares.
7. Mr. Fong Wo, Felix is interested in 200,000 share options granted to him under the Share Option Scheme to subscribe for 200,000 Shares.

8. Mr. Gu Jiong is interested in 200,000 share options granted to him under the Share Option Scheme to subscribe for 200,000 Shares.

9. Mr. Tan Wen is interested in 200,000 share options granted to him under the Share Option Scheme to subscribe for 200,000 Shares.

10. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

Save as disclosed above, so far as the Directors are aware, as of December 31, 2023, none of the Directors or chief
executive of the Company had any interest or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be (i) notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (ii) entered in the register
kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or (iii) notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange under
the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As of December 31, 2023, the following persons (other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company) had an
interest or short position in the Shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

Interest in Shares and underlying Shares

Long Approximate
position/ Number of percentage of

Capacity/ short Number of underlying interest in the
Nature of interest position Shares Shares Total Company

North Point Trust Company Trustee L 406,040,800 — 406,040,800 34.92%
LLC®
Karis | LLC® Beneficial owner L7 243,624,800 — 243,624,800 20.95%
Karis Il LLC® Beneficial owner L? 162,416,000 — 162,416,000 13.97%
Siempre PTC LLC® Trustee L 365,719,200 — 365,719,200 31.45%
SWCS Trust Limited Trustee L7 58,443,000 — 58,443,000 5.03%
Caerus Co., Ltd® Beneficial owner LD 365,719,200 — 367,719,200 31.45%
Mr. Xu Bo® Interest of spouse L7 787,760,200 2,500,000 790,260,200 67.96%
Ms. Li Jisu® Interest of spouse L7 787,760,200 2,500,000 790,260,200 67.96%
Ms. Chen Shuyong® Interest of spouse L7 787,760,200 2,500,000 790,260,200 67.96%
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Notes:
1. The calculation is based on the total number of 1,162,884,800 Shares in issue as of December 31, 2023.

2. Each of Karis | LLC and Karis Il LLC is wholly owned by North Point Trust Company LLC, the trustee of the Annuity Trusts, on trust for the benefit of
the Annuity Trusts, which were established by Ms. Yang for the ultimate benefit of the Family Trusts, pursuant to certain arrangements. The Family
Trust | and Family Trust Il were established by Ms. Yang as both the settlor and the trustee, and the beneficiaries of which are any children born to
or adopted by Ms. Yang and their respective issue and Mr. Ryan Xu, being Ms. Yang’s child, during his lifetime, and any charitable organizations
to be subsequently determined by the independent trustee (if any) at its discretion upon its appointment, respectively. Pursuant to the Annuity
Trusts, Ms. Yang, as the powerholder, has the power to appoint additional trustees and remove and replace North Point Trust Company LLC, and
as the sole manager of Karis | LLC and Karis Il LLC, has the authority to make all decisions in relation to them. Ms. Yang is deemed to be
interested in both Karis | LLC and Karis Il LLC, and is therefore deemed to be interested in any Shares in which each of Karis | LLC and Karis ||
LLC is interested.

3. Caerus Co., Ltd is wholly owned by Siempre PTC LLC, which is the trustee of Acevation Trust. Mr. Yang Yuzheng is the trustor of Acevation Trust,
and retains the right to revoke and amend the trust agreement during his lifetime.

4. Mr. Xu Bo is the spouse of Ms. Yang Lin. Under the SFO, Mr. Xu Bo is deemed to be interested in any Shares in which Ms. Yang Lin is interested.

5. Ms. Li Jisu is the spouse of Mr. Yang Yuzheng. Under the SFO, Ms. Li Jisu is deemed to be interested in any Shares in which Mr. Yang Yuzheng is
interested.

6. Ms. Chen Shuyong is the spouse of Mr. Yang Hai. Under the SFO, Ms. Chen Shuyong is deemed to be interested in any Shares in which Mr. Yang
Hai is interested.

7. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2023, the Company had not been notified by any person (other than the
Directors or the chief executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares or the underlying
Shares which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Schemes” below, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries was
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debenture of, the Company or any other body corporate during the Reporting Period.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Schemes” below, the Company did not enter into any equity-linked
agreement during the Reporting Period.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him
as a Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in his/her favour, or in
which he/she is acquitted.

The Company has maintained appropriate liability insurance for its Directors and senior management.

SHARE SCHEMES

Share Option Scheme

Summary of terms

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme conditionally approved and adopted by
the written resolutions of all Shareholders of the Company passed on December 1, 2020. The Directors confirm that the
terms of the Share Option Scheme comply with the requirements under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

(a) Purpose
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentive or reward to Eligible Persons (as defined in
paragraph (b) below) for their contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the interests of, the Group and for
such other purposes as the Board may approve from time to time.

(b) Who may join
The Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer eligible persons (being any director or employee (whether full time
or part time), consultant or advisor of the Group who in the sole discretion of the Board has contributed to and/or
will contribute to the Group) (the “Eligible Persons”) to subscribe for such number of Shares in accordance with
the terms of the Share Option Scheme.

(c) Maximum number of Shares
(i)  The maximum aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company, must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number of Shares in issue from time to time. No
options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company if this will result in such limit being exceeded.

(i)  Subject to paragraphs (c)(i), (iv) and (v), at the time of adoption by the Company of the Share Option
Scheme or any new share option scheme (the “New Scheme”), the aggregate number of Shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme, the New Scheme and
all schemes existing at such time (the “Existing Schemes”) of the Company must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the total number of the Shares in issue as of the Listing Date (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”).

(iii)  For the purposes of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit under paragraph (c)(ii), Shares which are the
subject matter of any options that have already lapsed in accordance with the terms of the relevant Existing
Scheme(s) shall not be counted.
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(iv) The Scheme Mandate Limit may be refreshed by ordinary resolution of the Shareholders in general meeting,
provided that:

° the Scheme Mandate Limit so refreshed shall not exceed 10% of the total number of issued Shares as
of the date of Shareholders’ approval of the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit;

o options previously granted under any Existing Schemes (including options outstanding, canceled, or
lapsed in accordance with the relevant scheme rules or exercised options) shall not be counted for the
purpose of calculating the limit as refreshed; and

° a circular regarding the proposed refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit has been dispatched to
the Shareholders in a manner complying with, and containing the matters specified in, the relevant
provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme is 112,310,480 Shares which represent approximately 9.66% of the issued Shares as at the date of
this annual report.

(v) The Company may seek separate approval from the Shareholders in the general meeting for granting
options which will result in the Scheme Mandate Limit being exceeded, provided that:

° the grant is to Eligible Persons specifically identified by the Company before the approval is sought;
and

° a circular regarding the grant has been dispatched to the Shareholders in a manner complying with,
and containing the matters specified in, the relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and
other applicable laws and rules, in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.

(d) Maximum number of options to any one individual
No option shall be granted to any Eligible Person (the “Relevant Eligible Person”) if, at the relevant time of grant,
the number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options (granted and proposed to be granted,
whether exercised, canceled or outstanding) to the Relevant Eligible Person in the 12-month period expiring on
the date on which an offer of the grant of an option under the Share Option Scheme is made to the Relevant
Eligible Person would exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue at such time, unless:

° such grant has been duly approved, in the manner prescribed by the relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules, by ordinary resolution of the Shareholders in general meeting, at which the Relevant
Eligible Person and his associates abstained from voting;

° a circular regarding the grant has been dispatched to the Shareholders in a manner complying with, and
containing the information specified in, the relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules; and

o the number and terms (including the subscription price) of such options are fixed before the general meeting
of the Company at which the same are approved.
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(e) Price of Shares

(7)

The subscription price for a Share in respect of any particular option granted under the Share Option Scheme (which
shall be payable upon exercise of the option) shall be a price solely determined by the Board and notified to all
Eligible Person and shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of offer to grant option, which must be a business day; (ii) the
average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of offer to grant option (the “Offer Date”) (provided that the new
issue price shall be used as the closing price for any business day falling within the period before the listing
Shares where the Company has been listed for less than five business days as of the offer date); and (iii) the
nominal value of the Share. A consideration of RMB1 is payable on acceptance of the offer of an option or options.

Time of exercise of option

Subject to the provisions of the Listing Rules and other applicable laws and regulations, the Board may in its
absolute discretion when offering the grant of an option impose any conditions, restrictions or limitations in relation
thereto in addition to those set forth in the Share Option Scheme as the Board may think fit (to be stated in the
offer letter) including (without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing) qualifying and/or continuing eligibility
criteria, conditions, restrictions or limitations relating to the achievement of performance, operating or financial
targets by the Company and/or the grantee, the satisfactory performance or maintenance by the grantee of certain
conditions or obligations or the time or period before the right to exercise the option in respect of all or any of the
Shares shall vest provided that such terms or conditions shall not be inconsistent with any other terms or
conditions of the Share Option Scheme. For the avoidance of doubt, subject to such terms and conditions as the
Board may determine as aforesaid (including such terms and conditions in relation to their vesting, exercise or
otherwise) there is no minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be exercised and no
performance target which need to be achieved by the grantee before the option can be exercised.

The date of grant of any particular option is the date on which the offer relating to such option is duly accepted by
the grantee in accordance with the Share Option Scheme. An option may be exercised according to the terms of
the Share Option Scheme and the offer in whole or in part by the grantee (or his personal representatives) before
its expiry by giving notice in writing to the Company stating that the option is to be exercised and the number of
Shares in respect of which it is exercised provided that the number of Shares shall be equal to the size of a board
lot for dealing in Shares on the Stock Exchange or an integral multiple thereof. Such notice must be accompanied
by a remittance for the full amount of the subscription price for the Shares in respect of which the notice is given.
The period during which an option may be exercised will be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion,
save that no option may be exercised more than 10 years from the date of grant. No option may be granted more
than 10 years after the date of approval of the Share Option Scheme. Subject to earlier termination by the
Company in general meeting, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from
the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme by Shareholders by resolution at a general meeting. As of the
Latest Practicable Date, the remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is approximately seven years and one
month.
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Details of movements of the share options granted under the Share Option Scheme during the Reporting Period are as
follows:

Closing price Outstanding Outstanding
immediately options as of options as of

Exercise prior to January 1, December 31, Exercise
Grantees price the grant 2023 Granted Exercised Canceled 2023 period™*®
(HK$/Share)  (HK$/Share)

Directors
Yang Lin 12.880 10.360 1,150,000 — — — — 1,150,000 May 14, 2021 to
May 13, 2031
Yang Hai 12.880 10.360 1,150,000 — — — — 1,150,000 May 14, 2021 to
May 13, 2031
Chen Zhaojun 12.880 10.360 2,000,000 — — — — 2,000,000 May 14, 2021 to
May 13, 2031
Yang Yuzheng 12.880 10.360 200,000 — — — — 200,000 May 14, 2021 to
May 13, 2031
Fong Wo, Felix 12.880 10.360 200,000 — — — — 200,000 May 14, 2021 to
May 13, 2031
Gu Jiong 12.880 10.360 200,000 — — — — 200,000 May 14, 2021 to
May 13, 2031
Tan Wen 12.880 10.360 200,000 — — — — 200,000 May 14, 2021 to
May 13, 2031
Total 5,100,000 — — — — 5,100,000

Note: All share options granted by the Company shall be vested in five tranches within a period of 5 years in proportions of 10%, 10%, 20%, 30% and
30% of the share options granted, i.e. 10% of the share options granted shall be vested on the 1st anniversary of the grant, another 10% of the
share options granted shall be vested on the 2nd anniversary of the grant, 20% of the share options granted shall be vested on the 3rd anniversary
of the grant, 30% of the share options granted shall be vested on the 4th anniversary of the grant, and the remaining 30% shall be vested on the
5th anniversary of the grant.

The number of options available for grant under the Share Option Scheme mandate at the beginning and the end of the
Reporting Period are 107,210,480 and 107,210,480 respectively.
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Post-IPO Share Award Scheme

(1)

()

3)

Summary

On July 20, 2021, the Board adopted the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme (i) to recognize the contributions by
certain eligible participants of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme and to provide them with incentives in order to
retain them for the continual operation and development of the Group; and (ii) to attract suitable personnel for
further development of the Group. On October 24, 2023, the Board resolved to amend the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme, upon the amendment, the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme shall only be funded by existing Shares. The
Post-IPO Share Award Scheme constitutes a share scheme under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, but does not
constitute a scheme involving the issue of new Shares as referred to in Chapter 17.

On October 10, 2023, the Board resolved to amend the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme which took effect on
October 24, 2023 to, among others, delete the provisions of allowing the Board to allot and issue new Shares.

Scheme limit

The Board shall not make any further award of awarded shares which will result in the nominal value of the Shares
awarded by the Board under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme exceeding 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company from time to time. The maximum number of Shares which may be awarded to a selected participant
under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time.

The total number of shares available for issue under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme is nil.

Who may join

(A) Eligible participant
Eligible participant who may join the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme includes any employee, director
(including without limitation any executive, non-executive and independent non-executive Directors), officer,
agent, consultant, supplier, service provider, customer, adviser, business partner or representative of any
member of the Group or any other person as determined in its absolute discretion by the Board who has
contributed to the business development of the Group.

Subject to the scheme rules, the Board may, from time to time, at its absolute discretion select any eligible
participant (other than any excluded participant) for participation in the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme as a
selected participant, and grant such number of awarded shares to any selected participant at no
consideration and in such number and on and subject to such terms and conditions as it may in its absolute
discretion determine.

(B) Disqualification of selected participant
In the event that prior to or on the vesting date, a selected participant is found to be an excluded participant
or is deemed to cease to be an eligible participant, including but not limited to the following circumstances:

(a) where such person has committed any act of fraud or dishonesty or serious misconduct, whether or
not in connection with his employment or engagement by any member of the Group and whether or not
it has resulted in his employment or engagement being terminated by the relevant member of the
Group;

(b) where such person has been declared or adjudged to be bankrupt or winding up by a competent
court or governmental body or has failed to pay his debts as they fall due (after the expiry of any
applicable grace period) or has entered into any arrangement or composition with his creditors
generally or an administrator has taken possession of any of his assets;
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(4)

()

(c) where such person has been convicted of any criminal offence; or

(d) where such person has been convicted of or is being held liable for any offence under or any breach
of the SFO or other securities laws or regulations in Hong Kong or any other applicable laws or
regulations in force from time to time,

the relevant award made to such selected participant shall automatically lapse forthwith and the relevant
awarded shares shall not vest on the relevant vesting date but shall remain part of the trust fund.

In respect of a selected participant who died or retired by agreement with a member of the Group at any
time prior to or on the vesting date, the relevant award made to such selected participant shall automatically
lapse forthwith and the relevant awarded shares shall not vest on the relevant vesting date but shall remain
part of the trust fund.

Administration

The Post-IPO Share Award Scheme shall be subject to the administration of the Board and the trustee in
accordance with the scheme rules and the trust deed. The decision of the Board with respect to any matter arising
under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme (including the interpretation of any provision) shall be final and binding.

The trustee shall hold the trust fund in accordance with the terms of the trust deed.

Vesting of awarded shares

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme and the fulfillment of all vesting
conditions, the respective awarded shares held by the trustee on behalf of the selected participant pursuant to the
provision of the scheme rules shall vest in such selected participant in accordance with the vesting schedule (if
any), and the trustee shall, at the instruction of the selected participant, cause the vesting shares to be transferred
to such selected participant on the vesting date.

If there occurs an event of change in control (as specified in The Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share
Buy-backs from time to time) of the Company prior to the vesting date, whether by way of offer, merger, scheme of
arrangement or otherwise, the Board shall determine at its discretion whether such awarded shares shall vest in
the selected participant and the time at which such awarded shares shall vest.

The Board may at its discretion, with or without further conditions, grant additional Shares out of the trust fund
representing all or part of the income or distributions declared by the Company or derived from such awarded
shares during the period from the date of award to the vesting date to a selected participant upon the vesting of
any awarded shares.
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(6) Duration
Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board pursuant to the scheme rules, the Post-IPO
Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term commencing on the adoption date i.e. (July 20, 2021)
and ending on October 23, 2033 (i.e. 10 years commencing on the adoption of the amended and restated Post-
IPO Share Award Scheme).

As of the Latest Practicable Date, the remaining life of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme is approximately nine
years and six months.

Details of movements of the share awards granted under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme during the Reporting
Period are as follows:

Weighted

Fair value as average
of date of  closing price
grantofthe  immediately
awards before the

Closing price granted  vestdateof  Unvested Unvested
immediately  during the awards during awards as of awards as of
Purchase  priortothe  Reporting the Reporting  January 1, December 31,
Grantees"®" Date of grant price grant Period Period 2023 Granted  Vested Canceled Lapsed 2023 Vesting period
(HK$/Share)  (HK$/Share)  (HK$/Share)  (HK$/Share)

The five highest paid ~ January 1, 2022 — 9.47 9.29 427 873,600 — 327,600 — — 546,000  October 31, 2022 to
indlviduals"*“? January 31, 202419
July 6, 2022 — 4.9 499 3.02 1,003,000 — 200,600 — — 802,400  July 5,2023to July 5,
o025
November 1, 2022 — 2.09 2.18 3.02 1,200,000 — 120,000 — — 1,080,000  July 5, 2023 to July 5,
opo7iees)
QOctober 31, 2023 — 5.05 493 441 — 2026000 506,500 — — 1,519,500  November 13,2023 to

November 13, 2026"%

Employees July 21,2021 — 11.10 11.32 3.64 255,000 — 27,500 — 200,000 27,500 July 21,2021 to
July 20, 20267
January 1, 2022 — 9.47 9.29 423 1,058,600 — 382,600 — — 676,000  October 31, 2022 to
October 17, 2026
January 19, 2022 — 8.45 8.42 461 234,000 — 46,800 — — 187,200  January 18,2023 to
January 18, 2025"%)
April 9, 2022 — 5.01 4.83 3.10 113,000 — 22,600 — — 90,400  April8,2023 10
April 8, 20251
December 27, 2022 — 490 4.90 — 224,000 — — — 224,000 —  December 27, 2023 to
December 27, 025"
QOctober 26, 2023 — 477 4.89 5.05 — 3730,000 632,200 — — 3,097,800 October 31,2023 to
July 5, 2027
November 1, 2023 — 493 480 — — 411,000 — — — 411,000  November 1,2024 to
November 1, 2026"
November 6, 2023 — 4.72 4.62 — — 232,000 — — — 232,000  November 6, 2024 to
November 6, 2026"
Total 4,961,200 6,399,000 2,266,400 — 424,000 8,669,800
Notes:
1. No share awards were granted to the directors of the Company as at January 1, 2023 and December 31, 2023.
2. The details of the five highest paid employees are set out in note 9 to the financial statements of the Company’s annual report for the year ended

December 31, 20283.
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3. The 873,600 share awards shall be vested in accordance with the below vesting schedule:
(i) 327,600 share awards have been vested in 2023; and
(i) 546,000 share awards shall be vested in 2024.
4. The 1,003,000 share awards shall be vested in accordance with the below vesting schedule:
(i) 200,600 share awards have been vested in 2023;
(ii) 300,900 share awards shall be vested in 2024; and
(iii) 501,500 share awards shall be vested in 2025.
5. The 1,200,000 share awards shall be vested in accordance with the below vesting schedule:
(i) 120,000 share awards have been vested in 2023;
(i) 120,000 share awards shall be vested in 2024;
(iii) 240,000 share awards shall be vested in 2025;
(iv) 360,000 share awards shall be vested in 2026; and
(v) 360,000 share awards shall be vested in 2027.
6. The 2,026,000 share awards shall be vested in accordance with the below vesting schedule:
(i) 506,500 share awards have been vested in 2023;
(i) 506,500 share awards shall be vested in 2024;
(iii) 506,500 share awards shall be vested in 2025; and
(iv) 506,500 share awards shall be vested in 2026.
7. The 255,000 share awards shall be vested in accordance with the below vesting schedule:
(i) 27,500 share awards have been vested in 2023;
(i) 200,000 share awards have been lapsed in 2023; and
(iii) 27,500 share awards shall be vested in 2024.
8. The 1,058,600 share awards shall be vested in accordance with the below vesting schedule:
(i) 382,600 share awards have been vested in 2023;
(i) 428,000 share awards shall be vested in 2024;
(iii) 134,000 share awards shall be vested in 2025; and

(iv) 114,000 share awards shall be vested in 2026.
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The 234,000 share awards shall be vested in accordance with the below vesting schedule:
(i) 46,800 share awards have been vested in 2023;

(ii) 70,200 share awards shall be vested in 2024; and

(iii) 117,000 share awards shall be vested in 2025.

The 113,000 share awards shall be vested in accordance with the below vesting schedule:
(i) 22,600 share awards have been vested in 2023;

(i) 33,900 share awards shall be vested in 2024; and

(iii) 56,500 share awards shall be vested in 2025.

The 224,000 share awards have been lapsed in 2023.

The 3,730,000 share awards shall be vested in accordance with the below vesting schedule:
(i) 632,200 share awards have been vested in 2023;

(ii) 1,075,050 share awards shall be vested in 2024;

(iii) 1,738,250 share awards shall be vested in 2025;

(iv) 219,750 share awards shall be vested in 2026; and

(v) 64,750 share awards shall be vested in 2027.

The 411,000 share awards shall be vested in accordance with the below vesting schedule:
(i) 82,200 share awards shall be vested in 2024;

(ii) 123,300 share awards shall be vested in 2025; and

(iii) 205,500 share awards shall be vested in 2026.

The 232,000 share awards shall be vested in accordance with the below vesting schedule:
(i) 46,400 share awards shall be vested in 2024;

(i) 69,600 share awards shall be vested in 2025; and

(iii) 116,000 share awards shall be vested in 2026.
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The fair value of the awards was measured at the date of grant and recognized as expense in the financial statements
of the Group over the vesting period. The fair value of the awards granted was HK$69,434,000 in total. For details,
please refer to note 30 to the financial statements.

Subject to the discretion of the Board, the Company may further utilise the lapsed shares for other participants under
the Scheme accordingly. As at 31 December 2023, the number of share awards available for grant under the Post-IPO
Share Award Scheme mandate was 104,791,480 (31 December 2022: 110,766,480) including the 424,000 shares that
have lapsed during the year in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Scheme.

The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of options and awards granted under all schemes of the Company
(i.e. Share Option Scheme, Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme and Post-IPO Share Award Scheme) during the Reporting
Period divided by the weighted average number of Shares in issue (i.e. 1,162,884,800 Shares) is nil.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as of the
date of this report, the Directors confirm that the Company had maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing
Rules during the Reporting Period.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Reporting Period, the Company repurchased a total of 12,659,000 Shares (the “Shares Repurchased”) on
the Stock Exchange, at an aggregate consideration of HK$61,390,430.00. Details of the Shares Repurchased are as

follows:

No. of Shares Price paid per Share Aggregate

repurchased Highest Lowest consideration

(HKS) (HK$) (HK$)

October 2023 3,930,000 5.02 3.47  15,809,140.00
November 2023 3,329,000 5.67 4.41  17,755,500.00
December 2023 5,400,000 5.48 490 27,825,790.00
Total 12,659,000 61,390,430.00

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities during the Reporting Period. The Shares Repurchased were cancelled on March 22, 2024.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares of the Company on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of
the Company’s securities.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no other significant events that required additional disclosure or adjustments occurred after the end of the
Reporting Period.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of the contingent liabilities of the Company are provided in note 33 to the financial statements. Save as
aforesaid, the Group did not have any other significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2023.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any transactions with any of its connected persons, which was not
fully exempt from shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements under the Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions undertaken during the Reporting Period are set out in note 34 to the financial statements
which do not constitute connected or continuing connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The Company has complied with all disclosure requirements as set out in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

In order to continuously increase brand value, the Group adheres to the core value of quality first by providing
customers with safe, high-quality and innovative products and services. To this end, the Group has developed a
comprehensive quality management system in respect of product R&D, product manufacturing and product after sales
service. At the same time, we operate our business in a responsible manner, and regard information protection, integrity
and supply chain management as key factors of stable business development.

We also value the efforts of each employee, and actively build all possible personal development opportunities and
spaces for our employees to achieve their self-worth. We are committed to embedding environmental protection
concepts and practices into all of our operations, in order to minimise the adverse impacts on the environment and

continually improve our environmental performance.
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The Group is committed to being a responsible member of the community and is dedicated to promoting a thriving
society and giving back to the society. We participate and invest in the local community through partnerships with
charities and non-government organizations. Looking ahead, we will continue to promote a culture of active engagement
in social service and encourage our employees to actively participate in voluntary services to maintain the harmonious
relationship with the society.

The Company is committed to improving environmental sustainability and will closely monitor its performance in
accordance with Rule 13.91 of and Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in note
13 to the financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the financial statements.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023 of the Group have been audited by Ernst
& Young, the auditor of the Company, who shall retire and, being eligible, have offered itself for re-appointment as
auditor of the Company at the 2024 AGM. A resolution will be proposed at the 2024 AGM to reappoint Ernst & Young as
the auditor of the Company and to authorize the Board to fix the remuneration of the auditor. There was no change in
the auditor of the Company in the preceding three years.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group had not been and were not involved in any non-compliance incidents that led to
fines, enforcement actions or other penalties that could, individually or in the aggregate, had a material adverse effect
on the Group's business, financial condition or results of operations. As far as the Company is aware, the Group had
complied, in all material respects, with all relevant laws and regulations in the jurisdictions which the Group operated in
during the Reporting Period.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s business may be materially and adversely affected by these risks, including the following:
1. China and the U.S. Trade Dispute and Other Trade Barrier Risks — Strategic Risk
2. Risk of stockpiling of goods — Operational Risk

3. Risks of talent training and development — Operational Risk
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STRATEGIC RISK

1.

China and the U.S. Trade Dispute and Other Trade Barrier Risks

Since 2018, the United States has imposed additional tariffs on certain goods imported from the PRC, which
involves categories such as air purifiers, vacuum cleaners, water purifiers, ovens and related components. Due to
the Group’s strategic focus on the U.S. market, some of the Group’s products were included in the list of products
subject to the additional tariffs and were therefore significantly affected. In March 2022, December 2022,
September 2023 and December 2023, the Office of the U.S. Trade Representative announced on four occasions
that it would waive the tariffs on certain commodities imported from the PRC, of which the Group’s major product
categories including air purifier, air fryer, oven with air frying technology, etc., were exempted from the tariffs. The
above products are currently exempted from the additional tariff until 31 May 2024.

There are still many uncertainties in the trade policy of the United States towards the PRC, and such trade
disputes and trade barriers may lead to an increase in the cost of the Group’s products manufactured in the PRC,
which may adversely affect the Group’s operations, financial position and operating results.

Response to Risk:

The management of the Group stated that the Group has continued to optimize its product research and
development and sales portfolio by increasing the proportion of research and development and marketing of
higher margin products in response to the trade disputes between China and the United States. The Group has
also iterated its existing products and launched upgraded versions of the Group’s best-selling products such as
air purifiers, air fryers and air humidifiers. In addition, in terms of the new product categories with high profit
margins developed under the Group’s strategic planning, such as the electric rice cooker and electric pressure
cooker included in the kitchen appliances category, the Group will continue to focus on categories outside of the
list of trade disputes in line with the Group’s product positioning strategy in the future. The Group’s management
believes that product diversification will further minimize the adverse impact of the additional tariffs. The Group
has also invested more marketing resources to specifically optimize the traffic structure and sales page content
for these higher margin products to bring about higher traffic conversion rates and higher product rankings.
According to the Group’s internal statistics, the Group’s major core categories, such as air purifiers, air
humidifiers, electric kettles, body scales, kitchen scales, baggage scales, temperature guns and food
dehydrators, have ranked No. 1 for several consecutive years by category on the Amazon platform in the United
States.

The Group has been actively expanding to the markets outside the U.S. Apart from the U.S. market, the Group has
also expanded into Canada, Europe, Southeast Asia, Japan, the Middle East and other regional markets. The
revenue growth of non-North American markets is gradually improving, the European and Asian markets are
performing well, and sales in these markets are growing rapidly. In 2023, the Group recorded revenue of
approximately US$125.7 million in Europe, representing an increase of approximately 16.5% as compared with
approximately US$107.9 million in 2022. In 2023, the Group also recorded revenue of approximately US$29.8
million in Asia, representing an increase of approximately 83.4% as compared with approximately US$16.3 million
in 2022. Currently, the Group has achieved groundbreaking business development in the markets outside the U.S.,
and it still plans to further increase or expand in the future. The management of the Group believes that the
diversified regional sales strategy of expanding the size and market share in non-U.S. markets is conducive to
mitigating the impact of the Sino-U.S. trade dispute on the Group’s business costs and supporting the Group to
achieve sustained and long-term growth and development.
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In addition, the Group has been actively exploring the adjustment and optimization of the supply chain
configuration across the globe with an aim to achieve resource integration and efficiency improvement. At present,
the Group has cooperated with a subcontractor in Vietnam. The subcontractor achieved mass production of its air
purifiers in 2023, while the Group’s wholly-owned subsidiary in Vietnam (manufacturing filters) was expected to
start mass production in 2024. In the future, we still plan to seek suitable subcontractors in other regions (including
but not limited to Thailand, Indonesia, etc.) to realize the global layout of the Group’s supply chain.

OPERATIONAL RISK

2.

Risk of stockpiling of goods

The Group provides small household appliances and smart home devices, which are sold to the U.S., Canada,
Europe, Southeast Asia, Japan, the Middle East and other countries or regional markets through online and offline
channels, so it is necessary to maintain a certain inventory level. At the same time, the industries that the Group is
involved face a complex external market environment, including changing consumer trends and customer
preferences, innovative product launches, changes in product strategies of competitors, disruptions of
international or local transportation, climate change and economic or political factors, which may lead to the risk
of stockpiling of goods. As at December 31, 2023, the Group had inventories valued at approximately US$79.8
million (as at December 31, 2022, the Group had inventories valued at approximately US$114.6 million).

If the Group fails to accurately forecast the relevant market trends and thus fails to adjust the quantity of goods in
stock according to the sales forecast, the Group may experience stockpiling of inventory goods, resulting in the
risk of increased inventory costs. In addition, if there is stockpiling of obsolete goods in stock, the Group is
required to sell the obsolete goods by way of discounts or promotions or scrap them if they are not sold, resulting
in economic losses.

Response to Risk:
The Group has taken various measures to reduce the risk of inventory backlog:

Firstly, the Group continues to enhance its sales forecasting capability and adjusts its inventory levels accordingly.
The Group does this by: 1) enhancing its operational capability and setting up a special position to monitor
changes in sales demand and make adjustments on an ongoing basis; and 2) establishing a sales forecasting
model to more accurately forecast sales demand and guide inventory preparation. According to the Company’s
internal statistics, the accuracy rate of the Group’s sales forecasts in 2023 has increased by approximately 8
percentage points as compared to 2022, and the Group’s average number of days of inventory turnover was
approximately 115, representing a decrease of approximately 12 days as compared to 2022, indicating an
increase in inventory turnover speed. These measures will continue to be implemented in 2024 to ensure a
reasonable level of inventory and minimize the risk of backlogs or shortages.

Secondly, the Group has established inventory administrative regulations and programs to set safety inventory
levels, aiming to avoid the risk of stockpiling, minimize inventory waste and avoid inventory obsolescence.
Meanwhile, it carries out early warning of inventory backlog focusing on those with a long inventory age, conducts
regular review, and implements inventory clearance through promotion and other means for overdue inventory
stockpiling.

Vesync Co., Ltd
Annual Report 2023



REPORT OF DIRECTORS

3. Risks of talent training and development

The Group has been following the trend of intelligent development of the industry by developing smart small home
appliances and smart home products. With the rapid development of the Group’s operating business, along with
the intense competition in the small home appliance industry in which the Group operates and the complexity and
flexibility of multi-regional market operations, employees are expected to have rich up-to-date professional
knowledge and job skills to support the Group’s business development.

In recent years, the Group has brought in many mid- to senior-level professionals with an aim to further enhance
the density of excellent talents and strengthen the Group’s organizational capabilities. However, the introduction
of new mid- to senior-level professionals and managers also poses challenges to cadre integration, management
and culture shock of the whole organization. In 2023, the number of staff in the Group was 1,296. From the
perspective of business support provided by the talent team, a better talent development system is needed to
guide employees’ long-term career development and retention, so as to achieve the Group’s capability
precipitation and iterative development, and to provide a firm support for its high-quality development.

If the Group fails to provide scientific and reasonable training and cultivation for its employees in a timely manner,
there will be uncertainties in the quality improvement of employees and employees may have difficulties in quickly
adapting to the environment or mastering the necessary business skills, which in turn may adversely affect
business operations. Furthermore, if the Group fails to provide employees with up-to-date knowledge and skills,
and creativity exploration and cultivation necessary for their development, or if employees’ career development
path is not smooth and their promotion is unreasonable, it may affect the achievement of the Group’s business
operation targets in the short term and have a significant adverse impact on the Group’s development in the long
term.

Risk Response:

The Group continues to iterate and maintain its capability system, and set qualifications for most positions, which
are used to drive the improvement and development of employees’ professional abilities and serve as the basic
criteria for talent selection. In 2024, the Human Resources Department of the Group will continue to develop,
maintain, and iterate qualification standards based on organizational and employee development needs, pay
continuous attention to qualification in promotion evaluation, and foster talent development in a more systematic
manner. Meanwhile, the iteration and development of qualifications will take consideration of the organization’s
capability requirements for employees, so as to drive the development of organizational talents.

The Group conducts new employee training through “online learning” to provide timely training courses for new
employees within the first week of their employment, helping them quickly integrate and master job skills to better
leverage business efficiency. The Group also regularly provides centralized training and on-the-job training for
graduates, so as to enhance their familiarity with business knowledge, corporate culture, processes, etc., through
theoretical training, mentorship, on-the-job practice, virtual project training and stage assessments within business
departments. For existing employees, different departments conduct differentiated internal and external training
tailored to business needs.

Vesync Co., Ltd 6 W
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The Group maintains standardized and procedure-based operations for management and evaluation of the
probationary period of new managers. Through comprehensive assessments carried out during the probationary
period, the phased integration, key capabilities, performance outputs and adaption to the organization of a key
talent will be identified, and the guidance and support for his problems identified during the probationary period
will be strengthened.

In 2023, the Group streamlined the management norms of job grades and positions, including job grade
introduction, career development channels, job grade management, position management, and personnel transfer
management, which serve as guidance for employee development within the organization and will be promoted
and implemented across the Group in 2024.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group acknowledges the importance of stakeholders to corporate development and pays attention to matters of
concern to stakeholders including the government and regulators, shareholders and investors, employees, business
partners, suppliers, customers and the community. The Group maintains transparent and bilateral exchange,
strengthens mutual trust and cooperation and establishes harmonious relationship with its stakeholders. The Group'’s
success depends on the support from key stakeholders which comprise the Directors and senior management,
employees, customers and suppliers.

For details on the Group’s relationships with employees, customers and suppliers during the Reporting Period, please
refer to ESG Report in this annual report.

By order of the Board
Vesync Co., Ltd
YANG Lin
Chairperson

Hong Kong, March 25, 2024
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Vesync Co., Ltd (the “Company” or “We”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are engaged in the small home
appliance market, focusing on online marketing and sales of self-designed and developed small home appliances
and smart home equipment. The Group is pleased to release the fourth Environmental, Social and Governance
Report (hereinafter referred to as the “ESG Report” or the “Report”), which outlines our strategies, objectives and
efforts in respect of environmental, social and governance (“ESG”), and explains our sustainable development
concepts.

Reporting Standards

This report has been prepared in accordance the “ESG Reporting Guide” (the “Guide”) under Appendix C2 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The Company has complied with the reporting principles of the Guide, including mandatory disclosure
requirements, “comply or explain” provisions and the requirements of the four reporting principles (materiality,
quantitative, balance and consistency).

Materiality In compliance with the requirements of materiality principle defined by the Stock Exchange, the
process of and the criteria for the selection of material ESG factors, as well as the description of
major stakeholders, the process and results of their participation are identified and disclosed in
the Report.

Quantitative Statistical standards, methodologies, assumptions and/or calculation tools used to report
emissions/energy consumption (where appropriate), and the sources of the conversion factors
are explained in the definitions of the Report.

Balance This Report shall provide an unbiased picture of the Group’s performance during the Reporting
Period and should avoid selections, omissions, or presentation formats that may inappropriately
influence the decision or judgment made by the report readers.

Consistency The statistical methods in all data reporting are consistent with previous year. Any changes will
be stated clearly in the Report.

Reporting Scope

This Report covers the actual business scope of the Group, and the data collection of environmental Key
Performance Indicators (“KPIs”) includes those from offices in Shenzhen and Chongqging, PRC, and the United
States (U.S.), as well as the factory in Dongguan, PRC. This Report describes the sustainable development
policies, initiatives and KPIs of the Group related to core businesses from January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023
(hereinafter referred to as the “Year” or the “Reporting Period”).

Vesync Co., Ltd
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Language of this Report

This Report is available in two languages, including traditional Chinese and English versions. Should there be any
inconsistency between them, the traditional Chinese version shall prevail.

Approval of this Report

This Report was approved by the board of directors on March 25, 2024 upon confirmation of the management.

Feedback on this Report

We highly value your feedback on this Report. Should you have any questions or suggestions, please do not
hesitate to contact us via email to companyinfo@vesync.com.cn.

2. SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

2.1 Statement of the Board of Directors

As a responsible enterprise, the Group adheres to the management policies of sustainable development. We
have established and improved environmental, social, and governance (ESG) governance structure and
implementation to incorporate ESG risks into the overall risk management mechanism of the Group, so as to
actively promote the corporate sustainable development.

On the basis of improving our governance system and strengthening our risk management, we have
established a robust ESG governance structure, whereby the board of directors fully discharges its decision-
making and supervisory responsibilities on ESG issues, reviews and confirms the results of materiality
assessments, and understands the concerns and requirements of various stakeholders, in order to
determine the Group’s ESG management guidelines, strategy, priorities and objectives. The board of
directors also actively discusses ESG matters, including supervising and reviewing the Group’s corporate
social responsibility and sustainability affairs, and makes recommendations. The Group has set environment-
related targets. Our ESG related performance was reviewed by the board of directors on an ongoing basis,
which conducted progress review against ESG related objectives. The board of directors regularly reviews
the progress of the Company in achieving the above targets.

2.2 Sustainable Governance

The Group actively integrates sustainable development concept into our corporate culture and long-term
development strategy, and has established a top-down ESG governance structure consisting of the board of
directors, the audit committee and the ESG working group, so as to better prepare for future challenges and
opportunities. The board of directors of the Company has overall oversight right and ultimate responsibility
for ESG issues.

The Group has established the audit committee under the board of directors. The audit committee provides
an independent assessment of the effectiveness of ESG management, performs the Group’s corporate
governance procedures and is responsible for overseeing, reviewing and managing the formulation and
implementation of the Group’s strategies and policies in respect of ESG, and reports to the board of
directors on a regular basis, so as to ensure the consistency of the ESG issues with the corporate strategies.

Vesync Co., Ltd
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The audit committee shall convene at least two meetings a year to monitor and review the ESG vision and
objectives set by the Group, implementation of strategies and emerging ESG trends. An ESG working group
has been set up under the audit committee, which is responsible for the implementation and execution of the
Group’s specific ESG initiatives, assisting the audit committee for review and evaluation, and recommending
ESG measures implemented by the business divisions for the achievement of the set objectives, and
reporting to the board of directors and the audit committee on a regular basis on the ESG issues, as well as
the progress and performance of the implemented measures.

DECISION MAKING LEVEL.: the board of directors

° Taking full responsibilities for ESG strategies and reporting

° Determining ESG management guidelines, strategies, plans, goals and annual work,
including assessing, prioritizing and managing significant ESG issues, risks and opportunities

° Delegating authority to the ESG working group

. Reviewing and monitoring ESG performance and the progress in achieving goals regularly

° Approving the content of ESG report annually

DECISION MAKING LEVEL: the audit committee

o Developing and reviewing the Company’'s ESG policies and practices and making
recommendations to the board of directors

. Overseeing the assessment and management of ESG related issues and reporting to the
board of directors

° Reviewing and monitoring the progress of ESG related objectives and targets and making
recommendations to the board of directors

° Reviewing the Company’s compliance with the Listing Rules in relation to ESG disclosures in
the ESG Report

. Assessing and determining ESG related risks and opportunities, ensuring that appropriate
and effective ESG management and internal controls are in place

o Reviewing other ESG topics, if any, as defined by the board of directors

ORGANIZATION LEVEL: the ESG working group

. Reporting regularly to the audit committee under the board of directors on ESG related
issues and progress

o Responsible for reviewing and monitoring ESG policies and practices of the Group to ensure
that the Group complies with relevant legal and regulatory requirements

° Coordinating and promoting the implementation of ESG policies by all departments, and
monitoring the ESG related work of functional departments

EXECUTIVE LEVEL: representatives of departments

o Complying with various ESG related policies and systems
° Collecting and reporting ESG internal policies, systems and ESG related performance
indicators

e

ESG Governance Structure
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2.3 Stakeholders’ Engagement

In order to strengthen our understanding of stakeholders’ expectations and needs, as well as to identify
material issues and assess the effectiveness of our sustainability measures, we maintained contact with
different stakeholders. Stakeholders play an important role in our business development and strategy. We
strive to understand their emerging expectations and needs, so as to continuously review and improve our

sustainability performance.

Stakeholders Major Communication and Response Methods

Shareholders/investors

Annual general meetings and other general meetings

Interim reports and annual reports

Company correspondence (such as letters/circulars to shareholders and
meeting notices)

Results announcements

Investors’ meetings

Shareholder visits

Business data announcements

Customers

Customer satisfaction surveys and opinion forms
Customer service centre

Daily operation/communication

Online service platform

Telephone

Email

Employee

Employees opinion surveys

Channels (such as forms and suggestion boxes) for employee to express
opinions

Work performance appraisal and reviews
Group discussion

Face-to-face meetings

Business briefings
Seminars/workshops/talks

Publications (such as staff newsletters)
Staff communication conference
Employee intranet forums

Business partners

Meetings
Visits
Talks

Government — Human
Resources and Social
Security Bureau/
Taxation Bureau

Policy documents and guidelines
Working conference

Information delivery

Seminars

Suppliers

Supplier/contractor evaluation system
Meetings
On-site visits

Media

News conference

Press releases

Interviews with senior management
Results announcements

Media events

Community/non-
governmental
organizations

Community activities

Seminars/talks/workshops

Meetings

Daily information and communication symmetry

Regulators

Regulatory policies
Investigations and visits
Presentations
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2.4 Materiality Assessment

We have conducted an analysis based on the survey results of the important issues of various stakeholders
and the overall business operations of the Group during the Year. Our materiality assessment processes are
as follows:

Step 1: Identification

We have identified important issues in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange and other requirements and with reference to the ESG management practices of excellent peer
companies and combining them with the actual operational situation of the Group.

Step 2: Prioritization
We prioritize each ESG issues based on the results of the stakeholders survey on important issues.

Step 3: Applying and Reporting
For issues of high materiality, we not only give priority consideration to them in the Group’s operations, but
also make major disclosures in ESG reports.

The management of the Group confirmed that the materiality assessment results for 2022 are still applicable
for this Year, as (i) there have been no significant changes in the Group’s strategic direction and operating
businesses during the Reporting Period; and (ii) the results of the 2022 materiality assessment can still
reflect the expectations of stakeholders towards the Group. Based on the analysis of the materiality
assessment results from stakeholders, we identified 33 important issues, of which 8 were of high importance,
14 were of moderate importance, and 11 were of general importance. The ESG issues of importance has
been approved by the board of directors.

Vesync Co., Ltd
Annual Report 2023 67



o8

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

A
Issues of
general importance

Importance to Stakeholders
(<]

Materiality Matrix

Issues of
moderate importance

o

Q o

o

Issues of high
importance

Issues of high importance

1. Operation in compliance with 9.

laws and regulations 10.
2. Anti-corruption 11.
3. Respecting intellectual 12.
property rights 13.
4. Product and service quality
assurance 14.
5. Product innovation 15.
6.  Protection of customers’ 16.
privacy
7. Information security
Complaint handling and 17.
responding mechanism 18.
19.
20.
21.
22.

Vesync Co., Ltd
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Importance to the Business of the Group

Issues of moderate importance

Product after-sale management
Whistle-blowing mechanism
Product promotion

Internal control

Supply chain social responsibility
management

Green supply chain

Employees’ rights

Employee diversity, non-
discrimination and equal
opportunity

Occupational health and safety
Staff training and development
Labor relations

Climate change

Hazardous substances
management

Use of materials/resources

v

Issues of general importance

23.

24.

25.

26.

27.

28.
29.

30.

31.

32.

33.

Energy consumption and
efficiency management
Wastewater discharge and
treatment

Greenhouse gas emissions
Air pollutant emissions

Water consumption and
efficiency management
Green design

Environmental awareness of
employees

Managing the impact of
operations on the environment
and natural resources

Value and impact of community
investment

Prevention of child and forced
labour

Employees’ awareness and
participation of public welfare
activities



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

3. QUALITY ASSURANCE

3.1 Product Quality Management

Establish Quality Management System

The Group is committed to promoting product safety and quality improvement. Our quality policy is “customer
first, quality first, continuous improvement, and sustainable development”. We have established a quality
management system in accordance with ISO standards to achieve strong quality risk control throughout the
entire process. The Group complies with the Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China ({#
ANERHAFMEE R G E5%)) and Consumer Product Safety Act (GH & % &%) of the U.S, to ensure our
products are designed to meet customer and regulatory requirements. To ensure the implementation and
delivery of high-quality services, Shenzhen office has adopted the GB/T 19001-2006 and ISO9001: 2015
quality system certification, and will carry out review every year within the validity period.

Product Safety Certification Control

The Group continually carries out product compliance certification and control. In various stages from
research and development, production, to sales, the Group has set up evaluation and audit nodes for
product compliance, and conducted safety certification and compliance testing on products launched on
the market. It ensures that out products meet the requirements of safety certification and testing at every
stage of design and development, prototype verification, product trial production, and final mass production,
ensuring that all products launched on the Group’s market meet the safety and compliance requirements of
the sales target area.

Full Process Quality Control

In order to effectively monitor product quality and promote the accountabilities for product quality and safety,
the Group has established “Quality Control Measures” ({& & ¥ %l #5 %)), “Finished Product Delivery
Management Procedures” ({f{ @i EEE R FF)), Quality Manual ((Z=2FfH)) and “Production and
Service Process Control Procedures” (4 & 0 Az % i@ 12 2 §| 32 [ )). The Group improves product process
quality management from various stages such as product planning, research and development design, raw
material procurement, production manufacturing, finished product inspection, and quality after-sales.

Each product development project of the Group is equipped with a full-time R&D quality engineer, who is
involved from the initial stage of project development, responsible for collecting VOC (Voice Of Customers)
and transforming them into key items of internal quality control risks, identifying product safety and
compliance standards, transforming them into internal high-demand testing standards, and working with the
R&D person in charge to formulate a quality risk control plan at the beginning of the project, and monitoring
the implementation of risk response measures throughout the whole process of the project. We also check
the quality of testing during the project, and are responsible for the safety, reliability and performance of
products and key components to follow up until the problem is solved.
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3.2

We strictly control the quality of the products, including the on-site quality control in the assembly plant for
finished product sampling. We have developed the “Procedures for Unqualified Quality Control” to identify
the level of unqualified products and follow the industry standards of the product, product testing standards
and product acceptance standards to judge the qualification of the product. When found not to meet the
quality control standards, the unqualified situation will be recorded in the “inspection report of finished
product”. Then we will arrange personnel to label the unqualified batch with unqualified labels and return it
to the warehouse for rework and repair of defective products, prohibiting the flow into the next process. After
rework and repair, the product must be submitted to the quality control personnel again for inspection, and
the qualified products can be put into storage. The unqualified products after repair are required to be re-
sent to the factory or engineering department for processing, and we will properly keep the record of the
unqualified products in the scrap application form for future product development as a reference basis. The
quality personnel of product lines who find unqualified products in the process of supervision and inspection
and product sampling inspection should immediately identify and isolate the unqualified materials, and put
forward treatment suggestions to the assembly plant. Our treatment methods for unqualified products
include: selection, rework/repair, special procurement, scrapping, etc. When the product is returned from
the market, we will settle the “Market Return List” to confirm the disposal of the returned product.

We strictly control the quality of products before leaving the factory, conduct product inspection through
scientific inspection standards, and conduct final verification according to the established procedures
before product shipment, review the potential quality and safety risks in all life cycles of products, so as to
reduce or avoid quality risks.

On 23 February 2023, the Group announced that in cooperation with the United States Consumer Product
Safety Commission, Health Canada and Mexico Procuraduria Federal del Consumidor (Profeco), we elected
to conduct a voluntary recall of some models of air fryers sold under the Cosori brand in the United States,
Canada and Mexico. The total units involved in this recall are around 2,000,000 in the United States, around
250,000 in Canada and around 21,000 in Mexico. As of 31 December 2023, the recall was still ongoing.

Excellent Customer Service

Adhering to the concept of customer-focused, the Group is committed to providing customers with high-
quality products and services, handling customer complaints in a timely and reasonable manner, answering
customers’ doubts, solving customers’ problems, and providing customers with high-quality after-sales
service, so as to enhance customers’ satisfaction with products and brands. The Group also sorts out,
analyzes and summarizes customer complaints and feedbacks problems, and promotes the improvement of
problems, thereby facilitating product quality improvement and iteration, reducing complaints of similar
problem, and continuously improving user experience. Our Sino-U.S. customer service teams work together
to share information, and synchronize information in a timely manner to enhance customer service
consistency on both sides.
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Optimizing the Handling Mechanism of Customer Service

We attach great importance to the opinions and satisfaction of our customers, and the Group has formulated
the “Management Specification for Customer Complaints” and the “Handling Guide for Customer After-sales
Feedback”, striving to solve customer problems by optimizing user communication channels and complaint
handling mechanisms. We have two major customer service platforms in place, namely Zendesk and after-
sales system. Zendesk is a third-party integrated email response platform for customer complaints. We focus
on collectively handling customer service complaints in North America, Europe online product support
mailbox, American mall after-sales mailbox and so on. The system can set rules to classify and assign
emails to individual teams, which effectively improves the efficiency of email processing, effectively monitors
the quality of customer service, and greatly improves the efficiency of team work evaluation and
management. The after-sales system is a self-developed after-sales system of the Company, and the
expectations and goals of this system are to reply to customer complaints, deliver product problems and
analyze a series of actions that can be achieved in one stop on this system. Meanwhile, this system collects
customer reviews and customer complaints, so as to maximize the use of customer feedback information to
promote product and service upgrades.

Enhancing User Experience

In strict compliance with the “Customer Service Code”, our customer service team solves problems for
customers through professional knowledge about customer service and improves our customer satisfaction
through friendly service attitude, so as to enhance customers’ recognition to our brand. Our customer
service team also improves its professional knowledge on a daily basis by initiatively learning product and
online knowledge, in order to provide accurate and high-quality solutions to customers’ problems. In case
that we receive a customer complaint, we will file a case to analyze the cause of the problem at the first
place, and then reply to the customer in respect of the solution as soon as possible. We pay attention to and
deal with customer feedback and product comments, and give effective feedback to consumers in the first
time.

Our Chinese and American customer service teams work closely together. Our Chinese team communicates
with American team to make timely adjustments and proactively share product knowledge to improve the
efficiency of our Chinese and American customer service teams, thereby improving the consistency of
domestic and overseas customer service. We also actively understand the needs of customers by actively
contacting our customers through different online platforms, such as the customer service platform of
Amazon sellers, Amazon backend, VeSync Email response, the official contact number and the Facebook
community, etc., so that we can accurately understand the problems of our customers to provide accurate
solutions.

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a satisfaction rate of customer service of 90.5% based on
internal statistics. There were no cases where complaints about products or services had a significant
impact on the business.
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Product and Service Innovation

As a leading provider of smart home devices and solutions, the Group’s products are highly preferred by the
users in the market. We are always committed to creating a connected lifestyle with smarter products that
make life better at home and beyond, opening up new opportunities and helping discover new possibilities
for our users, team members and partners through our community and technology. Based on the positive
reviews from various sources, the ease-of-use, high performance and excellent compatibility of VeSync's
products are the features that users appreciate the most.

ve/ync

VeSync Brand Series

%) Etekcity ~ COSORI l&voit

Among the products of VeSync, Levoit air purifier is one of the most popular products. Our users praise the
stylish appearance of the Levoit air purifier, which can be placed in every corner of the home as a home
appliance. On the other hand, Levoit air purifier has excellent purification performance and very low noise,
so that children and pets at home can enjoy clean and fresh air in a quiet environment. The reliability, easy-
to-use application program and compatibility with virtual helpers of VeSync air purifiers are also highly
praised by our users.

Cosori air fryers, another product of VeSync, are also well received. Cosori air fryer is not only fine and
beautiful, but also very simple and convenient in cooking operation. The food cooked is also healthy and
delicious with low oil and low fat.

In all, the excellent performance of smart home products of VeSync is widely praised. Regardless of
personal fitness, home decor, enjoying better cooking and maintaining indoor air quality, the smart home
products of VeSync have it all covered. They are easy to install and use, and play an important role in
improving the life quality of users. The smart home products of the Group have won numerous awards and
been recognized by many institutions in the world.
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Air Purifier

Humidifier

Air Fryer

Etekcity Smart Fitness Scales EFS-A591S-KUS
Cosori Smart Meat Thermometer CMT-R161S-KUS
Cosori Air Fryer CAG-A601S-KUS

Cosori Air Fryer CAF-LI401S-KUS

Cosori Air Fryer CAF-L501-WJP

Cosori Air Fryer

Levoit Humidifier
Levoit Smart Tower-type Fan
Levoit Smart Vacuum Cup LTM-A401S-WUS

Levoit Air Purifier Core 400S
Levoit Air Purifier LAP-EL551-WUS

Fitness Scale

Partial List of Awarded Products Awards

German Innovation Award, Red Dot Award
2023 IF Design Award

German Innovation Award, Red Dot Award

IF Design Award

Excellent Design Award

America’s Best Home and Garden Brands 2022

America’s Best Home and Garden Brands 2022
2023 IF Design Award

IF Design Award, German Innovation Award, Red Dot
Award

IF Design Award, German Innovation Award

IF Design Award, German Innovation Award, Red Dot
Award

Vesync Co., Ltd
Annual Report 2023

03



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

reddot design award

honorable mention 2017

Levoit Halo Smart Reamer won The design concept of

the CES Innovation Awards AURA- Smart Essential Oil
Diffuser won Honorable
Mention at the Reddot
Design Award

@

reddot design award s

winner 2019 cw&ﬂ,
WINMER 2019

Levoit Core 300 True HEPA Air

Purifier won the Contemporary

Good Design

COSORI Air Fryer won the
Reddot Design Award

@

“-'I‘I‘M.iﬂ
& ' Eﬁﬂ‘ﬁg rgddot design award
winner 2020

Levoit Core 300S Smart True
HEPA Air Purifier won the
German Innovation Award

Levoit Core 300S Smart True

Dot Design Award

DESIGN
AWARD

O

2022

2018

y

Etekcity Emory Handheld
Steamer won the CES
Innovation Awards

Bl gooa
innovation

awards
2019 FINALIST

Levoit Willow True HEPA Air

Purifier won the IHA Global
Innovation Awards

7

reddot design award
winner 2020

Levoit Core 400S Smart True

=

DESIGN
AWARD
2018

DESIGN
AWARD
2018

DESIGN
AWARD
2018

Pinnacle Smart Nutrition Scale  Emory Handheld Steamer won = AURA- Smart Essential Oil

won the iF Product Design
Award

g‘zaglobcll
innovation
awards

2019 WINNER

Levoit Willow True HEPA Air
Purifier won the “global
innovation awards” of IHA

Levoit Core 300S Smart True

HEPA Air Purifier won the Red  HEPA Air Purifier won the Red  HEPA Air Purifier won the
Dot Design Award

German Design Award

\H'I'NNEI!

the iF Product Design Award

DESIGN
AWARD
2020

Levoit Core 300 True HEPA
Air Purifier won the IF Design
Award

GERMAN
DESIGN

AWARD
SPECIAL

2021

Levoit Air Concept won the
Special Prize of the German
Design Award

DESIGN
AWARD
2023

Diffuser won the iF Product
Design Award

Bllgovc
innovation
awards

2020 FINAUST

Levoit Air Concept won the IHA
Global Innovation Awards

Levoit Core 400S Smart True
HEPA Air Purifier won the
Special Prize of the German
Design Award

DESIGN
AWARD
2023

@ mm

reddot winner 2022

Levoit LAP-EL551-WUS Air
Purifier received IF Design
Award

Etekcity EFS-A591S-KUS Levoit LAP-EL551-WUS Air
Smart Fitness Scales received  Purifier received Red Dot
German Innovation Award Award

COSORI CAG-AB01S-KUS
Air Fryer received German
Innovation Award

Levoit 42-Inch Smart Tower COSORI CMT-R161S-KUS
Fan received IF Design Award Smart Meat Thermometer
received IF Design Award

Advertising and Customer Management

Regarding our marketing activities, we completely comply with the requirements of the FTC Act in America, Unfair
Commercial Practices Directive ("~ 1E & @ %717 4£15<)) of the EU, the Directive on Consumer Rights ((H & &
<)) and other applicable laws and regulations. We have established the Advertising Compliance
Guidelines to prevent the provision of false or exaggerated information. We prohibit false publicity and resist any
improper behavior that restricts market competition, ensure verified, accurate and reliable information, and strictly
forbid to exaggerate the publicity by secretly changing the concept, so as to ensure the legal compliance of
advertising. All claims/communications shall be verifiable; especially those for health, safety, or product
performance, and any advertising or promotion shall not offense the personality and dignity nor incite or condone
discrimination of any kind, including discrimination on the basis of race, nationality, religion, gender, age,
disability, or sexual orientation. Besides, advertising should ensure legality, propriety, integrity and truthfulness,
thereby fulfilling due social and professional responsibilities.
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3.3 Supply Chain Management

The Group integrates environmental and social responsibility into its supply chain management, and
developed a sound and sustainable supplier management system. Our suppliers are required to comply
with the laws and regulations of the places where we operate, including but not limited to the Bidding Law of
the People’'s Republic of China ({f #& A R £ BB 1R K 1F)%)), the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the
People’s Republic of China ((##E A R HME R T 1F & % F)%)) and the Interim Provisions on Banning
Commercial Bribery (CRARZEIE IR IT R B E TR E)). Furthermore, we monitor our suppliers by
developing internal procedures and measures to manage environmental and social risks in our supply chain,
and we set standards for supplier access, certification, performance management and procurement
management procedures.

Supplier Examination

We have procedures in place as “Supplier Sourcing Management Process” and “Standards for Review and
Management of Suppliers”. We require suppliers to comply with the ISO9001 quality system or have third-
party certification to initially screen out the list of suppliers that meet the specified conditions, scale and
other information when looking for new suppliers. While examining new suppliers, the Group considers the
environmental and social factors and requires them to provide international social management system
certifications such as ISO9001 quality system, ISO14001 environmental management system, and 1ISO45001
occupational health management system.

Supplier Assessment

We develop a Procurement and Supply Chain Management Policy to govern our procurement process and
serve as a guide for strictly fair and ethical conduct for our suppliers and contractors. We regard our
suppliers as important partners in our sustainability efforts. Therefore, we have established the “Supplier
Performance Management” to manage the performance of our suppliers in the form of data by regular
monitoring and assessment. For example, we score in terms of materials, quality, etc. and strengthen our
management to ensure that we clearly understand the quality of our suppliers’ products, thereby improving
our production quality to meet the market standards.

We implement the “Supplier Hierarchical Management”, and at the end of each year, the procurement
department will grade suppliers according to their performance and significance. We have graded our
suppliers, and suppliers with higher ratings continue to retain their qualifications as qualified suppliers; while
lower-level suppliers need to be analyzed and corrected in accordance with the requirements of the
“Corrective Action Management Procedures”. The audit team and the project team review the scoring results
and select suppliers reasonably, which specific rating standards with reference to the “Supplier Certification
Management Procedure”. We monitor its suppliers by formulating internal procedures and measures to
manage environmental and social risks in the supply chain. Before entering into business cooperation with
suppliers, suppliers must sign the “Integrity Purchasing Agreement”.
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The Group has formulated the “Code of Conduct for Suppliers” (the “Code”), in which the red line for the
social responsibility and environmental performance of suppliers was set and included in the supplier
assessment. During the Reporting Period, all suppliers had signed the “Code of Conduct for Suppliers”. The
Group conducts regular on-site examination to assess the compliance level with the Code of the suppliers. If
any non-compliance was identified, the supplier will be required to make rectification within a specified
period. Failing to do so, we will terminate the cooperation.

Social Responsibility and Environmental Performance Standard for Suppliers

Labor Standards Ethical Standards

1. Prohibition of forced labor Prohibiting bribery, corruption, extortion, and
2. Prohibition of child labor of any form embezzlement of any form
3. Reasonable working hours and holidays 2. Protecting intellectual property rights and
4. The remuneration paid to employees should customer information

comply with all applicable wage laws 3. Upholding fair trading, advertising, and
5. Prohibition of discrimination and harassment competition
6. Freedom of association 4. Committing to protecting the privacy of

personal information of all business-related
individuals reasonably

Health and Safety Standards Environmental Standards

Guaranteeing the occupational safety of staff Obtaining, maintaining and updating all
2. Identifying and assessing the hazards and necessary environmental permits

emergencies, and taking preventive measures 2. Complying with all applicable laws and
3. Providing employees with sanitary fittings, regulations regarding prohibited or restricted

safety working conditions. substances, as well as customer requirements

3. Complying with all applicable laws and
regulations regarding pollutants (including
wastewater, emissions, solid waste) should
be complied with

4. Taking measures to conserve energy or use
alternative energy, reducing consumption of
energy, water, electricity and natural resource
to decrease greenhouse gas emissions

We have standardized the procurement management process and required the suppliers we cooperate with
to comply with laws and regulations. If any violations exist, the Group will suspend or terminate the
relationship with the supplier, including but not limited to environmental protection, employment, health and
safety, anti-corruption and others.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had a total of 184 Chinese suppliers. The number of suppliers by
region, as well as the number of suppliers that had implemented the relevant practices, were as follows: 44
in East China, 140 in South China, with the major procurement categories being products and services for
small home appliance and their accessories.
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RESPONSIBILITY OPERATION

We operate our business in a responsible manner, abide by national laws and regulations as well as group rules,
and maintain business ethics. In order to ensure the sustainable and stable development of the Group and protect
the assets of the Company, we strictly abide by the “Company Law of the People’s Republic of China” ({ff % A B
HFMBEI R 7E)), the “Articles of Association” and other laws, regulations and rules. We developed the
“Management Measures for Comprehensive Risk” to ensure that the Company’s various operations and
management activities comply with relevant laws and regulations, manage the basic process of risk management
in the course of management, and cultivate a good risk management culture.

4.1 Protection of Information Security

In terms of protecting confidentiality, we established the “Information Security and Privacy Compliance Laws
and Regulations Compendium” ({15 8% & kB fL& R E 2 A HE 4 7)) and strictly comply with the laws
and regulations on the compendium, such as the Regulations on the Implementation of the Regulations on
Security Protection of Computer Information Systems of the PRC ({(F ZEAREMBH EHEE ZH L 2R
& 51)), the Cybersecurity Law of the People’s Republic of China ({1 # A R XM E 4 % 25%)) and
Federal Trade Commission Act (B B Z 5 Z 8 € %)). We apply information technology to comprehensive
risk management, unify risk management with the Company’s various management business processes and
management software, and unify planning, design, implementation and synchronized operation. The network
administrators develop a thorough network backup and emergency recovery plan, and conduct and record
emergency drills once a year. When a network security event occurs, it should be handled in accordance
with the information security event handling process. Employees are granted relevant access rights after
gaining the authorization and can only use the network within the scope of authorization. Network
administrators assign network rights according to their job responsibilities and limit the network channels
and services that authorized users can connect to.

We have established the “Management Measures of IT Information Technology Security” ({IT{Z B & fl1 Z &
& I #% 5% )), which not only protects customer privacy, but also effectively protects the integrity,
confidentiality and availability of information assets, and controls the operation of information processing
related activities to ensure the continuous and stable development of the Company’s business. We have an
information security team, which is responsible for formulating IT technology security management
measures, and guiding and supervising all business departments to comply with the “Management
Measures of IT Information Technology Security” ({IT15 & F i % 2 & 32 #1%)) in the work process. The
information security group inspect, audit, and supervise the implementation of various requirements of the
information security incident management measures in a regular or sample basis manner and the violations
of these measures should be corrected in a timely manner, and those who seriously violate or cause security
incidents should be held accountable for the corresponding responsibilities.

The information security group is responsible for the management of information security incidents, which
aims to grasp the security status of networks and information systems in a timely manner, laying the
foundation for coordinating and organizing relevant forces to conduct emergency response processing of
information system security incidents, reducing the losses and impacts caused by information security
incidents, and ensuring that networks and information systems operate safely and stably.
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For information security and privacy protection, the Group has established an Information Security and
Privacy Protection Committee and set up an Information Security and Privacy Protection Task Force under it.
It is mainly responsible for the day-to-day management of information security and privacy protection; it is
also responsible for providing guidance to each department to carry out relevant work on information
security and privacy protection, and supervising the implementation of information security and privacy
protection by each department; identifying information assets, evaluating the results of information security
risk assessment and privacy impact assessment risk assessment, and tracking the process of risk
elimination; and organizing training and awareness promotion on information security and privacy protection.
The Group provides regular training on the information security and privacy protection system and conducts
examinations to reflect the level of employees’ knowledge of information security and privacy protection. The
Group also promotes the knowledge of information security on our platform on a regular basis, which
enables all employees to gain an in-depth understanding of the importance of information security and
privacy protection.

During the Year, we have not been reported to receive any material breach of personal data.

Customer Information Management

The Group is committed to ensuring the privacy of its customers and strictly complies with the the Civil Code
of the People’s Republic of China (% AR KXMBEIRJEH)), the Cybersecurity Law of the People’s
Republic of China ({##E AR E MBI A48 %L 2 %)), Personal Information Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China ({F#E AR KM EA{E ER#EE)), and the Data Security Law of the People’s
Republic of China ({FF#E A R HFIE 1% % 2 %)) and the laws and regulations in the regions where it
operates relating to network security and personal information protection, and fully respects the privacy

interests of individuals when collecting and processing personal data. The Group issued the “Information
Security and Privacy Protection Management Manual” ({{5 8% & M E LR EE I FM)), which clarifies
the information security and privacy protection management system policy, objectives, document system
structure, management scope, operation, performance evaluation, continuous improvement, and other
activities of the Company’s information security and privacy protection management system. We have
formulated the “Vesync Group Personal Data Protection System” ({VeSync £ B i A H &R E H1E)), the
“Security Inspection for Employees’ Computers” (B TEKZ 2% E)) and the “Network Equipment
Inspection Report” ({48 4% 5% 5 % ¥R 5 )), and shall be responsible for the processing of relevant personal
data within the department and shall take appropriate technical and organizational measures internally to
ensure the security of such personal data. We stipulated that employees should strictly keep all files. Any
breach of confidentiality or leakage accident shall be reported to the competent authority immediately with
corresponding measures being taken.
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We have also strengthened the implementation of data security measures to further protect the privacy of
customers. All data management departments and technical departments should take different measures to
ensure the security of personal data. We collect and use personal information of our customers for the
purposes and in the manner as set out in the privacy policy. Customers may check the relevant terms and
their own rights. We have established the “Management Measures of IT Information Technology Security” ((IT
EEHIMZ2EEPIE)) to protect information assets accordingly. We strive to protect our customers’
privacy experience through the following measures:

° We shall disclose to the individuals whose personal data are collected the processing rules of their
personal data, and make clear the purpose, manner and scope of processing.

° We shall have a clear and reasonable purpose for processing personal data, and shall be directly
related to the purpose of processing, adopt a manner that minimizes the impact on the rights and
interests of individuals, limit the minimum scope of achieving the purpose of processing, and shall not
collect personal data excessively.

o Appropriate technical and organizational measures are used to ensure the security of personal data,
prevent unauthorized or illegal processing, and prevent accidental loss, destruction or damage.

o If personal data is involved, the relevant business department shall submit a PIA review in accordance
with the Company’s internal process, and the personal data can only be processed after the review
has been passed. Each department should take adequate security measures to ensure data security.

o Each department shall, at a minimum, obtain the consent or authorization of the child’s guardian if its
products or services are intended for children or may involve the processing of children’s personal
data. Given the complexity of personal data protection requirements for children in multiple
jurisdictions, each department shall conduct a data compliance risk assessment and a data security
risk assessment in accordance with its internal processes before commencing specific operations,
which should only be initiated after review and approval by the relevant departments.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had no substantiated complaints regarding leakage of customer
privacy or loss of customer data was reported.

Protection of Intellectual Property Rights

We strictly abides by the intellectual property laws and regulations in the place where we operate such as
the “Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China” ({# ZE A R H MBI H F)%)), the “Trademark Law of the
People’s Republic of China” ({(F # AR X MEIFIZE)), the “Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of
China” ({fp #E A R A B 2 {E#E %)), and other patent laws and trademark laws in jurisdictions where we
operate. We have set up an intellectual property department, which is responsible for formulating intellectual
property strategies, applying for patents and handling litigation for the Group. In order to minimize the
operational risks associated with intellectual property infringement, there is an intellectual property system,
which further strengthens the protection of intellectual property rights of the Company and its branches, and
standardizes intellectual property management.
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We have formulated the “Intellectual Property Management System” ((FIEEEIEHIE)) to further
strengthen the protection of intellectual property rights of the Company and its branches and standardize
intellectual property management. Our new technologies, new processes, new products and other research
and development and technological transformation, have made full use of the patent literature to develop the
correct direction of research and technology routes, improve the starting point of research and development,
avoid duplication of development or reduce the occurrence of intellectual property disputes. In addition, we
have published the “Agreement of User” ({F = ### 7)) on the Group’s website, which stipulates the legal
protection of its copyrights, trademarks, patents, confidential commercial information and other intellectual
property rights or ownership. If any infringement is found, the legal department and the intellectual property
department will collect evidence of infringement and take legal actions when necessary. Besides, we enter
into agreements with suppliers to prohibit their unauthorized use or misappropriation of our intellectual
property rights and monitor the use of our intellectual property rights by suppliers to ensure their proper use.
The intellectual property rights herein include patents, trademarks (including registered or unregistered
trademarks of the Company and its affiliates), copyrights and related royalties, integrated circuit layout
designs, commercial secrets, firm names, domain names, and other intellectual property rights entitled in
accordance with local laws, regulations, or contractual agreements.

In addition, the Group has formulated the “Patent Incentive Compensation System” (=& F| 42 B 55 Bl 41 £ ))
and the “ETEKCITY Intellectual Property Management System” ((HI#ZE#E I H|/E)) to encourage
employees’ enthusiasm for technological innovation. The protection of intellectual property rights and the
definition of other property rights shall be governed by the relevant laws, regulations, and rules of the

country or region where the Company is located.

We have established the “Patent Process Standardization” ({72 R %)) and “Regulations for Patent
Application and Review” (| B 55 &% 5 #0)). We sort out the patents list of the previous quarter on a
quarterly basis to discuss and determine the pending list of inventive patents, including the components of
assessors. The process associates will send the scoring sheets and relevant attachments to each assessor,

which shall be completed and returned for review before any further processing.

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Group obtained 576 licensed patents.
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4.3 Business Ethics and Anti-Corruption

The Group continues to strictly abide by the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China ({74 & A & £ 0
HI3%)), the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China ((FF #E A R H M B & 1 E & %
%)), the Company Law of the People’s Republic of China (/1 2 A R H F1E A 7]7%)), the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance and the Independent Commission Against Corruption Ordinance of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region and other laws and regulations related to anti-corruption, bribery, extortion,
fraud, money laundering, etc. The Group also strictly abides by the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA) of
the U.S. and other applicable laws and regulations in the places where it operates. Based on the Regulations
on the Administration of Anti-bribery, Anti-corruption, Anti-fraud and Reporting, the Company has established
a code of conduct for business ethics covering anti bribery, anti-corruption, and anti fraud, and has
developed corresponding regulations and processes to continuously improve the Company’s integrity
culture construction and anti-corruption system. The Group resolutely prohibits any corruption behaviour,
giving priority to prevention and supplementing with cracking-down efforts, with zero tolerance towards
corruption or fraud.

In order to enhance the awareness of integrity, anti-corruption and compliance among employees, and to
enhance the prevention and control of anti-corruption and anti-fraud, the Group has formulated anti-
corruption regulations and reporting mechanisms for the Regulations on the Administration of Anti-bribery,
Anti-corruption, Anti-fraud and Reporting, which are applicable to the entire Group, including the Company
and its wholly-owned subsidiaries and controlling subsidiaries. The objective of Group’s anti-bribery, anti-
corruption and anti-fraud work is to regulate the professional conduct of all employees of the Company,
establish a clean, diligent and professional work ethics, and comply with relevant laws and regulations,
professional ethics and the Company’s internal management system. At the same time, employees should
sign the “Letter of Commitment for Employees to Comply with the Vesync Regulations on Anti-Bribery, Anti-
Corruption, Anti-Fraud and Reporting Management” ({8 T & 57 (Vesync [z B8 B [ /& B FF i Bl 2R 4 B 18
1&51) % £)) when signing labor contracts, to ensure that each employee is aware of the Company’s
requirements on integrity, clean, and anti-bribery, anti-corruption, and anti-fraud.

The Group continues to carry out anti-corruption and integrity education for all employees within the Group
through internal information platform, integrity training activities, daily promotion and other channels and
methods. In order to create a self-disciplined and honest business environment, all directors, officers and
employees of the Group have received anti-corruption related training during the reporting period. In this
year, we held a “Corporate Anti-Corruption and Anti-Fraud Training” ({1b % % J& BR i Z2#2525)1)), which
mentioned the concept of fraud, prohibited corporate anti-fraud behaviors, fraud case sharing, and
corporate fraud reporting mechanism. Directors and employees were required to be strict and integrity with
themselves to establish the Group’s core business philosophy with law-abiding and integrity and high-quality
services. The Group has cultivated the integrity awareness of all employees in various levels and aspects
through daily promotion and anti-corruption and integrity training activities.

We advocate an integrity, honest and clean corporate culture with zero tolerance for corruption and fraud.
We require our employees to abide by laws, disciplines, integrity, and ethics in their daily work and business
operations, and to properly handle inappropriate conflicts of interest and temptations that arise in their work.
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The Company’s Principles for Prohibited Anti-fraud Behaviors specifies:

The Company requires that all employees and their stakeholders shall not accept any improper benefits
directly or indirectly provided by customers, suppliers, partners (including potential partners and
partner’s affiliates)

Prohibit employees of the Company from taking advantage of their power or position, or taking
advantage of the influence of their power or position, to directly or indirectly accept valuables and other
benefits from others, and to seek benefits for others; employees of the Company are prohibited from
violating regulations in economic transactions by accepting various forms of rebates and handling fees
for individuals or small groups

Prohibit employees of the Company from abusing their power, engaging in favoritism, bribery,
corruption, and fraud, and neglecting their duties to damage the tangible and intangible assets of the

Company; prohibit employees from using various means to misappropriate, embezzle, and steal assets

of the Company

Preventing conflicts of interest, which refers to potential conflicts or contradictions that may arise
between the personal interests of employees of the Company and its subsidiaries, affiliates, and the
interests of the Company represented or maintained by the employee’s capacity

Confidentiality and Handling Mechanism for Reporting

The Group has established a reporting mechanism. We solemnly promise to give top priority to the
confidentiality of reports, comply with national laws and regulations and the Company’s confidentiality
requirements for whistleblowers and reported information, and strictly maintain confidentiality in all aspects
of acceptance, registration, storage, and investigation to prevent leakage or loss. The Company has
established channels such as email, phone and WeChat, letters and visits to allow employees and all social
parties directly or indirectly involved in economic relations with the Company, including but not limited to
suppliers, other partners and their employees, as well as employees of the Company, to raise report.

Any fraudulent behavior is a violation of the Company’s high pressure line and is subject to a “zero
tolerance” policy. Any violation of the “Vesync Anti-Bribery, Anti-Corruption, Anti-Fraud, and Reporting
Management Regulations” ({Vesync [z Bf 8% [ 53 B iz 5% i B2 22 3R B 32 4 1)) will result in dismissal and
cancellation of the Company’s performance bonuses, dividends, and other incentive benefits that have been
granted. Those suspected of violating the law and committing crimes will be transferred to the judicial
authority for handling in accordance with the law.

During the Reporting Period, there were no litigation cases related to corruption and fraud, nor any reported
complaints of corruption or malpractice against the Group.
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5. EMPLOYEE GROWTH AND CARE

Vesync regards talent as our core competitiveness. We spare no effort to protect the legal rights of all employees

in terms of employment, compensation and benefits, training and development, etc. The Company adheres to the

people-oriented philosophy, promotes diversified development of employees, and provides a fair, open and
inclusive platform. As of December 31, 2023, we had a total workforce of 1,296 employees. Detailed employee

profile is as follows:

No. of

Employee Profile employees
Employee distribution by gender Female employees o20
Male employees 676

Employee distribution by employee category Full-time junior employees 1,242
Full-time middle management 39

Full-time senior management 15

Employee distribution by age group Aged below 30 employees 582
Aged between 30-50 employees 683

Aged above 50 employees 31

Employee distribution by geographical location’ Employee in China 1,164
Employee in the United States 125

Employee in other regions® 7

5.1 Equal Employment

The Group continually adheres to the principle of equal employment, and is dedicated to providing
diversified opportunities for the growth and development of its employees and considers it as a strategic
and fundamental initiative to achieve the future sustainable development of the Company and maintain its
competitiveness. The Group also fully protects the legitimate interests of its employees in terms of

recruitment, promotion, resignation, working hours, compensation and benefits, etc.

1 According to the actual working locations
2 Other regions: Japan and Germany
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In order to fully regularize the employment and protect the legitimate interests of employees, we strictly
abide by the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China ({# & A R £ 2 &)7%)), the Labor Contract
Law of the People’s Republic of China ({7 2 A R £ F1[E £ )4 [F)%)), the Law on the Protection of Minors
of the People’s Republic of China ({f%E AR ZEFE KK F ARZEE)) and the Provisions on the
Prohibition of Using Child Labor (Z£1-fF A Z T A E)), and the Labor Law ({ZB8)%)), the Age
Discrimination Act ({&F # 5218 7%)), the Pregnancy Discrimination Act ({22 1548 3%)), the Americans with
Disabilities Act ({FE=Jk A T{R# X)), the Fair Labor Standards Act ((RF & E)IZASL)) of the United
States and other laws and regulations in relation to labor and employment, so as to implement equal
employment and basic employee rights in global operations. The Group strictly abides by the relevant laws
and regulations of the place where it operates, protects the legitimate rights and interests of employees in
accordance with the law, signs labor contracts with employees, establishes standardized labor relations,
and clarifies the rights and obligations that employees shall enjoy and fullfil. The Company strictly prohibits
any discriminatory behavior based on factors such as nationality, region, race, ethnicity, gender, age,
disability, sexual orientation, etc. The rights and interests of employees around the world can be protected in
accordance with local laws and regulations.

Our recruitment procedure is strict and prudent, requiring the Human Resources Department to verify the
valid identification document provided by each applicant. The Group has formulated the Recruitment
Management System to build a diversified team. By adhering to the principle of fairness and equality in the
recruitment process, the Group focuses on professional ethics, expertise, experience and development
potential of the candidates to ensure that they enjoy equal opportunities. We uphold a policy of equal and
impartial employment, and do not discriminate against employees in terms of recruitment, promotion or
remuneration packages due to their nationality, race, religion, gender, age, disability, sexual orientation or
marital status. The Company complies with relevant regulations including the Provisions on the Prohibition of
Using Child Labor and the Law on the Protection of Minors of the People’s Republic of China. We refuse to
recruit applicants under 16, and strictly prohibit the employment of child labor or forced labor by suppliers.
During the interview, we conduct background checks on applicants to verify whether their identity certificates
comply with the labor age stipulated by the State. If the recruited employee is a minor, he or she will be
required to undergo a health examination in accordance with the “Regulations on Health Examinations for
Employees Aged 16-18" before being hired. We keep a record of the age of our employees, which can
eliminate the risk of persons under 16 being employed in a non-public manner. In the event of violations, we
will take disciplinary action against the employee involved. The Company is committed to avoiding forced
labor in any forms. What's more, the management will reasonably arrange the working hours of employees
according to different situations, and communicate with employees for consensus about overtime
arrangements in any forms in strict accordance with the principle of voluntary overtime work.

The Group enters into legally binding employment agreements with each employee in accordance with the
Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China and Fair Labor Standards Act of the United States, which
specify the minimum age of employment, regular working hours and arrangements for overtime work, if
required, in according with the laws of the place where the Group operates. The Group will investigate, take
disciplinary action or deal with any non-compliance or violation of the labour law once identified in
accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in a timely manner. Additionally, the Group follows the
guidance of the relevant employment laws if there is a need to dismiss an employee, and handles the case
in accordance with the standard procedures. We also respect the decision of an employee for resignation
and find out the reason. Upon the approval of resignation application, the employee shall handover all his/
her work to relevant staff according to the Work Handover Form before the leaving day, and then complete
the resignation procedure at the Human Resources Department.
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During the Reporting Period, there was no incident of non-compliance with laws regarding remuneration and
termination, working hours, equal opportunities on leave, antidiscrimination, other treatment and benefits,
infringements upon human rights, or employment of child labor or forced labor.

Employee Care

The Group offers basic rights and interests to employees, as well as multi-dimensional welfare and concern.
We take into account the needs of our employees and continue to improve the communication channels with
them. We provide comprehensive compensation and benefits system to our employees, and our overseas
offices have also established incentive systems and employee care initiatives in accordance with local
government regulations, industry norms and labor market conditions.

We strictly abide by the requirements of relevant Chinese provisions of the Interim Regulation on the
Collection and Payment of Social Insurance Premiums (it & R & B 21810 17 15 /51)), the Social Insurance
Law of the People’s Republic of China ({f 2 A R &£ F B4t & Rk J%)), the Regulations on Paid Annual
Leave for Workers (B T # 5 F R I541)), and the Measures for the Implementation of Paid Annual
Leave for Enterprise Employees ({1t %8 THH FIRBRE M IE)), as well as the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act, the Family and Medical Leave Act and the Worker Adjustment and Retraining
Notification Act of the United States, and provide paid annual leave, maternity leave, sick leave and the
basic medical insurance for employees. The Group has also formulated the Employee Manual, Working
Discipline and other policies and set up a reporting channel for the personnel department, in order to protect
the basic rights and interests of employees, and establish a fair and equal mechanism for the diversified
development of all employees. Bullying employees by managers, harassment by employees, and bullying
the weak by small groups are strictly prohibited. The Group will investigate, take disciplinary action or deal
with any non-compliance or violation once identified in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in
a timely manner. Those with severe circumstances will be handed over to competent authorities for handling.

Caring from the Labor Union

The Group has established labor union and earnestly complies with the Law of the Labor Union and the
Articles of Association of the Labor Union to actively promote the launching of employee welfare activities
and improve the lives of the members from the Labor Union. We have provided welfare benefits for
employees’ daily life, such as holiday consolation, health care, and heart-warming holidays. In every holiday,
we provide all employees with holiday consolation gifts/money. In every year, we organize physical
examination for all employees, and organize community activities together with the industrial park, such as
badminton, taekwondo exchanges, yoga, etc. In addition, we also provide special hardship grants and
support for employees with special difficulties, to accompany them to overcome difficulties.

In addition to continuous improvement of the employee welfare system, Vesync also launches many
employee activities to further enhance their sense of happiness and belonging in the Company. Specifically,
the Company organizes various welfare and care activities every year, such as the anniversary celebration
event, the Women’s Day activity, the Mid-Autumn Festival activity and Christmas activity, which not only
enrich the spare time life of the employees, but also create a warm and dynamic corporate culture.
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Employee Communication

VeSync places a high value on employee needs, and we hope that open and effective communication will
help develop a shared culture, values and behavioral norms among all employees. Therefore, we have set
up different communication channels. We hold staff gatherings and symposiums to praise individuals and
teams with outstanding performance. The Human Resources Department organizes employee seminars
from time to time with employees from various departments invited to discuss and seek solutions for issues.
In addition, we conduct employee interviews to gather their opinions, including employment after probation
of newly recruited workers, salary adjustment or position change and performance interview. The Company
set a suggestion box and carries out anonymous satisfaction surveys to maintain efficient internal
communication.

Employee Growth and Development

We understand that attracting and cultivating talents is crucial to the long-term growth of the Group. We
deeply implement the talent concept, optimize the internal talent cultivation system, consolidate the
foundation of the Group’s development, and are committed to building high-quality education and training
platforms for employees to enhance their work performance and maximize their potential. We value the
personal growth and development of employees. We understand that training and development provide
employees with abundant opportunities to develop new skills, which is an important channel for employees
to learn experience, while demonstrating our dedication to the personal and professional development of our
employees.

Employee Training

We conduct regular trainings on product and service knowledge for new employees to improve their
business capabilities. We provide elective and compulsory courses as well as specialized training tailored to
the needs of our employees in different departments to engage them in acquiring the skills required for their
positions. We annually formulate our training programs and courses with different types which include
management and development, profession/technology, and general basic knowledge, so as to
comprehensively improve the general and professional skills of our employees in basic knowledge, design
and development, practical operation and other aspects. We also hold a series of interactive workshops
which teach basic skills, including different practical skills, for different departments, such as workshops on
“New Media Operation + KOL Operation” and “Mall Operation System” in the Internet Business Department,
and workshops on “Software Test Fundamentals”, “Java Foundation and Development Practice” and
“Information Security” in the IT Department, which aim to encourage participants to apply relevant skills in
their work and improve their personal competence and performance at work. Training programs in China
workplaces include promoting ethical values and effective communication in the workplace.

The Group is committed to providing employees with an equal and adequately supported work environment.
We care about the integration of new employees into the Group. We hold VeSync 2023 Corporate Training
Program for Graduates, a three-day orientation training lasting for eight hours. Meanwhile, we provide a one-
day “New Employee Orientation Training” for new hires, so as to help our newcomers in 2023 learn about our
basic information and corporate culture as soon as possible. Such trainings allow everyone to quickly
integrate into the environment, build initial confidence in the company’s development and personal
development, and improve basic professional qualities and capabilities in common workplace scenarios,
etc.
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Career Development System

We have a sound promotion mechanism in place, pursuant to which the promotion mainly depends on the
work attitude, performance, and potential of employees, as well as the Company’s operational and
management needs. Employees’ job positions and duties can be adjusted based on our business
development requirements and employees’ actual work abilities and performance; employees can also
apply for transfer within the Company on a voluntary basis. The transfer of employees shall be subject to
approval procedures in line with the prescribed procedures. Enterprises and individuals who intend to
transfer can apply to the Human Resources Department. If they pass the review and evaluation, the Human
Resources Department will initiate the transfer process and follow up with the transfer procedures. Training
results are one of the important standards for employees to be directly employed, promoted and demoted.
The Company will provide employees with opportunities to switch their career development paths based on
its development requirements and employees’ abilities and willingness, with corresponding training courses
and content provided accordingly to ensure the common development of the Company and employees.

In 2023, the Group has upgraded and optimized its post management standards, including rank
introduction, career path, rank management, post management and management of abnormal change,
which will serve as a guideline for the development of employee within the organization and will be
implemented in 2024.

Average training

Indicator hours (hours)  Training rate®

By gender Female employees 6.36 42.45%
Male employees 9.99 57.55%
Full-time junior employees 8.15 95.35%

By employee category Full-time middle management 14.38 2.32%
Full-time senior management 0.80 1.55%

Health and Safety of Employees

The Group always prioritizes the occupational health of its staff, and has committed to providing employees
with a healthy and safe work environment. The Group complies with the relevant laws and regulations on
occupational health and safety in regions where it operates, and develops and provides employees with
relevant training on health and safety issues and health examination regularly.

The Group abides by the relevant laws and regulations on safety in regions where it operates, such as the
Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China ({1 #& A R £ FH % & 4 E %)), the Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China ({# #E A R &£ M B 45 8))%)) and the Occupational Health and Safety Law
of the United States. In combination with its actual work conditions, the Group has developed “Production
Safety Accident Emergency Plan”, “Safety Education and Training System” and other internal systems and
implemented prevention and control systems and measures from such aspects as safety accident
prevention, implementation of safety responsibilities and disposal of safety accidents, so as to further
improve the overall occupational health management. The Group has also organized each unit to establish a
list of occupational hazard factors and relevant positions, and actively worked to create healthy enterprises.

Calculated as follows: (Number of trained employees under this category/total number of trained employees) x 100%
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The Group believes that production safety and reducing work-related injuries is one of the most concerns of
the Company. We require employees to use the “Production Safety Emergency Filing and Registration Form”
and comply with the “Production Safety Accident Emergency Plan” during production. The “Production
Safety Accident Emergency Plan” includes fire safety, production safety, attendance system, factory
discipline and regulations, and plans the responsibilities of employees at all levels of the production
department. The “Comprehensive Emergency Rescue Plan” incorporates emergency measures, safeguards
and on-site treatment plans for all accidents that may affect production safety, such as environmental
emergencies. We comprehensively promote the construction of safety culture and improve the safety
awareness of all employees. We actively implement safety measures by posting safety reminders, equipment
checklists and production instructions at production locations to ensure the safety of production processes
and further reduce existing and potential risks in operations.

Organization of Safety Training

New employees are required to undergo induction safety training upon entry and fill in the induction safety
training sign-in form after completion. The training covers fire safety, production safety, quality systems, etc.
We strengthen production safety in all aspects and ensure the safety of employees through implementing
safety responsibilities, improving the safety management system, strengthening construction safety
management, enhancing safety equipment protection, and conducting safety education and training.

Regular Physical Examinations for Employees

To ensure the health of employees, we highly value the health and well-being of our employees. Although
the risk of physical injury in the industry where we operate is very low, we also arrange medical check-up
services for our employees, which include routine examinations, X-ray films, etc. We provide three
gynecological examinations for married women. After the medical examination report comes out, the inquiry
mode for electronic reports will received on the cell phone to access personal electronic medical
examination results according to the hint. At the end/beginning of each year, the Company uniformly
organizes annual physical examinations for employees, and employees are required to take physical
examinations at the institutions by the Company within the specified time frame on non-working days.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not receive any complaints or lawsuits regarding violations of
health and safety-related laws. Neither were there any cases of fatalities due to work during the past three
years.
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GREEN DEVELOPMENT

Always insisting on emphasizing environmental protection while developing its business, the Group has
considered environmental factors into its business by adopting strategies of resource conservation and
environmental protection. Our business has complied with the relevant laws and regulations of the place where we
operate and of environmental protection. The Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China ({#
= AR A TEIRE R # %)) states that the Group has the obligation to protect the environment, and enterprises
should prevent and reduce environmental pollution and ecological damage. The Group strictly abides by the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China ({#F #E A R XM E R HR#E L)), the Energy
Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of China (/% A & £ F1 B &) 49 828 %)), the Atmospheric Pollution
Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China (/% AR FEXME KX F5487%) and the
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes of the People’s Republic of China ({(FF #£ AR
FAN B [ B8 RE D)5 2R BB JAVA)), which have a significant impact on the Company’s operations. The Group
has firmly promoted the construction of ecological civilization and integrated the concept of green development
into the Company’s development. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not receive any cases of violation of
environmental protection laws and regulations.

We have looked into directional objectives regarding the environment. We will review and examine the
implementation progress of various environmental protection objectives and measures, monitor various emission
sources and identify more opportunities for energy conservation and emission reduction, as well as establish
relevant policies to ensure the proper use of resources with an aim to reduce environmental footprint and clarify
our work focus and direction.

6.1 Emissions Reduction

The core business of the Group does not directly generate significant amounts of exhaust gases and GHG
emissions. Major emissions of the Group during its daily operations are GHGs, which derive from office
electricity utilization and vehicles of the Company. We proactively operate in a low-carbon manner to
minimise our carbon footprint in the course of operation to protect the environment and save natural
resources in a more effective way. Our business activities also have no significant impact on the environment
and natural resources.

The Group complies with national environmental laws and regulations and conducts statistics on GHG
emission on an annual basis. According to the “Greenhouse Gas Protocol” ((REREBEHRTE))
formulated by the World Resources Institute and World Business Council for Sustainable Development and
the ISO14064-1 Standard set by International Organization for Standardization, we conducted GHG
inventory for the offices of the Group in Shenzhen, PRC, Chongging, PRC and the US as well as the factory
in Dongguan.
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During the Reporting Period, the GHG emissions are summarised below:

GHG emissions Performance

GHG emissions*

Direct GHG emissions (Scopes 1) tonnes of CO.e 42.47
Indirect GHG emissions (Scopes 2) tonnes of CO.e 1,155.59
Total GHG emissions (Scopes 1 and 2) tonnes of COe 1,198.06

GHG emissions intensity

GHG emissions per square meter tonnes of CO.e/m?

(Scopes 1 and 2) 0.03
GHG emissions per employee tonnes of CO,e/employee

(Scopes 1 and 2) 0.77

Scope 1: GHG emissions from all sources owned and controlled by the Group, including fuel consumption
of the Group’s vehicles.

Scope 2: GHG emissions caused by power generation, heating and cooling or steam purchased by the
Group, including the use of electricity during the Group’s operations.

Apart from GHG emissions, the types and data of emissions generated by the vehicles are as follows:

Type of emissions® Unit 2023
Nitrogen oxides (NOy) kg 14.69
Sulfur dioxide (SO,) kg 0.02
Particulate matter (PM) kg 0.82

We have reviewed environmental targets on emission, which are applicable to this year. We have actively
implemented and gradually reduced the intensity of GHG emission according to the emission reduction
measures of the Group compared to 2022. We will continue to adopt emission reduction measures to reduce

emission.
4 Calculated by reference to the emission factors from Appendix II: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs issued by the Stock Exchange and
the IPCC Fifth Assessment Report
5 Calculated by reference to the emission factors from Appendix Il: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs issued by the Stock Exchange
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6.2 Efficient Use of Natural Resources

In order to enhance environmental protection in the course of operation on offices and projects, the Group

has invested more resources in environmental protection and used energy in a manner with highest energy

efficiency and cost efficiency. We have taken different energy saving measures to improve energy efficiency
and reduce the energy consumption in the operation as shown in the table below:

Air conditioning
system

Conducting regular cleaning and maintenance of the system to maintain the
efficiency
Setting appropriate temperature of the system

Lighting system

Utilizing the natural light

Replacing equipment with those of high energy efficiency when necessary

Dividing offices into several different lighting areas where switches with independent
control are installed

Building up the habit of turning off lights before leaving the office

Posting signs containing energy saving and emission reduction responsibilities
(such as electrical switch signs)

We have reviewed the environmental targets on energy efficiency, which are also applicable to this year. We

have actively implemented according to the power saving measures of the Group. Progress on energy use

efficiency is subject to further improvement and energy saving measures will be adopted to reduce

electricity consumption intensity.

During the Reporting Period, data of our energy consumption is as follows, among which electricity

consumption was 2,172,753.58 kWh, representing a slight increase compared to the last year®.

Total waste performance Unit 2023
Total waste consumption kWh 2,172,753.58
Electricity consumption per square meter  kWh/square meter 53.95
Electricity consumption per employee kWh/employee 1,676.51

Electricity consumption was a reasonable slightly increase, due to the addition of new laboratories for use this year.
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Water Resources Management

Being aware of the crisis on global water scarcity, the Group commits to promote water conservation and
takes measures during operation to strengthen the efficient use of water. We arrange regular inspection on
water pipes and water facilities, and carry out timely repairs when leaks are discovered in order to avoid
waste of water resources. Our water consumption is mainly supported by the local municipal water supply
system and we did not have any problems in sourcing water. In order to reduce water wastage and increase
the utilization of water resources, we have taken the following measures:

° using water-saving sanitary products in offices
o cultivating a habit of turning off water taps when water is not in use

o cultivating employees to develop a habit of cherishing water resources by putting up water
conservation reminder stickers

o using water taps with infrared sensing
° conducting leakage tests for covered water pipes and check full water tanks on regular basis

We have reviewed the environmental targets on water efficiency, which are applicable to this year. We have
actively implemented and gradually reduced the intensity of water consumption according to the water
conservation measures of the Group compared to 2022. Set out below is the data of our domestic sewage
for the Reporting Period, which show an decrease in total water consumption as compared to last year.
Progress on total water consumption is subject to further improvement and water conservation measures will
be adopted to improve water efficiency.

Water consumption performance Unit 2023
Total water consumption m? 16,130
Total water consumption intensity

(per square meter) m3/m? 0.40
Total water consumption intensity

(per employee) m3/employee 12.45
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6.3 Waste Management

In response to the call of waste reduction, the Group has implemented waste reduction measures proactively
under its policy. Collection, segregation and transportation of waste was carried out by qualified waste
collection service providers. In order to optimise waste management efficiency, all waste shall be sorted and
consigned to qualified waste collection service providers or entrusted to the government for incineration or
recycling, processing and disposal (Business scope of licensed contractor: recycling of renewable
resources (including scrap metal recycling); waste gas treatment; sewage treatment; cleaning service).

The Group reduces waste generation with an aim of waste management from the source through the
following measures:

Paper management e Encouraging double-sided printing

e Monitoring the use of copiers and printers

e Encouraging the use of recycled paper

e Using smaller font size and adjusting line spacing when printing

e Electronic office system has been used in Shenzhen office to replace the
paper-based system

e Communicating through e-mails and other electronic methods

e Conducting regular paper consumption statistics to monitor the paper
consumption situation and take appropriate improvement measures

Non-hazardous e (Cleaning workers are arranged for each office of the Group to clean the office
Waste management waste generated every working day, the property management of the office
building will then handle the waste

Hazardous waste ° Using recyclable and reusable ink cartridges

management o Out-of-use computers will be handed over to recyclers for disposal
o Waste battery recycling bins have been set up in Shenzhen office
° Evaluating material consumption to avoid excessive inventory
o Reducing the use of disposable and non-recyclable products

We have reviewed the environmental targets on material conservation, which are applicable to this year. We
have actively implemented the material conservation measures and significantly reduced the use of paper
compared to 2022. Set out below is the data of the intensity of waste generation for the Reporting Period,
which show a slight increase in total non-hazardous waste as compared to last year’. However, the intensity
of non-hazardous waste remains unchanged from last year. We will adopt measures to reduce waste

emission.
Amount of non-hazardous waste generated
Total non-hazardous waste tonnes 82.07
Non-hazardous waste generated per tonnes/employee 0.06
employee
7 Due to the relocation of part of the office space and the standardisation of 5S management this year, the non-hazardous waste rose by reasonable

increase.
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6.4 Response to Climate Change

In recent years, the international community has become increasingly concerned about climate change, and
our country has also put forward commitments and targets for “carbon peaking” and “carbon neutrality”. We
will continue to minimise our impact on the environment, and we are therefore concerned about the impact
of climate change and other factors on the Group’s production and operations. During the Year, the Group
has identified potential climate risks to our business and taken effective countermeasures. We endeavoured
to assess the potential climate change risks, including transition risks and physical risks, and made long-
term considerations for the formulation of climate change risk-related actions in the future to enhance the

enterprise’s climate adaptability and business resilience.

Identified
climate risks

Potential impact

Responses to mitigate risks

Physical climate .
risk temperatures ,

Extreme high

urban flooding and
rising sea levels

Extreme weather conditions such as
typhoons may prevent normal operation
of the operating sites and affect staff
safety;

Extreme weather may lead to instability
or even disruption of the supply chain;
Damage to infrastructure and facilities;
Power outage at office location;
Maintenance cost for repairing and
repurchasing office facilities that are
damaged or even destroyed due to
extreme weather conditions will increase
the operating costs.

Conduct emergency drills on a regular
basis;

Enhance the repair and maintenance of
production equipment;

Develop service instability/disruption
contingency procedures and accelerate
disaster recovery capabilities;

Formulate contingency plans for extreme
weather, e.g. in case of persistent high
temperature, employees working
outdoors should be allowed to take a
rest in a suitable place;

Adopt energy conservation measures to
reduce energy consumption;

Conduct assessments before selecting
sites for projects to prevent development
in high-risk areas.

Transition climate ¢  Policy and

risk regulatory risk

Potential penalty for non-compliance

Track the latest laws and regulations on
climate change and integrate them into
internal policies.

o Market risk

Rising raw material costs;
Higher requirements from customers on
the effectiveness of green design.

Continuously focus on the market
demand for energy saving materials and
meet the needs of consumers in a timely
manner.

*  Reputation risk

Corporate reputation will be adversely
affected by poor performance in the
areas of climate change and
sustainability;

Disrupting existing cooperation
arrangements or weakening the ability to
attract new partners;

Loss of competitive advantage cover
competitors with better sustainable
performance.

Actively respond to the country'’s call for
“carbon peaking” and “carbon
neutrality” and actively communicate
with stakeholders on the sustainable
development measures that have been
implemented;

A public disclosure of the Company’s
efforts in GHC emissions data and low-
carbon operations in ESG report to
actively maintain its corporate image.
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HAPPY SOCIETY

We never forget to contribute to the society in our course of development, continue to fulfill our social responsibility
actively and take practical actions to help build a harmonious society.

During the Reporting Period, we developed a special edition of the Levoit Core 400S with the RED logo and
colours. 3% of the purchase price of this product will be donated to the Global Fund to fight AIDS and Crisis
Pneumonia with RED, with a minimum guaranteed donation of USD$200,000. The donation will strengthen
healthcare systems, support equitable access to HIV testing and treatment, and help save lives.
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APPENDIX I: SUMMARY OF SUSTAINABILITY DATA

Environmental Scope® Unit 2023
Types of Emission from Vehicle

NOx kg 14.69
SOx kg 0.02
PM kg 0.82
GHG emissions

Direct GHG emissions (Scopes 1) tonnes of CO.e 42.47
Indirect GHG emissions (Scopes 2) tonnes of CO.e 1,155.59
Total GHG emissions (Scopes 1 and 2) tonnes of COe 1,198.06
GHG emissions intensity

GHG emissions per square meter tonnes of CO,e/m?

(Scopes 1 and 2) 0.03
GHG emissions per employee (Scopes 1 and 2)  tonnes of CO,e/employee 0.77
Energy consumption
Total electricity consumption kWh 2,172,753.58
Electricity consumption per square meter KWh/m? 53.95
Electricity consumption per employee kWh/employee 1,676.51
Fuel consumption of vehicles gallon 100.00
Water consumption
Total water consumption m?® 16,130.00
Water consumption per square meter m®m? 0.40
Water consumption per employee m*/employee 12.45
Production of hazardous waste
Battery piece 200
Computer piece 254
Waste cartridge, waste toner cartridge piece 20
Production of non-hazardous waste
Total production of non-hazardous waste tonnes 82.07
Non-hazardous waste consumed per employee tonnes/employee 0.06
Paper consumption
Total paper consumption kg 1,680.63
Paper consumption per employee kg/employee 1.30
Total consumption of packaging materials
Carton® kg 2,008,183.60
Packaging paper™ kg 60,626.77
Instruction manual, pearl cotton, warranty card,

sealing stickers, sound-deadening cotton kg 27,628.43

8 KPI of environmental aspects includes: offices in Shenzhen, PRC, Chongging, PRC and the US, as well as facilities in Dongguan China.
9 The use of cartons is mainly for the packaging of Dongguan Zhilun’s products. As its sales volume doubled during the year, the increase in the use

of cartons for product packaging was reasonable.

10 Packaging paper is mainly used for Dongguan Zhilun’s products. The use of Packaging paper has risen reasonably due to a doubling of the sales
volume of the products in the current year and a change in the packaging scheme to increase the thickness of the packaging in order to ensure

the quality of the products in transit.
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Social Scope

Total employees

Total employees (by gender)

Female employees

Male employees

Total employees (by type of employees)
Full-time junior employees

Full-time middle management

Full-time senior management

Total employees (by age group)

Aged below 30

Aged between 30-50

Aged above 50

Total employees (by region)

Total employees in China

Total employees in the United States
Total employees in other region
Turnover rate

Total employee turnover rate

Employee turnover rate'' (by gender)
Female employees

Male employees

Employee turnover rate (by age group)
Aged below 30

Aged between 30-50

Aged above 50

Employee turnover rate (by region)
Employee turnover rate in China
Employee turnover rate in the United States
Employee turnover rate in Other regions
Percentage of employees trained (by gender)
Female employees

Male employees

Calculation: Number of employees left in the category/total number of employees in the category

Units

No.

No.
No.

No.
No.

No

No.

No

No.
No.
No.

%

%
%

%
%
%

%
%
%

%
%

of people

of people
of people

of people
of people

. of people

of people

. of people
No.

of people

of people
of people
of people

2023

1,296

620
676

1,242
39
15

582
683
31

1,164
125

43.29%

40.16%
46.15%

54.12%
35.14%
19.35%

43.38%
43.20%
28.57%

42.45%
57.55%
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Social Scope Units 2023

Percentage of employees trained (by type of employees)

Full-time junior employees % 95.35%
Full-time middle management % 2.32%
Full-time senior management % 1.55%

Average training hours (by gender)
Female employees Hour 6.36
Male employees Hour 9.99

Average training hours (by type of employees)

Full-time junior employees Hour 8.15
Full-time middle management Hour 14.38
Full-time senior management Hour 0.80
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REPORTING GUIDE OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE

Indicator Related Chapter

A. Environmental

A1: Emissions

General
Disclosure

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance
with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water
and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.

6. Green Development

A1

The types of emissions and respective emissions
data.

6.4 Emission Reduction
Appendix I: Summary of
Sustainability

Al12

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2)
greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

6.1 Emission Reduction
Appendix I: Summary of
Sustainability

A13

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

6.3 Waste Management
Appendix I: Summary of
Sustainability

A1.4

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

6.3 Waste Management
Appendix |: Summary of
Sustainability

A15

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

6. Green Development
6.1 Emission Reduction

A1.6

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

6. Green Development
6.3 Waste Management
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Indicator Related Chapter

A2: General
Use of Resources Disclosure

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including
energy, water and other raw materials.

6.2 Efficient Use of Natural
Resources

A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type 6.2 Efficient Use of Natural
(e.qg. electricity, gas or ail) in total (kWh in'000s) and Resources
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per Appendix |: Summary of
facility). Sustainability Data
A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per 6.2 Efficient Use of Natural
unit of production volume, per facility). Resources
Appendix |: Summary of
Sustainability Data
A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set 6. Green Development
and steps taken to achieve them. 6.2 Efficient Use of Natural
Resources
A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing 6. Green Development
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) 6.2 Efficient Use of Natural
set and steps taken to achieve them. Resources
A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in 6.3 Waste Management
tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit Appendix |: Summary of
produced. Sustainability Data
A3: General Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact 6. Green Development
The Environment Disclosure on the environment and natural resources.
and Natural
Resources
A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on 6. Green Development
the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.
A4: General Policies on identification and mitigation of significant 6.4 Climate Change Strategy

Climate Change Disclosure

climate-related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer.

A4 A

Description of the significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact,
the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

6.4 Climate Change Strategy
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Indicator Related Chapter

B. Social
B1: General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance 5.1 Equal Employment
Employment Disclosure  with relevant laws and regulations that have a 5.2 Employee Care
significant impact on the issuer relating to 5.3 Employee Communication
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.
B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for 5.1 Equal Employment
example, full- or part-time), age group and Appendix |: Summary of
geographical region. Sustainability Data
B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and Appendix |: Summary of
geographical region. Sustainability Data
B2: General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance 5.5 Health and Safety of
Health and Disclosure  with relevant laws and regulations that have a Employees
Safety significant impact on the issuer relating to providing

a safe working environment and protecting

employees from occupational hazards.

B2.1 Number and rate of work related fatalities occurred 5.5 Health and Safety of
in each of the past three years including the Employees
reporting year. Appendix I: Summary of

Sustainability Data

B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Appendix I: Summary of

Sustainability Data

B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety 5.5 Health and Safety of
measures adopted, how they are implemented and Employees
monitored.

B3: General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and 5.4 Employee Growth and
Development Disclosure  skills for discharging duties at work. Description of Development
and training training activities.

B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender 5.4 Employee Growth and
and employee category (such as senior Development
management, middle management, etc.). Appendix I: Summary of

Sustainability Data

B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee 5.4 Employee Growth and

by gender and employee category.

Development
Appendix I: Summary of
Sustainability Data
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Indicator Related Chapter

B4: B4 Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance 5.1 Equal Employment
Labour with relevant laws and regulations that have a
Standards significant impact on the issuer relating to
preventing child and forced labour.
B4.1 Description of measures to review employment 5.1 Equal Employment
practices to avoid child and forced labour.
B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such 5.1 Equal Employment
practices when discovered.
B5: General Policies on managing environmental and social risks 3.3 Supply Chain Management
Supply Chain Disclosure  of the supply chain.
Management
B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. 3.3 Supply Chain Management
B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging 3.3 Supply Chain Management
suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices
are being implemented, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
B5.3 Description of practices used to identify 3.3 Supply Chain Management
environmental and social risks along the supply
chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.
B5.4 Description of practices used to promote 3.3 Supply Chain Management
environmentally preferable products and services
when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
B6: General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance 3.1 Product Quality
Product Disclosure  with relevant laws and regulations that have a Management
Responsibility significant impact on the issuer relating to health
and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters relating to products and services provided
and methods of redress.
B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped 3.1 Product Quality
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons. Management
B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints 3.2 Quality Customer Service
received and how they are dealt with.
B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and 4.2 Protecting Intellectual
protecting intellectual property rights. Property Rights
B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall 3.1 Product Quality
procedures. Management
B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and 4.1 Protecting Information

privacy policies, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

Security
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Indicator Related Chapter

B7: General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance 4.3 Business Ethics and Anti-
Anti-corruption  Disclosure with relevant laws and regulations that have Corruption
significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.
B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt 4.3 Business Ethics and Anti-
practices brought against the issuer or its Corruption
employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.
B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle- 4.3 Business Ethics and Anti-
blowing procedures, and how they are implemented Corruption
and monitored.
B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to 4.3 Business Ethics and Anti-
directors and staff. Corruption
B8: General Policies on community engagement to understand 7. Happy Society
Community Disclosure the needs of the communities where the issuer
Investment operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities interests.
B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (such as education, 7. Happy Society
environment issues, labour needs, health, culture,
sports).
B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. 7. Happy Society
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of the Company for the year ended December 31,
2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintenance of good corporate governance practices and procedures. The principle of
the Company’s corporate governance is to promote effective internal control measures, uphold a high standard of
ethics, transparency, responsibility and integrity in all aspects of business, to ensure that its business and operations
are conducted in accordance with applicable laws and regulations and to enhance the transparency and accountability
of the Board to all Shareholders. The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the principles and code
provisions as set out in the CG Code.

Save for compliance with C.2.1 of the CG Code as described below, the Company had complied with all applicable
code provisions set out in the CG Code during the Reporting Period.

Under the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairperson and chief executive officer should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. The Company does not have a separate chairperson and chief
executive officer and Ms. Yang Lin currently performs these two roles concurrently.

The Board believes that vesting the roles of both the chairperson and chief executive officer in the same person has the
benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group for more effective and efficient overall strategic planning for
the Group. The Board considers that the balance of power and authority within the Group will not be impaired by the
present arrangement and the current structure will enable the Company to make and implement decisions more
promptly and effectively. The Board will from time to time review and consider splitting the roles of chairperson of the
Board and the chief executive officer of the Company to ensure appropriate and timely arrangements are in place to
meet changing circumstances.

CULTURE

Since its establishment in the United States in 2011, the Company has established multiple branches across the globe,
including but not limited to Shenzhen, Chongging, Hong Kong, Macau, Germany and Japan, with nearly 1,300
employees collectively. The Company has been adhering to its mission and business philosophy, “Build a Better
Living”, since its establishment, and with “customer orientation, pursuit of excellence, focus and persistence,
collaborative innovation” as its values, and with “constant innovation, synchronized service of ‘software, hardware, and
content’, providing to families around the world with personalized and intelligent way of healthy life through deep
interconnection with users” as its vision, aiming “globalized channel, interaction-enabled products, deep connection,
and digitization” as its target for strategic development, the Company has developed rapidly in the growing market of
smart appliances for home and create a one-stop smart life platform for users.
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THE BOARD

Composition of the Board

The Board currently consists of seven Directors comprising three executive Directors, namely Ms. Yang Lin (chairperson),
Mr. Yang Hai and Mr. Chen Zhaojun, one non-executive Director, namely Mr. Yang Yuzheng, and three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Fong Wo, Felix, Mr. Gu Jiong and Mr. Tan Wen.

Responsibilities and Function

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic
decisions and performance, and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by directing and
supervising its affairs.

The functions and duties of the Board include, but are not limited to, convening the general meetings, reporting on the
performance of the Board’s work at the general meetings, implementing the resolutions passed at the general meetings,
determining business and investment plans, formulating annual financial budget and final accounts, formulating the
Company’s proposals for profit distributions, and formulating proposals for increase or reduction of capital as well as
exercising other powers, functions and duties as conformed by the Articles.

The Board has assigned the powers and responsibilities of the Group’s daily operations, management and
administration to the senior management of the Company. The Board regularly reviews the functions and powers
delegated to ensure that the assignments are still appropriate. To oversee specific aspects of the Company’s affairs,
the Board has established three board committees, including the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee. The Board has assigned responsibilities to the Board committees in accordance with their
respective scopes of powers and functions.

CHAIRPERSON AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairperson and chief executive officer should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. The Company did not have a separate chairperson and chief
executive officer and Ms. Yang Lin currently performs these two roles concurrently.

The Board believes that vesting the roles of both the chairperson and chief executive officer in the same person has the
benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group for more effective and efficient overall strategic planning for
the Group. The Board considers that the balance of power and authority within the Group will not be impaired by the
present arrangement and the current structure will enable the Company to make and implement decisions more
promptly and effectively. The Board will from time to time review and consider splitting the roles of chairperson of the
Board and the chief executive officer of the Company to ensure appropriate and timely arrangements are in place to
meet changing circumstances.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the Reporting Period, the Company had three independent non-executive Directors, in compliance with the
Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, with at least one of them possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise. The number of independent non-executive
Directors accounts for more than one-third of the number of the Board members.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code stipulates that every director, including those appointed for a specific term,
should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. The term of appointment of non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors is for a term of three years.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of Directors are set out in the Articles of
Association.

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles, at each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once
every three years. Accordingly, Ms. Yang Lin, Mr. Yang Yuzheng and Mr. Fong Wo, Felix shall be retired from office by
rotation at the 2024 AGM, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE REGARDING SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, which applies to all Directors and relevant employees of the Company who are likely
to possess inside information in relation to the Company or its securities due to his/her office or employment.

The Company has made specific enquiries with each Director, and each of them confirmed that he/she had complied
with all required standards under the Model Code during the Reporting Period.

TRAINING AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed director shall be provided with necessary induction and information to ensure that he/she has a
proper understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her responsibilities under the Listing
Rules, relevant laws, rules and regulations. The Directors are also provided with regular updates on the Company’s
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.
Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. The company secretary of the Company has from time to time updated and provided written training
materials relating to the roles, functions and duties of a director.
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According to records provided by the Directors, a summary of training received by the Directors during the Reporting
Period is as follows:

Attending Reading

training regulatory
Name of Director session materials

Executive Directors

Ms. Yang Lin v v
Mr. Yang Hai v v
Mr. Chen Zhaojun v 4

Non-executive Director
Mr. Yang Yuzheng v v

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fong Wo, Felix v v
Mr. Gu Jiong v v
Mr. Tan Wen v v

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial statements of the Company for the Reporting
Period.

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial statements of the Company with a view to
ensuring that such financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and relevant
statutory and regulatory requirements and applicable accounting standards are complied with.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

BOARD MEETINGS, BOARD COMMITTEES MEETINGS AND GENERAL
MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly and at least four times a year. Notice of at least 14 days in advance for the regular Board
meeting is given, and the agenda together with Board papers are sent to the Directors in a timely manner before the
intended date of Board meeting. During the Reporting Period, four regular Board meetings were held.

The Chairman and the independent non-executive Directors met in August 2023 without the presence of any other
executive Directors and the management.

For other Board and Board committee meetings, reasonable notices were generally given. Minutes of meetings are kept
by the company secretary with copies circulated to all Directors or Board committee members for information and
records within a reasonable time after the date of the meeting. Directors who have conflicts of interest in a resolution are
required to abstain from voting.
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Attendance at Meetings

The following table shows the attendance of the Directors at the Board meeting, Board committees meeting and general
meetings held during the Reporting Period:

Number of Meetings Attended/Held

Regular Annual general
Board Audit Remuneration Nomination meeting held
Name of Directors Meetings Committee Committee = Committee on May 30, 2023

Executive Directors

Ms. Yang Lin 4/4 — 1/1 11 1/1
Mr. Yang Hai 4/4 — 11 11 1/1
Mr. Chen Zhaojun 4/4 — _ _ 11

Non-executive Director
Mr. Yang Yuzheng 4/4 _ _ _ 11

Independent non-executive

Directors
Mr. Fong Wo, Felix 4/4 4/4 11 11 11
Mr. Gu Jiong 4/4 4/4 11 11 1/1
Mr. Tan Wen 4/4 4/4 171 11 11
BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has established three Board committees in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations and the
corporate governance practice under the Listing Rules, including the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established by the Company pursuant to a resolution of the Board on December 1, 2020 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and dismissal of the external auditor, monitor and review the
financial statements and information and oversee the financial reporting system, risk management (including
environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) risk management) and internal control systems of the Company. The
members of the Audit Committee are Mr. Gu Jiong, Mr. Fong Wo, Felix and Mr. Tan Wen, all of whom are independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. Gu Jiong is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee has discussed with the external auditor of the Company, Ernst & Young, and reviewed the annual
and interim financial results and report, major internal audit issues, re-appointment of external auditors, and the
effectiveness of the risk management (including ESG risk management) and internal control systems of the Group.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the remuneration of the auditor for the year ended December 31, 2023 and has
recommended the Board to re-appoint Ernst & Young as the auditor of the Company for the year ending December 31,
2024, subject to approval by the Shareholders at the 2024 AGM.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established by the Company pursuant to a resolution of the Board on December 1,
2020 with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to make recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and structure for all Directors
and senior management of the Group, make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management and make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors and to ensure that none of the Directors determine their own remuneration, and review/approve
matters relating to the Share Option Scheme and the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme as set out in Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules. The members of the Remuneration Committee are Mr. Fong Wo, Felix, Mr. Gu Jiong, Mr. Tan Wen, Ms.
Yang Lin and Mr. Yang Hai. Mr. Fong Wo, Felix is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

Pursuant to the code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the following table sets forth the remuneration of the members of
senior management categorized by remuneration group for the year ended December 31, 2023:

Number of

Band Individuals
HK$ 4,000,000 to HK$5,000,000 3
3

Further details of the Directors’ emoluments and the top five highest paid employees required to be disclosed under
Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the financial statements.

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration
policy and structure for Directors and senior management and reviewed the remuneration of Directors and senior
management and other matters for the year ended December 31, 2023. Regular reviews are conducted on Directors’
remuneration package with reference to companies with comparable business or scale and appropriate adjustments
are proposed. The remuneration of the senior management is determined in respect of their performance to ensure that
it is equitable and in accordance with the established guidelines.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established by the Company pursuant to a resolution of the Board on December 1,
2020 with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee
are to review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board at least annually and make recommendation to
the Board regarding candidates to fill vacancies on the Board and/or in senior management. The members of the
Nomination Committee are Ms. Yang Lin, Mr. Gu Jiong, Mr. Fong Wo, Felix, Mr. Tan Wen and Mr. Yang Hai. Ms. Yang
Lin is the chairperson of the Nomination Committee.
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Nomination Policy

The Company has established a nomination policy which sets out the selection criteria and nomination procedures for

the appointment of Directors. The selection criteria used as reference by the Nomination Committee in assessing the

suitability of a proposed candidate include but not limited to:

(1)

(2

character and integrity;

qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy;

accomplishment and experience business from time to time conducted, engaged in or invested in by any member
of the Group;

commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest;

requirement for the Board to have independent directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the
candidates would be considered independent with reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing
Rules;

the board diversity policy and any measurable objectives adopted by the Nomination Committee for achieving
diversity on the Board; and

such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business.

The nomination procedure is as follows:

° for filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall make recommendations for the Board’s
consideration and approval. For proposing candidates to stand for election at a general meeting, the
Nomination Committee shall make nominations to the Board for its consideration and recommendation.

° the Nomination Committee shall, upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based on the
selection criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.

° if the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the Nomination Committee shall rank them by order
of preference based on the needs of the Company and reference check of each candidate (where
applicable).

° the Nomination Committee shall then recommend to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship. The
Board shall have the ultimate responsibility for selection and appointment of Directors.

o for any person that is nominated by a Shareholder for election as a director at the general meeting of the
Company pursuant to its constitutional documents, the Nomination Committee shall evaluate such candidate
based on the selection criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship and where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed election of director at the general meeting.

Vesync Co., Ltd
Annual Report 2023



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy, the structure, size and composition of the
Board, assessed the independence of independent non-executive Directors, considered the Director Nomination
Policy and made recommendation to the Board on the re-election of the retiring Directors and the appointment of
new Director.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out the approach to achieve and maintain an appropriate
balance of skills, experience and diversity perspectives of the Board that are relevant to the business growth. With a
view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level
as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development. In
determining the Board'’s composition, board diversity has been considered from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Chaired by the founder of the Group, Ms. Yang Lin, the Board has achieved gender diversity since Listing. Among the
workforce, the gender ratio (including senior management) is 676 male employees to 620 female employees.

The followings are the measureable objectives set up by the Company for achieving gender diversity and any mitigating
factors or circumstances which make achieving gender diversity across the workforce (including senior management)
more challenging or less relevant:

° The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually any applicable measurable objectives for
implementing diversity on the Board and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

° Selection of Board candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board.

Board Independence Mechanism

The Company recognises that Board independence is pivotal in good corporate governance and Board effectiveness.
The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent views and input from any Director of the Company are
conveyed to the Board for enhancing an objective and effective decision making.

The governance framework and the following mechanisms are reviewed annually by Audit Committee as delegated by
the Board, to ensure their effectiveness:

1. Three out of the seven Directors are independent non-executive Directors, which meets the requirements of the
Listing Rules that the Board must have at least three independent non-executive Directors and must appoint
independent non-executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board.
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2.  The Nomination Committee will assess the independence of a candidate who is nominated to be a new
independent non-executive Director and the contribution to the diversity of the Board according to the board
diversity policy adopted by the Company from time to time before appointment and also the continued
independence of existing independent non-executive Directors and their time commitments annually. On an
annual basis, all independent non-executive Directors are required to confirm in writing their compliance of
independence requirements pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and to disclose the number and nature of
offices held by them in public companies or organisations and other significant commitments.

3.  External independent professional advice is available as and when required by individual Directors.

4. All Directors are encouraged to express freely their independent views and constructive challenges during the
Board/Board Committee meetings.

5. No equity-based remuneration with performance-related elements will be granted to independent non-executive
Directors.

6. A Director (including independent non-executive Director) who has a material interest in a contract, arrangement
or other proposal shall not vote or be counted in the quorum on any Board resolution approving the same.

7. The chairperson of the Board meets with independent non-executive Directors annually without the presence of
the executive Director and non-executive Directors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Audit Committee is responsible for performing the duties on corporate governance functions set out below:
° to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;
° to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of directors and senior management;

° to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

° to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and

° to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, Directors’ and senior
management’s training and continuing professional development, the Company’s policies and practices in complying
with legal and regulatory requirements, compliance with the Model Code, and the Company’s compliance with the
Code and its disclosure in the corporate governance report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Zhang Xiao was appointed as the company secretary of the Company on May 27, 2020.

Ms. Zhang is an assistant vice president of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited, a professional
services provider specializing in corporate services, and has over nine years of experience in the corporate secretarial
field. Ms. Zhang has been admitted as an associate member of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
and The Chartered Governance Institute in 2019.

Ms. Zhang obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Computer Science from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2010 and
a Master’'s Degree in Corporate Governance from Hong Kong Metropolitan University in 2018.

Mr. Chen Zhaojun, the executive Director and chief financial officer of the Company, is the primary contact of Ms. Zhang
at the Company. All Directors have access to the advice and services of Ms. Zhang to ensure that board procedures,
and all applicable law, rules and regulations, are followed. During the Reporting Period, Ms. Zhang has taken more than
15 hours of relevant professional training according to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remunerations paid or payable to the external auditor of the Company in respect of audit and non-audit services
provided to the Group for the Reporting Period are set out as below.

Fees paid/

Type of services payable
US$'000

Audit and audit related services” 1,080
Total 1,080

Included amounts of US$500,000 represent audit and audit related services by local auditors of subsidiaries.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for the risk management and internal control systems of the Company. The Board is
committed to implementing an effective and sound risk management and internal control system to safeguard the
interest of the Shareholders and the assets of the Company.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has delegated its responsibilities (with relevant authorities) of risk management and internal control to the
Audit Committee, who oversees management in the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management and
internal control systems.
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The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness the systems of risk management and internal control for the

Reporting Period. Such review shall be conducted annually. The Board considered that the risk management and

internal control systems of the Company for the Reporting Period were effective and adequate.

Main features of the risk management and internal control systems

(i)

(i)

(iii)

The Company has established the “Basic Measures for Vesync Comprehensive Risk Management” and “Vesync
Internal Audit System”. In accordance with these policies, the Company has developed a risk management
system for the entire Vesync Group, consisting of a comprehensive risk management and internal control structure
for the Group’s internal controls, compliance, risk management (including ESG risk management) and internal
audit.

The Company has adopted the “Three Lines of Defence (lIA)” model of internal controls to establish a
comprehensive risk management and internal control system. The first line of defence consists mainly of our
business and functional departments, which are responsible for the day-to-day operations and management, and
for designing and implementing relevant controls to mitigate risks. The Company has an independent and
dedicated group risk control audit department, which is divided into an internal control department (JBZ A2 EE)
and an internal audit department (Z5HES2230) to bear the risks and responsibilities by the second and third lines

of defence, respectively.

In 2023, the Company conducted a comprehensive annual risk assessment of the Group and issued the Risk
Management and Internal Control Tracking Report for the first half of 2023 and the Annual Risk Management and
Internal Control Assessment Report of the Vesync Group, covering the identification of material risks that may
affect the Group’s performance; the assessment and evaluation of such risks based on its possible impact and
likelihood of its occurrence, as well as the development and implementation of measures, controls and
contingency plans to manage and mitigate such risks, the purpose of which are to ensure that effective
countermeasures are already in place for significant risks, and that the risks are controlled to an extent appropriate
and affordable to the Company’s business objectives.

All department heads are aware of their primary responsibility for risk management and, with the assistance of the
Group risk control audit department, have implemented appropriate and effective countermeasures to manage
and mitigate material and fundamental risks.

The management of the Group ensures that appropriate countermeasures are in place to address the significant
risks affecting the business and operations of the Group.

The process used to identify, evaluate and manage significant risks

The Company has established a risk management system consisting of relevant policies and procedures that the

Company believes are appropriate for our business operations. Pursuant to the Company’s risk management policy, the
key risk management objectives include: (i) identifying different types of risks; (ii) assessing and prioritizing the
identified risks; (iii) developing appropriate risk management strategies for different types of risks; (iv) identifying,

monitoring and managing risks and risk tolerance level; and (v) execution of risk response measures.
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Internal audit function

During the Reporting Period, the Group risk control audit department has carried out an overview on the adequacy and
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group. Based on the “Basic Measures for
Vesync Comprehensive Risk Management” and “Vesync Internal Audit System”. The Group risk control audit
department continuously review and monitor the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk control measures of every
business unit of the Group and to examine if relevant measures have been implemented. The senior executives of the
internal audit function attended the Audit Committee meeting to explain the results of the internal audit and responded
to the questions of the members of the Audit Committee. The Company considers its risk management and internal
control systems effective and adequate.

Handling and dissemination of inside information

The Group regulates the handling and dissemination of inside information according to the inside information policy of
the Company and the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and Future
Commission in June 2012 to ensure inside information remains confidential until the disclosure of such information is
appropriately approved, and the dissemination of such information is efficiently and consistently made. The Company
regularly reminds the Directors and employees about due compliance with all policies regarding the inside information.
Also, the Company keeps Directors, senior management and employees appraised of the latest regulatory updates.
The Company shall prepare or update appropriate guidelines or policies to ensure the compliance with regulatory
requirements.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company encourages the Shareholders to attend the general meetings of the Company.

The Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting
(“EGM”) and for Putting Forward Proposals at General Meeting

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association, any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If
within twenty-one days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the Shareholder(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the Shareholder(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Shareholder(s) by the Company.

The above written requisition shall be addressed to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at 40th
Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre, No. 248 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the Cayman Islands Companies Act for Shareholders to move
new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the Company to convene
a general meeting in accordance with the above procedures for Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general
meeting.
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Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries to the Board

Should any questions as to the Company arise, Shareholders and investors may contact the Company. The contact
details of the Company are as follows:

Vesync Co., Ltd
Address: 40th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre, No. 248 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
Email: ir@vesync.com

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Amendments to Constitutional Documents

The Company has adopted the second amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of the
Company by way of a special resolution passed on May 30, 2023 and effective on the same date, in order to, in line with
the latest legal and regulatory requirements including the core shareholder protection standards set out in Appendix A1l
to the Listing Rules which took effect on January 1, 2022. For details, please refer to the announcement dated March
29, 2023 and the circular dated April 27, 2023 of the Company.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company has adopted a shareholders’ communications policy which aims to set out the provisions with the
objective of ensuring the Shareholders are provided with equal and timely access to information about the Company, in
order to enable the Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner and to allow them to engage actively
with the Company.

The Board will maintain an on-going dialogue with the Shareholders and will review the policy regularly to ensure its
effectiveness. Information will be communicated to the Shareholders through the Company’s financial reports, annual
general meetings and other general meetings that may be convened, as well as all the disclosures submitted to the
Stock Exchange. Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s information to the extent such
information is publicly available.

As disclosed in the section headed “Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries to the Board” in this annual
report, designated contacts, email addresses and enquiry telephone number of the Company are provided to
Shareholders in order to enable them to make any query in respect of the Company.

Having considered the various existing channels of communication and the feedbacks from the Shareholders, investors
and analysts, the Board considers that the Shareholders’ communication policy has been properly implemented and
effective during the Reporting Period.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Ernst & Young RXETHENERKFT Tel &% : +852 2846 9888

27/F, One Taikoo Place BEBHEHREBI79 Fax {8 H.: +852 2868 4432
§* 979 King's Road Koih— 2748 ey.com

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of Vesync Co., Ltd
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Vesync Co., Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 113 to 200, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfiled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in
that context.
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We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance
of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Variable consideration for promotion rebates

The Group primarily sells its products to customers
through retailers such as Amazon and sells a relatively
small portion of its products to consumers through
online platforms. The Group recognises revenue from
the sale of a product at the point in time when control
of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally
on the receipt of product or on delivery of the product
according to the delivery term.

The Group provides promotion rebates to certain
retailers. These arrangements result in deductions to
gross revenue and give rise to variable considerations.

The Group uses the expected value method to
estimate the amount of promotion rebates to which
retailers are entitled, and such estimation requires
management’s significant judgement and estimation in
determining an appropriate expected promotion
rebate percentage based on the Group’s marketing
strategy, promotion plans, historical promotion rebates
and actual subsequent promotion activities of each
type of products.

The Group’s disclosures about estimating variable
consideration for promotion rebates are included in
notes 2.4 and 3 to the financial statements.

Vesync Co., Ltd
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Our audit procedures included but not limited to the
following:

We reviewed the key terms of major contracts with
customers to test the terms and conditions related to
promotion rebates;

We evaluated management’s estimates on the expected
promotion rebates by comparing the Group’s promotion
plans, historical promotion rebates and actual subsequent
promotion activities; and

We also reviewed the calculation of the expected
promotion rebates and the deduction from revenue and
recognition of refund liabilities.



Key audit matter

Impairment of inventories

As at 31 December 2023, the net carrying value of
inventories amounted to US$79,848,000, netting off a
provision for impairment of US$8,457,000, representing
14% of the Group’s total assets.

The Group’s inventories are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value which requires management’s
significant estimation of the net realisable value of the
inventories based on the historical experience, current
market condition, subsequent market trend, expected
selling prices, estimated costs to sell and judgements
in determining the appropriate level of inventory
provisions against identified surplus or obsolete items
based on ageing, product lifecycle, customer
demands, future market trend and marketing
strategies.

The Group’s disclosures about impairment of
inventories are included in notes 2.4 and 3 to the
financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our audit procedures included but not limited to the
following:

We evaluated the Group’s inventory provision policy by
discussing with management to obtain an understanding
of the assumptions applied in estimating inventory
provisions;

We reviewed historical inventory consumption information
and tested, on a sampling basis, the ageing of inventory
by checking the purchase dates recorded in the inventory
ageing report against suppliers’ invoices;

We test checked inventories movement and inquired
management’s overview of potential market trend and the
Group’s product marketing strategy to assess the
condition and indicators of slow-moving and obsolete
inventories and evaluated the provision for slow-moving
and obsolete inventories; and

We assessed the expected selling prices of different
products with reference to the most recent retail prices
and estimated costs to sell by reviewing the costs
incurred historically.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

Other information consists of the information included in the Company’s 2023 Annual Report other than the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. We obtained the Management Discussion and Analysis, the Report of
Directors, the Corporate Governance Report, and the Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Report of the
Annual Report, prior to the date of our auditor’'s report, and we expect to obtain the Chairperson’s Statement of the
Annual Report after the date of our auditor’s report. Management is responsible for the other information.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the
other information obtained prior to the date of the auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Lai Chee Kong.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

25 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022
Notes US$’000 US$'000

REVENUE 5 585,484 490,378
Cost of sales (311,112) (348,089)
Gross profit 274,372 142,289
Other income and gains 5 10,257 4,042
Selling and distribution expenses (99,217) (89,239)
Administrative expenses (83,089) (69,591)
(Impairment losses)/reversal of impairment losses on

financial assets, net (382) 204
Other expenses (12,833) (8,032)
Finance costs 7 (1,532) (1,691)
Share of profits and losses of:

a joint venture (80) 177

an associate (24) —
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 6 87,472 (21,841)
Income tax (expense)/credit 10 (10,042) 5,524
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 77,430 (16,317)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to profit or loss
in subsequent periods:

Share of other comprehensive loss of a joint venture (21) (1,164)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (487) (3,055)
Reclassification adjustments for a foreign operation disposed of

during the year (2) —
Net other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to

profit or loss in subsequent periods (510) (4,219)

Other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income:

Changes in fair value 251 —

Income tax effect (38) —
Net other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified to profit

or loss in subsequent periods 213 —

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR,
NET OF TAX (297) (4,219)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022
Notes US$’000 US$'000

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT 77,133 (20,536)

Profit/(loss) attributable to:

Owners of the parent 77,481 (16,276)
Non-controlling interests (51) (41)
77,430 (16,317)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:

Owners of the parent 77,184 (20,495)
Non-controlling interests (51) (41)
77,133 (20,536)

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

Basic 12 US6.92 cents US(1.44) cents

Diluted 12 US6.92 cents US(1.44) cents
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31 December 2023

2023 2022
Notes US$°000 US$'000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 13 4,475 4,557
Right-of-use assets 14(a) 7,453 10,216
Other intangible assets 15 17 207
Investment in a joint venture 16 10,851 11,215
Investment in an associate 17 60 1,000
Equity investments designated at fair value through other

comprehensive income 18 1,778 1,554
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets 21 1,023 395
Pledged deposits 23 4,833 3,991
Time deposits 23 5,735 —
Deferred tax assets 28 23,022 28,094
Total non-current assets 59,247 61,229
CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 19 79,848 114,647
Right-of-return assets — 3,216
Trade and notes receivables 20 192,082 149,217
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets 21 18,420 26,225
Tax recoverable 321 10
Derivative financial assets 22 128 —
Pledged deposits 23 78,028 9,149
Time deposits 23 32,752 —
Cash and cash equivalents 23 104,308 93,601
Total current assets 505,887 396,065
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and notes payables 24 113,112 60,751
Other payables and accruals 25 59,558 39,078
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 26 29,584 8,495
Provision 27 16,604 49,010
Lease liabilities 14(b) 3,532 4,128
Tax payable 5,644 5,561
Derivative financial liabilities 22 214 1,229
Total current liabilities 228,248 168,252
NET CURRENT ASSETS 277,639 227,813
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 336,886 289,042
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31 December 2023

2023 2022
Notes US$°000 US$'000

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 336,886 289,042

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Interest-bearing bank borrowings 26 219 741

Lease liabilities 14(b) 4,984 7,308

Provision 27 4,167 3,536

Total non-current liabilities 9,370 11,585

Net assets 327,516 277,457

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners of the parent

Share capital 29 1,500 1,500

Treasury shares (7,856) —

Share premium 172,273 186,955

Reserves 31 161,599 89,043
327,516 277,498

Non-controlling interests = (41)

Total equity 327,516 277,457

Yang Lin Chen Zhaojun
Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year ended 31 December 2023

Attributable to owners of the parent

Shares
held for Share
share award and Statutory Exchange Non-
Share Share Treasury award Other option  surplus fluctuation Retained controlling Total
capital premium  shares scheme* reserve* reserve* reserve*  reserve*  profits* Total interest  Equity
US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$'000 USS$'000  US$'000 USS$'000 USS$000 US$'000  US$000
(note 29)  (note 29) (note 29) (note 31) (note 31)
At 1 January 2023 1,500 186,955 — 43) (2102 5,590 2,844 (1,557) 84311 277,498 (41) 277,457
Profit for the year = = = = = = = — 77481 77,481 (51) 77,430
Other comprehensive loss for
the year:
Share of equity interest from
ajoint venture - - - - - - - (21) - (21) — (21)

Changes in fair value of

equity investments at fair

value through other

comprehensive income,

net of tax - - - - - - - 213 - 213 - 213
Reclassification adjustments

for a foreign operation

disposed of during the
year - - - - - - - @ - @ - @
Exchange differences on
translation of foreign
operations - - - - - - - (487) - (487) - (487)
Total comprehensive income for
the year - - - - - - - (207) 77,481 77,184 (51) 77,133
Shares repurchased - - (7,856) - - - - - - (7,856) - (7,856)
Shares purchased —  (14,679) - (38) - - - - —  (14717) —  (14717)
Equity-settled share award and
option arrangement — — — — — 3,407 — — — 3,407 — 3,407
Equity-settled share awards
vested - (3) - 3 - - - - - - - -
Interim 2023 dividend - - - - - - - - (8,000)  (8,000) - (8,000)
Disposal of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - 92 92
At 31 December 2023 1,500 172,273 (7,856) (78)  (2,102) 8,997 2,844 (1,854) 153,792 327,516 — 327,516

Attributable to owners of the parent

Shares
held for Share
share awardand  Statutory  Exchange Non-
Share Share  Treasury award Other option  surplus fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium shares  scheme*  reserve*  reserve®  reserve* reserve*  profits* Total interest Equity
US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000  USE000  USHO00 US$000  US$000  US$000 US$000  US$000
(note 29)  (note 29) (note 29) (note 31)
At 1 January 2022 1,503 199,885 — (44)  (2,102) 1,674 2,844 2,662 108216 314,638 — 314638
Loss for the year — — — — — — — —  (16276)  (16,276) (41)  (16,317)
Other comprehensive loss
for the year:
Share of equity interest from
an associate — — — — — — — (1,164) — (1,164) — (1,164)
Exchange differences on
translation of foreign
operations — — — — — — — (3,055) — (3,055) — (3,055)
Total comprehensive income for
the year — — — — — — — (4,219)  (16,276)  (20,495) (41)  (20,536)
Shares repurchased — — (2,050) — — — — — — (2,050) — (2,050)
Equity-settled share award
and option arrangement — — — — — 3916 — — - 3916 — 3916
Equity-settled share awards
vested — — — 1 — — — — — 1 — 1
Cancellation of treasury shares (3 (2047) 2,050 — — — — — — — — —
Final 2021 dividend declared —  (10,883) — — — — — — (7629) (18,512) — (18512
At 31 December 2022 1,500 186,955 — (43) (2,102 5,590 2,844 (1557) 84311 277498 (41) 277457
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of US$161,599,000 (2022: US$89,043,000) in the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended 31 December 2023

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

2022
US$'000

Profit/(Loss) before tax 87,472 (21,841)
Adjustments for:
Finance costs 7 1,532 1,691
Interest income (3,771) (775)
Impairment/(reverse of impairment) of trade receivables, net 20 382 (204)
Impairment of an investment of an associate 916 —
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 6 412 2,028
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 13 2,609 2,172
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 14(a) 4,198 4,589
Amortisation of other intangible assets 15 218 271
Covid-19-related rent concessions from lessors — (154)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary 92 —
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment, net 195 (4)
Gain on early termination of leases, net (57) (25)
Equity-settled share award and option expense 3,407 3,916
Loan forgiveness — (928)
Loss on disposal of derivative instruments 6,511 —
Share of profits and losses of an associate 24 —
Share of profits and losses of a joint venture 80 (177)
Fair value loss, net:
— Derivative instruments — transactions not qualifying as hedges 86 1,261
Foreign exchange differences, net 1,730 (171)
106,036 (8,351)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Increase in trade and note receivables (43,247) (42,993)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, other receivables and
other assets 8,417 (4,342)
Decrease in inventories 34,387 11,872
Decrease/(increase) in right-of-return assets 3,216 (3,216)
Decrease in other non-current assets — 403
Increase in trade and notes payables 52,361 23,012
(Decrease)/increase in provision (31,775) 46,800
Increase in other payables and accruals 15,525 1,919
Increase in pledged deposits (33,612) (5,409)
Cash generated from operations 111,308 19,695
Income tax paid (5,208) (18,400)
Net cash flows from operating activities 106,100 1,295
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended 31 December 2023

2022
Note US$'000

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment (2,409) (2,961)
Purchases of other intangible assets (31) (213)
Disposal of a subsidiary (18) —
Purchase of a shareholding in an associate — (1,000)
Purchases of equity investments designated at fair value through

other comprehensive income — (1,554)
Loans to employees (1,023) —
Loan to a third party (690) —
Dividend received from a joint venture 263 —
Payments on disposal of derivative financial instruments (7,740) —
(Increase)/decrease in time deposits with original maturity of

over three months (38,400) 30,000
Increase in pledged time deposits (28,410) (2,872)
Interest received 3,230 857
Net cash flows (used in)/from investing activities (75,228) 22,257

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repurchase of shares (22,573) (2,050)
New bank loans 42,581 48,265
Repayment of bank borrowings (22,433) (71,396)
Pledged deposits for bank borrowings (3,550) 27,895
Pledged time deposits for notes payable (3,619) —
Dividend paid to shareholders (2,930) (18,943)
Principal portion of lease payments (4,291) (4,327)
Interest paid (988) (1,609)
Net cash flows used in financing activities (17,803) (22,165)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 13,069 1,387
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 93,601 96,462
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net (2,362) (4,248)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 23 104,308 93,601

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances 145,367 82,971
Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity of less than three

months when acquired — 18,026
Pledged deposits (41,059) (7,396)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the consolidated statement of

financial position and statement of cash flows 23 104,308 93,601
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The registered office of the
Company is located at the offices of Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited, with the address of Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries were
principally engaged in research and development, manufacture and sale of smart household appliances and
smart home devices. The Company’s products are manufactured in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)
and sold to customers mainly in the United States (“USA”), Canada, the United Kingdom, France, Germany,
Spain, Italy and Japan. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the ultimate controlling shareholders of the
Group are Ms. Yang Lin, Mr. Yang Yuzheng and Mr. Yang Hai.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Nominal value
of issued
ordinary/
registered
share capital

Place and date of
incorporation/ Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

Direct Indirect

registration and
place of operations

Principal activities

120

Vitasync Co., Ltd British — 100% — Investment holding

(“Vitasync BVI") Virgin Islands (“BVI")
27 February 2019

Arcsync Co., Ltd BVI — 100% — Investment holding
(“Arcsync BVI") 27 February 2019

Avidsync Co., Ltd BVI — 100% — Investment holding
(“Avidsync BVI") 26 April 2021

L&H Y Trading Inc. USA/California US$50 — 100% Investment holding
(“L&RH Y US") 16 May 2016

Vesync Corporation USA/California Us$10 — 100% Sale of products
(“Vesync US”) 1 April 2015

Vesync (Singapore) PTE. LTD. Singapore SG$2,000,000 — 100% Import and export
(“Vesync SG") 10 June 2021 trade

Etekcity Company Limited PRC/Macau MOP25,000 — 100% Import and export
(“Etekcity Macau”) 21 February 2019 trade

Ecomine Co., Ltd PRC/Hong Kong HK$13,300,000 — 100% Investment holding

(“Ecomine HK")

Vesync Co., Ltd
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: (Continued)

Nominal value
Place and date of of issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of

registration and registered equity attributable
place of operations share capital to the Company Principal activities
Direct  Indirect

Shenzhen City Chenbei PRC/ RMB30,000,000 — 100% Investment holding
Management and Chinese Mainland
Consulting Company 26 April 2019
Limited*

("WFOE”) (note (a))

Etekcity Corporation USA/California US$50 — 100% Sale of products
(“Etekcity US”) 5 December 2011

Atekcity Corporation USA/California US$10 — 100% Customs clearance
(“Atekcity US”) 3 July 2012 and declaration

Arovast Corporation USA/California Us$10 — 100% Sale of products
(“Arovast US”) 20 October 2016

Shenzhen City Chenbei PRC/ RMB28,500,000 — 100% Research,
Technology Company Chinese Mainland development and
Limited* (“Shenzhen 27 February 2013 sale of products

Chenbei”) (note (b))

Dongguan City Zhilun PRC/ RMB5,000,000 — 100% Manufacture and
Technology Company Chinese Mainland sale of products
Limited* 14 February 2017
(“Dongguan Zhilun”)

(note (b))

Chongging Xiaodao PRC/ RMB1,000,000 — 100% Provision of support
Information Technology Chinese Mainland services
Company Limited* 8 April 2015
(“Chongging Xiaodao”)

(note (b))

Etekcity Corporation Japan JPY2,000,000 — 100% Sale of products

(“Etekcity Japan”) 28 January 2019
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: (Continued)

Place and date of
incorporation/

registration and
place of operations

Nominal value
of issued
ordinary/
registered
share capital

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
Direct  Indirect

Principal activities

Etekcity GmbH Germany EUR150,000 — 100% Sale of products
(“Etekcity Germany”) 16 November 2017
Adiman B.V. Netherlands/Amsterdam ~ EUR1,000 — 100% Sale of products
(“Adiman Netherlands”) 4 January 2016
Vesync (UK) Limited Great Britain — — 100% Sale of products
(“Vesync UK”) 11 March 2021
Techvast Corporation USA/California US$500 — 100% Customs clearance
(“Techvast US”) 17 November 2022 and declaration
Notes:
(a) This entity is a wholly-foreign-owned company established under PRC law.
(b) These entities are limited liability enterprises established under PRC law.
* The English names of these entities registered in the PRC represent the best efforts made by management of the Company to directly

translate their Chinese names as they did not register any official English names.
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected

the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for derivative financial instruments and equity
investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income which have been measured at fair
value. These financial statements are presented in United States dollars (“US$”) and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023. A subsidiary is an entity
(including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. When the Company has,
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the parent
of the Group. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities,
any non-controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s
financial statements.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies
HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs that are applicable to the Group are described

below:

(a)

Vesync Co., Ltd

Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose their material accounting policy information rather
than their significant accounting policies. Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make
on the basis of those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making
Materiality Judgements provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to
accounting policy disclosures. The Group has disclosed the material accounting policy information in
note 2 to the financial statements. The amendments did not have any impact on the measurement,
recognition or presentation of any items in the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in accounting estimates and changes
in accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts in financial statements
that are subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how entities use
measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting estimates. Since the Group’s approach
and policy aligns with the amendments, the amendments had no impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction narrow the scope of the initial recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies
to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, such as leases
and decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset
(provided that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences
arising from these transactions. Since the Group has applied the amendment on the treatment of
temporary differences arising from lease from beginning, the amendments did not have any impact on
the financial position or performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures (Continued)

2.3

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs that are applicable to the Group are described
below: (Continued)

(d)

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory
temporary exception from the recognition and disclosure of deferred taxes arising from the
implementation of the Pillar Two model rules published by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development. The amendments also introduce disclosure requirements for the affected entities to
help users of the financial statements better understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two income
taxes, including the disclosure of current tax related to Pillar Two income taxes separately in the
periods when Pillar Two legislation is effective and the disclosure of known or reasonably estimable
information of their exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in periods in which the legislation is enacted or
substantively enacted but not yet in effect. The Group has applied the amendments retrospectively.
Since the Group did not fall within the scope of the Pillar Two model rules, the amendments did not
have any impact to the Group.

Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

The Group has not applied the following revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements. The Group intends to apply these revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when become

effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or

HKAS 28 Joint Venture®
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback'
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

(the “2020 Amendments”)"*

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)"*
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements'

HKFRS 7
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

AW N =

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised to align the
corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the Group is described below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10
and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA. However, the amendments are available for adoption
now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability
arising in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount of the
gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions
entered into after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what meant by a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting
period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an equity instrument would the
terms of a liability not impact its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that, among covenants
of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply on or before the
reporting date affect the classification of that liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures are
required for non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with future covenants within 12
months after the reporting period. The amendments shall be applied retrospectively with early application
permitted. An entity that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously the 2022
Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments and whether
existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on a preliminary assessment, the amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the amendments are
intended to assist users of financial statements in understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements
on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier application of the amendments is
permitted. The amendments provide certain transition reliefs regarding comparative information, quantitative
information as at the beginning of the annual reporting period and interim disclosures. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

24

Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether a currency is exchangeable into
another currency and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require disclosures of information that enable users of financial
statements to understand the impact of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted.
When applying the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative information. Any cumulative effect of
initially applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or to the cumulative amount of translation differences accumulated in a separate component of
equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Material Accounting Policies

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not less than 20% of the
equity voting rights and over which it has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control
over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income of associates and joint
ventures is included in the consolidated profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive income,
respectively. In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate or
joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its
associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the associates or joint
ventures, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included as part of the Group’s
investments in associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest
is not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity method. In all
other case, upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the
Group measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the
carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair
value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its derivative financial instruments and equity investments at fair value at the end of
each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes
place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the
most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data
are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use
of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than inventories and deferred tax assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less
costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Vesync Co., Ltd
Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g.,
a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A

reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group;
or
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(iy  the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in
the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment
are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose
are as follows:

Leasehold improvements 20%—-63%
Machinery and equipment 10%-50%
Office equipment 19%-33%
Electronic equipment 20%-48%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of
intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method
for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Trademarks and software
Trademarks and software are stated at cost less any impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows.

Trademarks 10 years
Software 1-10 years
Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the lease (that is the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The
cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful life of the assets as follows:

Office premises and warehouses 1-6.5 years
Machinery and equipment 5-10 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects
the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the
asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Vesync Co., Ltd

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend
on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by
the Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that triggers
the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of
lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g. a change to future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a
change in the assessment an option to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are presented separately in the statement of financial position.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of office
premises staff dormitory and warehouse (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of office equipment that are considered
to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash
flow characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price determined
under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in
order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income are held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned business
models are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows: (Continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity
investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income when they meet the definition of
equity under HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is
determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as
other income in profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, except when the Group
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such
gains are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment assessment.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of
the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred assets is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group
could be required to repay.

Vesync Co., Ltd
Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at
fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that
are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime
ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking information.
The Group considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and contract
assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition

but that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but that are not purchased or

originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The
Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

The Group’s Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and borrowings, payables, or as
derivatives not designated as hedging instruments.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, amounts due to directors and a related
party, interest-bearing bank borrowings and derivative financial instruments.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in
the near term. This category also includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are
not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by HKFRS 9. Separated
embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in profit or loss. The net fair value
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does not include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss are designated at
the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses on liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss, except for the gains or losses
arising from the Group’s own credit risk which are presented in other comprehensive income with no
subsequent reclassification to profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does
not include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows: (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included
in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or
expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is
treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as options for foreign currency and forward currency
contracts to hedge foreign currency risk. Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair
value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair
value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is
negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives are taken directly to profit or loss.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Derivative financial instruments (Continued)

Current versus non-current classification

Derivative instruments that are not designated as effective hedging instruments are classified as current or
non-current or separated into current and non-current portions based on an assessment of the facts and
circumstances (i.e., the underlying contracted cash flows).

° Where the Group expects to hold a derivative as an economic hedge (and does not apply hedge
accounting) for a period beyond 12 months after the end of the reporting period, the derivative is
classified as non-current (or separated into current and non-current portions) consistently with the
classification of the underlying item.

° Embedded derivatives that are not closely related to the host contract are classified consistently with
the cash flows of the host contract.

° Derivative instruments that are designated as, and are effective hedging instruments, are classified
consistently with the classification of the underlying hedged item. The derivative instruments are
separated into current portions and non-current portions only if a reliable allocation can be made.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the Company or the Group (treasury shares) are
recognised directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale,
issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out
basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and
an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that are readily convertible
into know amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past
event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided
that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a
separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is
presented in profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance
costs in profit or loss.

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the sale of certain products for general replacement of
defects occurring during the warranty period. Provisions for these assurance-type warranties granted by the
Group are initially recognised based on sales volume and past experience of the level of replacements,
discounted to their present values as appropriate. The warranty-related cost is revised annually.

The Group has present obligations which constitute onerous contracts by providing customers and
consumers free replacements to address a risk of thermal events in an extremely rare rate and limited
circumstances and customer satisfaction. The present obligation under the contract is recognised and
measured as a provision.

Income tax
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or
loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of each of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in
the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
puUrposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and joint
ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and dose not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each of the reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable
right to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it
is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to
which the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the

associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the customer with a significant benefit of
financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at the
present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for more than one
year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For a contract where the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

Sale of products

The Group primarily sells its products to customers through Amazon’s two programs, namely Seller Central
and Vendor Central, and sells a small portion of its products through other channels such as chain retailers,
other e-commerce marketplaces and its own online shopping sites. Revenue from contracts with customers
is recognised when control of the goods is transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods.

Revenue from the sale of product is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to
the customer, generally upon delivery or the receipt of product by the customer.

Some contracts for the sale of goods provide customers with rights of return or promotion rebates, giving
rise to variable consideration.

(i)  Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right to return the goods within a specified period, the
expected value method is used to estimate the goods that will not be returned because this method
best predicts the amount of variable consideration to which the Group will be entitled. The
requirements in HKFRS 15 on constraining estimates of variable consideration are applied in order to
determine the amount of variable consideration that can be included in the transaction price. For
goods that are expected to be returned, instead of revenue, a refund liability is recognised. A right-of-
return asset (and the corresponding adjustment to cost of sales) is also recognised for the right to
recover products from a customer.

(i) Promotion rebates

For the Vendor Central programme, the Group can provide the retailer promotion rebates to encourage
the retailer to do promotion for the Group’s products. The Group provides the type of promotion, the
desired start and end dates of the promotion, the products subject to the promotion, and the funding
amount. The retailer may at any time and in their discretion reject any promotion. Promotion rebates
are offset against amounts payable by the customer. To estimate the variable consideration for the
expected future discounts, the expected value method is used for contracts with more than one
product orders. The selected method that best predicts the amount of variable consideration is
primarily driven by the promotion plan and historical promotion rebates. The requirements on
constraining estimates of variable consideration are applied and a refund liability for the expected
future promotion rebates is recognised.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or
a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before being unconditionally entitled
to the consideration under the contract terms, a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration
that is conditional (other than the passage of time). Contract assets are subject to impairment assessment,
details of which are included in the accounting policies for impairment of financial assets. They are
reclassified to trade receivables when the right to the consideration becomes unconditional.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from
a customer before the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services
to the customer).

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund some or all of the consideration received (or
receivable) from a customer and is measured at the amount the Group ultimately expects it will have to
return to the customer. The Group updates its estimates of refund liabilities (and the corresponding change
in the transaction price) at the end of each reporting period.

Share-based payments

The Group operates share award and option schemes. Employees (including directors) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render services as in exchange for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date
at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a discounted cash flow
model or binomial model or the stock closing price at the grant date, further details of which are given in
note 30 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each of the year
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for
a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of
that period.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining the grant date
fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are
reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an
associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are
reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are also
service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/or service conditions have not
been met, no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied,
provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the
terms had not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is
recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification. Where an equity-settled award
is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised
for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within the
control of either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled
and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options and awards is reflected as additional share dilution in the
computation of earnings per share.

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Chinese Mainland and the United States are
required to participate in a central pension scheme operated by the local government. The subsidiaries
operating in Chinese Mainland and the United States are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e.,
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as a part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of
funds.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. Interim dividends
are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currency

The financial statements are presented in the US$, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity
in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in
the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of each of the reporting period. Differences arising
on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The
gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item
whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income on the
derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the
date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries are currencies other than the US$. As at the end of each of
the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into US$ at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are translated into US$ at the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the differences are attributable to non-controlling
interests. On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into US$ at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into US$ at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets
or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements,
apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements:

Determining the method to estimate variable consideration and assessing the constraint

Certain contracts for the sale of products include a right of return and promotion rebates that give rise to variable
consideration. In estimating the variable consideration, the Group is required to use either the expected value
method or the most likely amount method based on which method better predicts the amount of consideration to
which it will be entitled.

The Group determined that the expected value method is the appropriate method to use in estimating the variable
consideration for the sale of products with rights of return and promotion rebates, given the large number of
customer contracts that have similar characteristics. The selected method that better predicts the amount of
variable consideration related to promotion rebates is primarily driven by promotion plan for more than one
product orders.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in the transaction price, the Group considers whether the
amount of variable consideration is constrained. The Group determined that the estimates of variable
consideration are not constrained based on its historical experience, business forecast and the current economic
conditions. In addition, the uncertainty on the variable consideration will be resolved within a short time frame.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

Estimating variable consideration for promotion rebate
The Group estimates expected promotion rebates based on their promotion plans for each type of products
monthly. Any significant changes in promotion plans as compared to actual subsequent promotion activities will
impact the expected rebate percentages estimated by the Group.

The Group updates its assessment of expected promotion rebates quarterly and the refund liabilities are adjusted
accordingly. As at 31 December 2023, the amount recognised as refund liabilities was US$13,336,000 (2022:
US$11,585,000) for the expected promotion rebates.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provisions for obligations arising from recall

The Group submitted reports to relevant institutions to recall certain models of air fryers and replace the sold units
with new models and substitute products to address a risk of thermal events under extremely rare and limited
circumstances and to fulfill customer satisfaction before the year end of 2022. Since the commitment to settle the
obligation arising from recall by free replacement constitutes onerous contract, the present obligation is
recognised and measured as a provision.

The provisions recognised by the Group are the best estimate of the Group’s liabilities arising from their recall
plan based on the estimated future expenditure of new air friers and substitute products, transportation fees,
rework fees and other management and supervision costs after considering the predicted customer recall
response rate using a statical method. The amount of the obligation arising from the recall is mainly determined by
customer overall response rate, incremental cost to fulfilling the replacement and other management and
supervision costs directly relating to the recall. The predicted customer recall response rate is determined by an
external specialist and the Group’s management and is based on historic recall samples, foreseeable changes in
the major recall drivers and correctively adjustments by comparing actual responses. As at 31 December 2023,
provision of US$15,754,000 for obligations arising from a voluntary recall were made.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables from customers other than the largest
retailer. The provision rates are based on days past due of these customers. For the largest retailer, the provision
rate is based on the Moody’s credit rating. The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with
forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults, the historical
default rates are adjusted. At the end of each of the reporting period, the historical observed default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and
ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s
trade receivables is disclosed in note 20 to the financial statements.

Impairment of inventories

The Group manufactures and sells goods which is subject to changing consumer demands and market trends.
Management has estimated the allowance for obsolete and slow-moving inventories based on review of an ageing
analysis of inventories at the end of the reporting period. The assessment of the provision requires management’s
judgement and estimates on market conditions. Where the actual outcome or expectation in future is different from
the original estimate, such differences will have an impact on the carrying amounts of inventories and the write-
down/write-back of inventories in the period in which such estimate has been changed. At 31 December 2023, the
Group’s impairment of inventories amounted to US$8,457,000 (2022: US$8,045,000).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an IBR to measure
lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and
with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation
when no observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions). The
Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required to
make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the losses and deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets
that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax
planning strategies. Further details are contained in note 28 to the financial statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is not organised into business units based on their products and only has
one reportable operating segment. Management monitors the operating results of the Group’s operating segment
as a whole for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment.

Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers:

2022
US$'000

North America 429,936 366,182
Europe 125,741 107,946
Asia 29,807 16,250
Total 585,484 490,378

The revenue information above is based on the combination of the locations of the Amazon accounts and
the locations of the customers.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical information (Continued)

(b) Non-current assets

2023 2022

US$°000 US$'000

North America 4,271 5,597
China 31,369 25,306
Europe 55 92
Other 530 2,140
Total 36,225 33,135

The non-current asset information above is based on the locations of the assets and excludes deferred tax
assets.

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Information about a major customer

Revenue of approximately US$444,124,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: US$405,097,000) was
derived from sales to a single retailer, including sales to a group of entities which are known to be under common
control with that customer.

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

2023 2022
US$°000 US$'000
Revenue from contracts with customers 585,484 490,378

(i) Disaggregated revenue information

2023 2022

US$°000 US$'000

Timing of revenue recognition
Goods transferred at a point in time 585,484 490,378

/‘ 4 8 Vesync Co., Ltd
Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Continued)

Information about a major customer (Continued)

(i)

Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)
The following table shows the amount of revenue recognised in the current reporting period that was
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period and recognised from performance

obligations satisfied in previous periods:

2022
US$'000

Revenue recognised that was included in contract liabilities
at the beginning of the year:
Sale of products 2,864 1,044

Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is summarised below:

Sale of products

The performance obligation of sales to retailers is usually satisfied upon delivery of goods and payment is
generally due within 30 to 90 days from delivery. The performance obligation of sales to consumers directly
is satisfied upon receipt of products by customers and payments are generally received when customers
place orders on the platform. The Group provides customers with a right of return within 30 days, sometimes
extending up to 90 days.

At 31 December 2023, the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) were
expected to be recognised within one year. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to
these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(i) Refund liabilities

2023 2022
US$’000 US$'000
Refund liabilities arising from sales return 994 6,940
Refund liabilities arising from promotion rebates 12,342 4,645
Total 13,336 11,585
An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

2023 2022
US$’000 US$'000

Other income
Bank interest income 3,771 775
Government grants* 2,930 2,562
Others 62 705
Total other income 6,763 4,042

Gains

Foreign exchange gains, net 3,494 —
Total other income and gains 10,257 4,042

unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2023 2022
Notes US$’000 US$'000

Cost of inventories sold 259,433 235,781
Amazon fulfilment fee 1,282 963
Commission to platform 2,568 2,409
Research and development costs* 34,161 29,954
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 13 2,609 2,172
Amortisation of other intangible assets 15 218 271
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 14(a) 4,198 4,589
Auditor’s remuneration 1,080 780
Lease payments not included in the measurement of

lease liabilities 14(c) 232 382
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 195 (4)
Interest income (3,771) (775)
Loss on disposal of derivative instruments 6,511 2,436

Fair value gains, net:
— Derivative instruments — transactions not
qualifying as hedges 86 1,261
Foreign exchange differences, net (3,494) 4,421

Employee benefit expenses (excluding directors’ and chief
executive’s remuneration (note 8)):

Wages and salaries 61,895 51,538

Pension scheme contributions 7,829 7,249

Staff welfare expenses 4,352 5,757

Equity-settled share award expense 2,783 3,051
Total 76,859 67,595
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of trade receivables, net 20 382 (204)
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value, net** 19 412 2,028
Product warranty provision

— Addition provision 27 571 1,407
Provisions arising from voluntary recall

— Addition provision 27 7,165 48,610

Hk

Research and development costs include part of employee benefit expense, depreciation of property, plant and equipment and
amortisation of other intangible assets.

The net write-down of inventories to net realisable value is included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

7. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

2023 2022
US$’000 US$'000

Interest on bank loans 626 893
Interest on lease liabilities 480 653
Interest on discounted bank notes and others 426 145
Total 1,532 1,691

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation, is as follows:

Group

2023 2022

US$°000 US$'000

Fee 109 109
Other emoluments:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 990 954

Performance related bonus 200 62

Pension scheme contributions 19 19

Equity-settled share option expense 624 865

Subtotal 1,833 1,900

Total fees and other emoluments 1,942 2,009

During the year, certain directors were granted share options, in respect of their services to the Group, under the
share option scheme of the Company, further details of which are set out in note 30 to the financial statements.
The fair value of such options, which has been recognised in profit or loss over the vesting period, was determined
as at the date of grant and the amount included in the financial statements for the current year is included in the
above directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration disclosures.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (Continued)

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to or receivable by independent non-executive directors during the year were as follows:

2023 2022

US$°000 US$'000

Mr. Fong Wo, Felix 38 38
Mr. Gu Jiong 38 38
Mr. Tan Wen 33 33
Total 109 109

The share option expense for non-executive directors during the year were as follows:

2023 2022

US$’000 US$000

Mr. Fong Wo, Felix 24 34
Mr. Gu Jiong 24 34
Mr. Tan Wen 24 34
Total 72 102
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Executive directors, a non-executive director and the chief executive
2023

Salaries
allowances

Equity-
settled
share option

Performance Pension
scheme
contributions

US$’000

related
bonuses
US$°000

and benefits
in kind
US$°000

Total
US$°000

expense
US$’000

Executive directors:

Ms. Yang Lin 354 20 6 141 521
Mr. Yang Hai 334 120 6 141 601
Mr. Chen Zhaojun 282 60 7 246 595
Subtotal 970 200 19 528 1,717

Non-executive director:

Mr. Yang Yuzheng 20 — — 24 44
Total 990 200 19 552 1,761
2022

Salaries Equity-

Executive directors:

allowances
and benefits
in kind
US$000

Performance
related
bonuses
US$'000

Pension
scheme
contributions
US$'000

settled

share option

expense
US$'000

Total
US$'000

Ms. Yang Lin 342 — 6 195 543
Mr. Yang Hai 293 — 6 195 494
Mr. Chen Zhaojun 300 62 7 339 708
Subtotal 935 62 19 729 1,745
Non-executive director:

Mr. Yang Yuzheng 19 — — 34 53
Total 954 62 19 763 1,798
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Executive directors, a non-executive director and the chief executive (Continued)

Ms. Yang Lin is also the chief executive of the Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the reporting year.

No remuneration was paid by the Group to directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for the loss of office.

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included one director (2022: two directors), details of whose
remuneration are set out note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining four (2022: three)
highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

2023 2022
US$’000 US$'000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 1,089 726
Performance related bonuses 277 200
Pension scheme contributions 13 14
Equity-settled share award expense 1,851 1,761
Total 3,230 2,701

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

Number of employees

HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 — 1
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 2 —
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 — 1
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 1 —
HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000 1 —
HK$9,000,001 to HK$9,500,000 — 1
Total 4 3
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

10. INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profit arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which
members of the Group are domiciled and operate.

The Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and the BVI, the Company and its subsidiary are not
subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

Chinese Mainland

The provision for current income tax in Chinese Mainland is based on the statutory rate of 25% of the assessable
profits of certain PRC subsidiaries of the Group as determined in accordance with the PRC Corporate Income Tax
Law, which was approved and became effective on 1 January 2008, except for certain subsidiaries of the Group
in Chinese Mainland which are granted tax concession and are taxed at preferential tax rates.

Shenzhen Chenbei is qualified as a High and New Technology Enterprise and was subject to tax at a preferential
income tax rate of 15% (2022: 15%) during the year.

Chongging Xiaodao is located in Western Region and was entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 15% during
the year, according to the Income Tax Policy for Enterprises in the Large-scale Development of the Western
Region.

Dongguan Zhilun is qualified as a High and New Technology Enterprise and was subject to tax at a preferential
income tax rate of 15% (2022: 2.5% for the taxable income less than or equal to RMB1,000,000 and 5% for the
taxable income between RMB1,000,000 and RMB3,000,000).

Singapore

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Singapore, the income derived from qualifying activities is taxed at a
concessionary tax rate of 10% and the non-qualifying income is taxed at the prevailing corporate tax rate of 17%.

United States

Pursuant to the relevant tax laws of the United States, tax at a maximum of 21% (2022: 21%) federal corporate
income tax rate and 8.84% (2022: 8.84%) California state tax rate has been provided on the taxable income
arising in the United States during the year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

Netherlands, Germany and the United Kingdom

The subsidiary in the Netherlands is entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 19% for the taxable income less
than or equal to EUR200,000 and an income tax rate of 25.8% for the taxable income over EUR200,000 (2022:
15% for the taxable income less than or equal to EUR395,000 and an income tax rate of 25.8% for the taxable
income over EUR395,000). The subsidiary in Germany is entitled to a combined tax rate of 29.13% (2022:
29.13%), consisting of a corporate tax rate of 15%, a solidarity surcharge thereon of 5.5% and a trade tax rate of
13.3%. The subsidiary in the United Kingdom is entitled to a statutory tax rate of 25%.

The income tax expense of the Group during the year is analysed as follows:

2023 2022
US$’000 US$'000

Current tax:

— Chinese Mainland 1,370 853
Charge for the year 1,374 847
(Overprovision)/underprovision in prior years 4) 6

— United States 1,766 6,825
Charge for the year 1,633 7,229
Underprovision/(overprovision) in prior years 133 (404)

— Netherlands, Germany and the United Kingdom 1,645 527

— Others 201 (320)

Deferred tax (note 28) 5,060 (13,409)
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year 10,042 (5,524)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit/(loss) before tax at the statutory rates for the countries in
which the Company and the subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense/(credit) at the effective tax rates is as

follows:

2023 2022

US$’000 US$'000

Profit/(loss) before tax 87,472 (21,841)
Tax at the statutory tax rates 16,287 2,518
Preferential income tax rates applicable to subsidiaries (4,168) (2,561)
Expenses not deductible for tax 310 87
Income not subject to tax (664) (1,337)
Effect on opening deferred tax of decrease in rate 1 —
Additional deduction allowance for research and development costs (4,591) (3,370)
Tax losses utilised from previous years (50) (1086)
Recognition of tax losses previously not recognised — (246)
Adjustments in respect of current tax of previous period (170) (1,349)
Effect on adjustment of opening deferred tax 1,031 —
Tax losses and temporary differences not recognised 2,056 840
Tax charge/(credit) at the Group’s effective rate 10,042 (5,524)

11. DIVIDENDS

2023 2022
US$’000 US$'000

Interim — HK5.39 cents (2022: Nil) per ordinary share 8,000 —
Proposed final ordinary
— HK15.69 cents (2022: Nil) per ordinary share 23,000 —

Proposed final special
— HK Nil cents (2022:Nil) per ordinary share — —

31,000 —

The cash dividend for the period ended 30 June 2023 amounting to a total of approximately HK$62,679,000
(equivalent to approximately US$8,000,000) was approved by the Company’s shareholders on 21 August 2023
and HK$22,811,000 (equivalent to approximately US$2,915,000) has been paid during the year.

The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounting to a total of approximately

HK$179,904,000 (equivalent to approximately US$23,000,000) is subject to the approval of the Company’s
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

12. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share amounts is based on the profit/(loss) for the year attributable
to ordinary equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 1,119,095,147
(2022: 1,128,921,068) in issue during the year, as adjusted to reflect repurchase of shares during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings/(loss) per share amounts is based on the profit/(loss) attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the parent. The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation is
the number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used in the basic earnings/(loss) per share calculation,
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued on the deemed exercise of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares arising from awarded shares and share options granted by
the Company.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share are based on:

2023 2022
US$’000 US$'000

Earnings/(loss)
Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent used
in the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share calculation 77,481 (16,276)

Number of shares

Shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares during the year used
in the basic earnings per share calculation 1,119,095,147 1,128,921,068

Effect of dilution — weighted average number of ordinary shares:
Shares awarded 1,268,980 4,038,012

Total 1,120,364,127 1,132,959,080
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Machinery
Leasehold and

improvements equipment
USs$°000 US$°’000

31 December 2023

At 1 January 2023:

Office
equipment
US$°’000

Electronic
equipment
US$°’000

Total
US$°000

Cost 2,492 4,772 705 2,210 10,179

Accumulated depreciation (1,080) (2,507) (504) (1,282) (5,373)

Exchange realignment (72) (127) (14) (36) (249)
Net carrying amount 1,340 2,138 187 892 4,557
At 1 January 2023, net of

accumulated depreciation 1,340 2,138 187 892 4,557
Additions 480 2,154 57 113 2,804
Depreciation provided during

the year (note 6) (751) (1,290) (116) (452) (2,609)
Disposals — (109) (35) (46) (190)
Disposal of a subsidiary — — (5) — (5)
Exchange realignment (15) (40) 4) (23) (82)
At 31 December 2023, net of

accumulated depreciation 1,054 2,853 84 484 4,475
At 31 December 2023:

Cost 2,972 6,650 429 1,749 11,800

Accumulated depreciation (1,831) (3,630) (327) (1,206) (6,994)

Exchange realignment (87) (167) (18) (59) (331)
Net carrying amount 1,054 2,853 84 484 4,475
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Machinery
Leasehold and Office Electronic

improvements equipment equipment equipment Total
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

31 December 2022

At 1 January 2022:

Cost 1,425 3,930 603 1,678 7,636
Accumulated depreciation (634) (1,468) (390) (769) (8,261)
Exchange realignment 16 47 3 36 102
Net carrying amount 807 2,509 216 945 4,477

At 1 January 2022, net of

accumulated depreciation 807 2,509 216 945 4,477
Additions 1,067 918 102 554 2,641
Depreciation provided during

the year (note 6) (446) (1,078) (114) (534) (2,172)
Disposals — (37) — (M (38)
Exchange realignment (88) (174) (17) (72) (351)

At 31 December 2022, net of
accumulated depreciation 1,340 2,138 187 892 4,557

At 31 December 2022:

Cost 2,492 4,772 705 2,210 10,179
Accumulated depreciation (1,080) (2,507) (504) (1,282) (5,373)
Exchange realignment (72) (127) (14) (36) (249)
Net carrying amount 1,340 2,138 187 892 4,557
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

14. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for offices, warehouses, machinery and equipment such as forklifts and racks used
for its operations. Leases of office premises generally have lease terms between 12 and 78 months, while
machinery and equipment generally have lease terms between 5 and 10 years. Other office equipment generally
has lease terms of 12 months or less and/or is individually of low value. Generally, the Group is restricted from
assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group. There are no lease contracts that include
extension and termination options and variable lease payments.

(a) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the movements during the year are as follows:

Offices and Machinery and

warehouses equipment Total
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

As at 1 January 2022 12,078 320 12,398
Additions 2,910 113 3,023
Disposal or early termination (155) — (155)
Depreciation charge (note 6) (4,486) (1083) (4,589)
Exchange realignment (461) — (461)
As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 9,886 330 10,216
Additions 1,801 213 2,014
Disposal or early termination (505) — (505)
Depreciation charge (note 6) (4,071) (127) (4,198)
Exchange realignment (74) — (74)
As at 31 December 2023 7,037 416 7,453
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during the year are as follows:

31 December 2023

2023 2022
US$’000 US$'000
Carrying amount at 1 January 11,436 13,636
New leases 2,014 3,023
Accretion of interest recognised during the year 480 653
Covid-19-related rent concessions from lessors — (154)
Payments 4,771) (4,980)
Disposal or early termination (562) (180)
Exchange realignment (81) (562)
Carrying amount at 31 December 8,516 11,436
Analysed into:
Current portion 3,532 4,128
Non-current portion 4,984 7,308

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 37 to the financial statements.

The Group applied the practical expedient to all eligible covid-19-related rent concessions granted by the

lessors during the year ended 31 December 2022.

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as follows:

2023 2022

US$’000 US$'000

Interest on lease liabilities 480 653

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 4,198 4,589
Expense relating to short-term leases (included in selling and

distribution expenses and administrative expenses) 232 382

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 4,910 5,624

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 32(c) to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

15. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Software Trademarks Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

31 December 2023

Cost at 1 January 2023, net of accumulated amortisation 207 — 207
Additions 31 — 31

Amortisation provided during the year (note 6) (218) — (218)
Exchange realignment (3) — 3)
At 31 December 2023 17 — 17

At 31 December 2023:

Cost 1,336 835 2,171

Accumulated amortisation and impairment loss (1,330) (849) (2,179)

Exchange realignment 11 14 25
Net carrying amount 17 — 17

31 December 2022

Cost at 1 January 2022, net of accumulated amortisation 288 — 288
Additions 213 — 213
Amortisation provided during the year (note 6) (271) — (271)
Exchange realignment (23) — (23)
At 31 December 2022 207 — 207

At 31 December 2022:

Cost 1,368 835 2,203
Accumulated amortisation and impairment loss (1,164) (849) (2,013)
Exchange realignment 3 14 17
Net carrying amount 207 — 207
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

16. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE

2023 2022

US$’000 US$'000

Share of net assets 10,851 11,215

Particulars of the Group’s joint venture is as follows:

Percentage of
ownership
Nominal value interest, voting

Place of of registered power and profit
registration share capital sharing Principal activities

Sanya City Fengyuan Chenle  PRC/ RMB252,500,000 64.25% Investment in industries of
Equity Investment Fund PPL  Chinese Mainland smart household appliances
(“Fengyuan Chenle”) and smart home devices.

The above investment is directly held by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Fengyuan Chenle, which is considered a joint venture of the Group due to significant business decision require
unanimous approval by all partners, acts as the Group’s investee to find the suppliers or platforms for business
expansion in the industry and is accounted for using the equity method.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information in respect of Fengyuan Chenle adjusted for any
differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the financial statements:

2023 2022

US$’000 US$'000

Cash and cash equivalent 17,271 17,190
Other payables and accruals (381) —
Net asset 16,890 17,190

Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the joint venture:

Proportion of the Group’s ownership 64.25% 65.24%
Group’s share of net assets of the associate 10,851 11,215
Carrying amount of the investment 10,851 11,215
Other income 252 271
Administrative expenses (376) —
(Loss)/profit for the year (124) 271
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

17. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

2023 2022

US$’000 US$'000

Share of net assets 60 84
Goodwill on acquisition 916 916
Subtotal 976 1,000
Impairment of investment of an associate (916) —
Total 60 1,000

Particulars of the material associate are as follows:

Percentage of
Nominal value ownership

Place of of registered interest and
registration share capital profit sharing Principal activities

Japa Health, Inc. USA/Delaware US$1,929 10% Research and development of
(“Japa Health”) products

The above investment is directly held by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, which has a long-term
interest of approximately 33% of the equity voting rights in a position to exercise significant influence in the
financial and operating policy decisions of Japa Health.

18. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2023 2022
US$’000 US$'000
Equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income
Unlisted equity investments, at fair value
Zhejiang Zhirou Technology Co., Ltd. 1,778 1,554

The above equity investments were irrevocably designated at fair value through other comprehensive income as
the Group considers these investments to be strategic in nature.
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31 December 2023

19. INVENTORIES

2023 2022

US$°000 US$'000

Raw materials 900 539
Work in progress 123 203
Finished goods 87,282 121,950
Subtotal 88,305 122,692
Less: Provision for inventories (8,457) (8,045)
Total 79,848 114,647

20. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES

2023 2022

US$°000 US$'000

Notes receivables 606 137

Trade receivables 192,033 149,255
Impairment of trade receivables (557) (175)

Net carrying amount 192,082 149,217

The credit period is generally three months. Some customers have a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management.

An ageing analysis of the trade and notes receivables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
transaction date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

2023 2022

US$’000 US$'000

Less than 3 months 183,167 143,250
Between 3 and 6 months 8,015 1,019
Between 6 and 12 months 818 3,322
Between 1 and 2 years 82 1,626
Total 192,082 149,217
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31 December 2023

20. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

2023 2022

USs$’000 US$'000

At beginning of year 175 379
Impairment losses, net 382 (204)
At end of year 557 175

An impairment analysis is performed at the end of each of the reporting periods using a provision matrix to
calculate expected credit losses for trade receivables from customers other than the largest retailer and some
major customers. The provision rates are based on days past due of these customers. For the largest retailer and
some major customers, the provision rate is based on the Moody’s credit rating.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision
matrix:

As at 31 December 2023

Gross carrying Expected Expected

amount credit credit loss

US$’000 loss rate US$’000

The largest customer 169,766 0.04% 70
Others 22,267 2.19% 487
As at 31 December 2023 192,033 557

As at 31 December 2022

Gross carrying Expected Expected

amount credit credit loss

US$'000 loss rate US$'000

The largest customer 130,949 0.04% 52
Others 18,306 0.67% 123
As at 31 December 2022 149,255 175
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31 December 2023

21. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

2023 2022

US$°000 US$'000

Deposits and other receivables 3,474 9,277
Prepayments 4,796 9,852
Loans to employees 1,023 —
Loan to a third party 690 —
Other assets 9,460 7,491
Total 19,443 26,620
Current 18,420 26,225
Non-current 1,023 395
Total 19,443 26,620

The loans to employees were given for the purpose of replenishing personal liquidity.
The loan to a third party was given for the purpose of replenishing its working capital temporarily.
The financial assets included in the above balances relate to receivables for which there was no recent history of

default and past due amounts. As at 31 December 2022 and 2023, the loss allowance was assessed to be
minimal.

22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

31 December 2023

Assets Liabilities

US$°000 US$’000

Forward currency contracts — 214
Foreign exchange options 128 —
Total 128 214

31 December 2022

Assets Liabilities

US$'000 US$'000

Forward currency contracts — 1,127
Options for foreign currency — 102
Total — 1,229
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

22,

23.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Forward currency contracts and options for foreign currency are not designated for hedge purposes and are
measured at fair value through profit or loss. Changes in the fair value of non-hedging derivative financial
instruments amounting to US$86,000 (2022: US$1,261,000) were charged to profit or loss during the year.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, TIME AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS

2022
US$'000

Cash and bank balances 145,367 82,971
Time deposits 80,289 23,770
Subtotal 225,656 106,741
Less: Pledged deposits* 40,596 6,277
Time deposit pledged for bank notes 41,803 5,744
Time deposit with maturity of over three months 38,487 —
Restricted for the share award scheme** 462 1,119
Cash and cash equivalents 104,308 93,601
* Cash at bank were pledged for bank notes to suppliers, bank loans and derivative financial instruments purchased.

> Cash held by SWCS Trust Limited (“SWCS”) under the Share Award Scheme (note 30) can only be used exclusively for employees notified
by the board of directors under the rules of the Share Award Scheme during the trust period.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”)
amounted to US$57,984,000 (2022: US$8,522,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Chinese Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, and
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Time deposits earn interest at the
respective deposit rates. Pledged short term time deposits are made for periods with a maturity of the bank notes
and non-pledged short term time deposits are made for varying periods of between three months and six months
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group. The bank balances and time and pledged deposits
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
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31 December 2023

24. TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES

2023 2022

US$’000 US$'000

Notes payables 87,494 12,231
Trade payables 25,618 48,520
Total 113,112 60,751

An ageing analysis of the trade and notes payables as at the end of the reporting periods, based on the invoice
date, is as follows:

2023 2022

US$’000 US$'000

Within 3 months 73,283 59,794
3 to 12 months 39,658 512
Over 1 year 171 445
Total 113,112 60,751

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on terms of 60 days and sometimes
extending to 90 days.

25. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2023 2022

Notes US$’000 US$'000

Contract liabilities (a) 1,065 2,864
Other payables (b) 20,463 11,496
Refund liabilities 13,336 11,5685
Payroll payable 14,740 6,192
Interest payables — 82
Dividend payable 5,198 128
Taxes payable other than corporate income tax 4,756 6,731
Total 59,558 39,078

Notes:

(a) Contract liabilities represented the obligations to transfer goods to a customer for which the Group has received consideration. The
changes in the contract liabilities are mainly attributable to short-term advances received from customers in relation to sale of products.

(b) Other payables are non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand.
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31 December 2023

26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2023 As at 31 December 2022
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) Maturity US$’000 (%) Maturity US$'000

Current
Bank overdraft

— unsecured (note (a)) — 2024 344 — 2023 322
US$144,000 bank loans

— unsecured — — — LPR+62bps* 2023 144
US$3,937,000 bank loans

— unsecured — — — SOFR+230bps* 2023 3,937
US$3,575,000 bank loans

— secured — — — — 2023 3,575
US$2,753,000 bank loans

— unsecured 3.20 2024 2,753 — — —
US$1,319,000 bank loans

— unsecured 6.90 2024 1,319 — — —
US$1,428,000 bank loans

— unsecured 2.65 2024 1,428 — — —
US$1,431,000 bank loans

— unsecured 2.65 2024 1,431 — — —
US$989,000 bank loans

— unsecured 2.65 2024 989 — — —
US$1,348,000 bank loans

— unsecured 2.65 2024 1,348 — — —
US$519,000 bank loans

— unsecured 2.65 2024 519 — — —
US$1,583,000 bank loans

— unsecured 6.80 2024 1,583 — — —
US$2,402,000 bank loans

— unsecured 6.80 2024 2,402 — — —
US$354,000 bank loans

— unsecured 6.80 2024 354 — — —
US$3,776,000 bank loans

— unsecured 6.80 2024 3,776 — — —
US$1,416,000 bank loans

— unsecured 6.80 2024 1,416 — — —
US$141,000 bank loans

— unsecured 3.82 2024 141 — — —
US$5,004,000 bank loans

— unsecured 7.00 2024 5,004 — — —
US$ 1,412,000 bank loans

— secured (note (c)) 1.53 2024 1,412 — — —
US$1,412,000 bank loans

— secured (note (c)) 1.10 2024 1,412 — — —
US$1,430,000 bank loans

— secured (note (c)) 0.65 2024 1,430 — — —
Current portion of long-term

bank loans

— unsecured (note (b)) 1 2024 523 1 2023 517
Total — current 29,584 8,495

Non-current
1% US$742,000 bank loans
— unsecured (note (b)) 1 2025 219 1 2025 741

Total 219 741

W 72 Vesync Co., Ltd
Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

2023 2022
US$°000 US$'000
Analysed into:

Bank loans repayable:
Within one year or on demand 29,584 8,495
In the second year 219 522
In the third year — 219
Total 29,803 9,236

*

LPR rate refers to Loan Prime Rate

* SOFR rate refers to Secured Overnight Financing Rate

Notes:
(a) The unsecured bank overdraft is an overdraft within credit from credit cards.
(b) The bank loan of a total of US$742,000 is the Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) Loan guaranteed by the Small Business Administration (“SBA”).

(c) The bank loan of a total of US$4,254,000 is guaranteed by pledged deposits.

27. PROVISION

Recall Warranties Lawsuits Surcharges Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

At 1 January 2022 — 889 300 4,557 5,746
Additional provision 48,610 1,407 — 177 50,194
Reversal of unutilised amounts — — — (403) (403)
Amounts utilised during the year (1,333) (1,289) (300) (69) (2,991)

At 31 December 2022 and

1 January 2023 47,277 1,007 — 4,262 52,546
Additional provision 7,165 571 — 1,173 8,909
Reversal of unutilised amounts — — — (1,268) (1,268)
Amounts utilised during the year (38,688) (728) — — (39,416)
At 31 December 2023 15,754 850 — 4,167 20,771
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31 December 2023

27. PROVISION (Continued)

2023 2022
US$’000 US$'000

Analysed into:

Portion classified as current liabilities 16,604 49,010

Non-current portion 4,167 3,536

Total 20,771 52,546
Recall

The provision is related to a voluntary recall which constitutes onerous contracts by providing free replacement of
certain models of air fryers and substitute products. The amount of the provision is estimated based on the overall
customer response rate, future expenditures to fulfilling customers’ response and necessary management and
supervision costs.

Warranties

The Group provides one-year warranties to its customers on their products sold. The amount of the provision for
the warranties is estimated based on sales volumes and past experience of the level of replacements. The
estimation basis is reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised where appropriate.

Lawsuits

The provision is mainly attributable to legal proceedings in relation to a product liability dispute with customers
and patent infringement.

Surcharges

The provision is mainly attributable to tax surcharges in relation to customs duty due to late payments.
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31 December 2023
28. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax assets

Unrealised Equity-settled
profit from Provision for Uniformof  share award
inter-company  Inventory Lease  warranties capitalization of and option  Refund
transactions provision liabilities andrecall inventory cost arrangement liabilities Others Total
US$000  US§000  US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$000  US$000  US$000  US$000
At 1 January 2022 11,844 1,656 3,007 218 419 212 — 105 17,461
Deferred tax credited/
(charged) to profit during
the year (note 10) 2,659 580 (678) 5,120 1,880 331 3,250 442 13,584
Exchange realignment — — (42) — — — (8) — (50)

At 31 December 2022 and

1 January 2023 14,503 2,236 2,287 5,338 2,299 543 3,242 547 30,995
Deferred tax credited/

(charged) to profit or loss

during the year (note 10) (494) 95 (423) (5,149) (1,200) 310 260 226 (6,375)
Exchange realignment - — (12) — - - — - (12)
At 31 December 2023 14,009 2,331 1,852 189 1,099 853 3,502 773 24,608
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31 December 2023

28. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are as follows: (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities

Right-of-return Right-of-use
assets assets Total

US$000 US$000 US$'000

At 1 January 2022 — 2,726 2,726

Deferred tax charged/(credited) to profit or loss during
the year (note 10) 900 (725) 175

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 900 2,001 2,901

Deferred tax credited to profit or loss during the year
(note 10) (900) (415) (1,315)

At 31 December 2023 — 1,586 1,586

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial
position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

2023 2022
US$’000 US$'000

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position 23,022 28,094
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31 December 2023

28. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

2022
US$'000

Tax losses arising in:

Chinese Mainland 192 13
Hong Kong 1,044 384
United States 6,694 3,943
Japan 378 523
Others 321 35

8,629 4,898

The above tax losses arising in Chinese Mainland will expire in one to ten years, tax losses arising in Japan will
expire in ten years and tax losses arising in the United States are available indefinitely for offsetting against future
taxable profit of the companies in which the losses arose.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in Chinese Mainland. The requirement is effective
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Chinese Mainland and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by
those subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.
Pursuant the rules and regulations of Macau and Singapore, dividends are not taxable if they are distributed by
entities that have paid on the distributed income. Pursuant to the United States Corporate Income Tax Law, a 30%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in the United States. Pursuant to Germany Corporate Income Tax Law, a 25% withholding tax plus 5.5%
solidarity surcharge is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Germany. Pursuant to Dutch Corporate Income Tax Law, a 15% withholding tax is levied on
dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in Netherlands.

At 31 December 20283, no deferred tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Chinese
Mainland, United States and European Union. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland, United States and European Union will distribute such earnings in the
foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in
Chinese Mainland, United States and European Union which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
totalled approximately US$32,378,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022: US$20,928,000).
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31 December 2023

29. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

Shares
2023 2022
US$°000 US$'000
Authorised:
2,000,000,000 (2022: 2,000,000,000) ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 2,580 2,580
Issued:
1,162,884,800 (2022: 1,162,884,800) ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 1,500 1,500

The movements in the Company’s share capital and share premium during the year are as follows:

Shares

held for

Number of share
ordinary shares Share Share award

in issue capital premium scheme Total
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

At 1 January 2022 1,165,049,800 1,503 199,885 (44) 201,344
Equity-settled share award vested — — — 1 1
Shares repurchased and

cancelled (2,165,000) (3) (2,047) — (2,050)
Dividend declared — — (10,883) — (10,883)

At 31 December 2022 and

1 January 2023 1,162,884,800 1,500 186,955 (43) 188,412
Equity-settled share award vested — — 3) 3 —
Shares purchased (note (a)) — — (14,679) (38) (14,717)
At 31 December 2023 1,162,884,800 1,500 172,273 (78) 173,695

Note:

(a) The Company repurchased 12,659,000 (2022: 2,165,000) of its shares on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange at a total consideration of
HK$61,390,000 (2022: HK$15,963,000) which was paid wholly out of retained profits in accordance with section 257 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. The repurchased shares were cancelled on 22 March 2024. The Company’s Trustee following the terms of the Post-
IPO Share Award Scheme had purchased 29,471,400 (2022: Nil) of the Company’s shares on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange during the
year at a total consideration of HK$117,108,000 (2022: Nil).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Share Option Scheme

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) on 1 December 2020 for the
purpose of providing incentive or reward to eligible persons for their contribution to, and continuing efforts to
promote the interests of the Group. There is no performance target required except that the eligible participant
remains in service for the Group during the vesting period.

The maximum aggregate number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company,
must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number of Shares in issue from time to time. No options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company if this will result in
such limit being exceeded. At the time of adoption by the Company of the Share Option Scheme or any new share
option scheme (the “New Scheme”), the aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme, the New Scheme and all schemes existing at such time (the
“Existing Schemes”) of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of the Shares in issue
as of the Listing Date (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”).

Any grant of options to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or any of their
respective associates is required to be approved by the independent non-executive directors (excluding any
independent non-executive director who is a proposed grantee of the options). In addition, any share options
granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based
on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000, within any 12-month period,
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

An option is personal to the grantee and shall not be assignable nor transferable, and no grantee shall in any way
sell, transfer, charge, mortgage, encumber or create any interest (legal or beneficial) in favour of any third party
over or in relation to any option.

The Share Option Scheme does not stipulate either a minimum period for which an option must be held or any
performance targets a grantee is required to achieve before an option may be exercised. The board of directors
of the Company may specify in the offer letter any conditions which must be satisfied before the option may be
exercised, including, without limitation, such performance targets (if any) and minimum periods for which an
option must be held before it can be exercised and any other terms in relation to the exercise of the option,
including, without limitation, such percentages of the options that can be exercised during a certain period of time,
as the board of the Company may determine from time to time.
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31 December 2023

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The following table discloses movements of share options under the Company’s Share Option Scheme during the

year:
Closing price  Outstanding Outstanding
Exercise immediately  options as of options as of
price prior to the grant 1 January 31 December
Grantees (HK$/Share) (HK$/Share) 2023 Granted Exercised Canceled 2023 Exercise period
Directors
Yang Lin 12.88 10.360 1,150,000 — — — — 1,150,000 14 May 2021 to
13 May 2031
Yang Hai 12.88 10.360 1,150,000 — — — — 1,150,000 14 May 2021 to
13 May 2031
Chen Zhaojun 12.88 10.360 2,000,000 — — — — 2,000,000 14 May 2021 to
13 May 2031
Yang Yuzheng 12.88 10.360 200,000 - — - — 200,000 14 May 2021 to
13 May 2031
Fong Wo, Felix 12.88 10.360 200,000 — — — — 200,000 14 May 2021 to
13 May 2031
Gu Jiong 12.88 10.360 200,000 — — — — 200,000 14 May 2021 to
13 May 2031
Tan Wen 12.88 10.360 200,000 - — - — 200,000 14 May 2021 to
13 May 2031
Total 5,100,000 — — — — 5,100,000

The share options can be vested in accordance with the following schedule:

o 10% of the total number of the options granted are exercisable at any time on or after the first anniversary of
the Grant Date;

° another 10% of the total number of the options granted are exercisable at any time after the second
anniversary of the Grant Date;

° another 20% of the total number of the options granted are exercisable at any time after the third anniversary
of Grant Date;

° another 30% of the total number of the options granted are exercisable at any time after the fourth
anniversary of the Grant Date; and

o the remaining 30% of the total number of the options granted are exercisable at any time after the fifth
anniversary of the Grant Date.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The fair value of the options granted on 14 May 2021 was HK$21,146,000 (HK$4.15 each) (equivalent to
US$2,722,000 (US$0.53 each)). The fair value of equity-settled share options granted was estimated as at the
date of grant using a binomial model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

Dividend yield (%) 1.00
Expected volatility (%) 41.54
Risk-free interest rate (%) 1.21
Early exercise multiple 2.80
Weighted average share price (HK$ per share) 10.36
Forfeiture rate (%) 0.00

As at 31 December 2023, the number of options available for grant under the Share Option Scheme mandate was
107,210,480 (31 December 2022: 107,210,480).

Post-IPO Share Award Scheme

The Company adopted the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme (the “Scheme”) to recognise the contributions by
certain eligible participants and to provide them with incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation
and development of the Group and to attract suitable personnel for further development of the Group. The
Scheme was amended in October 2023 to comply with the provisions of the amendment to Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules. The Scheme became effective on 20 July 2021 and ending on 23 October 2033 (10 years from the
date of adoption of the amended Post-IPO Share Award Scheme).

The Scheme is subject to the administration of the board of director of the Company (the “Board”) and the trustee
in accordance with the scheme rules and the trust deed. The decision of the Board with respect to any matter
arising under the Scheme (including the interpretation of any provision) shall be final and binding.

The maximum number of share awards currently permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. The maximum number of shares issuable
under share awards to each eligible participant in the Scheme is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Post-IPO Share Award Scheme (Continued)

(i)

Shares transferred from Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme

On 16 June 2020, the Company adopted the Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”)
which is subject to the administration of the Board in accordance with the rules of the Share Award Scheme
and the Company established the Share Award Trust with Bank of Communications Trustee Limited (“BOCT”)
for holding the awarded shares for the benefit of the selected employees. On 28 April 2022, SWCS was
appointed by the Company as the successor trustee to manage the pre-IPO trust. The pre-IPO trust was
terminated after the shares and trust assets were transferred to post-IPO trust in October 2022. There were
34,104,800 shares transferred to post-IPO trust and available for grant under Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme.

On 1 November 2020, the Company granted and vested 10,000 shares (8,000,000 Shares after
capitalisation) (the “Vested Awarded Shares”) with consideration of HK$100 to Ms. Jiang Junxiu before the
Company’s listing on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing”) under the Share Award
Scheme. In connection with the aforesaid grant, as instructed by the Company, BOCT transferred 10,000
Awarded Shares at par to Gongjin BVI, an investment holding vehicle of Ms. Jiang Junxiu, accordingly.
Pursuant to the terms of the Share Award Scheme and the specific terms and conditions set out in the grant
notice (“Grant Notice”), the awarded shares shall be vested on Ms. Jiang Junxiu on a one-off basis on or
before the Listing, and subject to a five-year undertaking period on the Vested Awarded Shares from the
date of vesting as imposed by the Board (the “Undertaking Period”), and the Vested Awarded Shares
granted to Ms. Jiang Junxiu will be considered as fulfilled during the Undertaking Period in accordance with
the following schedule (the “Fulfilment Schedule”):

° 10% of Ms. Jiang Junxiu’s vested shares shall become fulfilled upon the first anniversary of the date of
vesting;

° 10% of Ms. Jiang Junxiu’'s vested shares shall become fulfilled upon the second anniversary of the
date of vesting;

° 20% of Ms. Jiang Junxiu’s vested shares shall become fulfilled upon the third anniversary of the date of
vesting;

o 30% of Ms. Jiang Junxiu’s vested shares shall become fulfilled upon the fourth anniversary of the date
of vesting; and

o 30% of Ms. Jiang Junxiu’s vested shares shall become fulfilled upon the fifth anniversary of the date of
vesting.

During the Undertaking Period, if Ms. Jiang Junxiu ceases to be able to satisfy the vesting conditions
applicable to her, including performance conditions and service condition, Ms. Jiang Junxiu shall pay to the
Company an amount equivalent to the difference between the vesting price as specified in the Grant Notice
(the “Vesting Price”) and the Offer price multiplied by the unfulfilled portion of the Vested Awarded Shares
according to the Fulfilment Schedule.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
Post-IPO Share Award Scheme (Continued)

(i) Shares transferred from Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme (Continued)

Upon the grant of any of the shares granted as specified in grant notice (the “Awarded Shares”), the fair
value of the Awarded Shares granted to the Selected Employees will be measured at the date of grant and
will be recognised as expense in the financial statements of the Group over the undertaking period. The
number of vested shares that are not fulfilled at 31 December 2023 was 4,800,000 (2022: 6,400,000). The
fair value of the Awarded Shares granted on 1 November 2020 was HK$22,000,000, which was estimated as
at the date of grant using a discounted cash flow model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which the Awarded Shares were granted.

(i) Shares awarded after the Listing
Since 27 July 2021, pursuant to share award notices, several employees have been granted shares of the
Company at nil consideration with various vesting periods. The following table discloses movements of share

awards under the Company’s Post-IPO Share Award Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2023:

Fair value as of
date of grantof the ~ Unvested Unvested
Purchase awards granted  awards as awards as of
Date of price during the year of 1 January 31 December
Grantees  Grant (HKS/Share) (HK$/Share) 2023 Granted Vested Canceled Lapsed 2023 Vesting period
Employees
2021/7/21 — 11.32 255,000 — 27,500 — 200,000 27,500 21 July 2021 to
20 July 2026 (Note a)
2022/111 — 929 1,932,200 — 710,200 — — 1,222,000 31 October 2022 to
17 October 2026
(Note b)
2022/119 — 8.42 234,000 — 46,800 — — 187,200 18 January 2023 to
18 January 2025
(Note c)
2022/4/9 — 4.83 113,000 — 22,600 — — 90,400 8 April 2023 to
8 April 2025 (Note d)
2022/7/6 — 499 1,003,000 — 200,600 — — 802,400 5 July 2023 to
5 July 2025 (Note e)
20221111 — 218 1,200,000 — 120,000 — — 1,080,000 5 July 2023 to
5 July 2027 (Note f)
2022/12/27 — 49 224,000 — — — 224,000 — Not applicable
2023/10/26 — 4.89 — 3,730,000 632,200 — — 3,097,800 31 October 2023 to
5 July 2027 (Note g)
2023/10/31 — 4.93 — 2,026,000 506,500 — — 1,619,500 13 November 2023 to
13 November 2026
(Note h)
20231111 — 48 — 411,000 — — — 411,000 1 November 2024 to
1 November 2026
(Note i)
2023/11/6 — 4.62 — 232,000 — — — 232,000 6 November 2024 to
6 November 2026
(Note j)
Total 4,961,200 6,399,000 2,266,400 — 424,000 8,669,800
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Post-IPO Share Award Scheme (Continued)

(i) Shares awarded after the Listing (Continued)
The following table discloses movements of share awards under the Company’s Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2022:

Fair value as of
date of grant of the ~ Unvested Unvested
Purchase awards granted  awards as awards as of
Date of price during the year of 1 January 31 December
Grantees  Grant (HKS/Share) (HK$/Share) 2022 Granted Vested Canceled Lapsed 2022 Vesting period
Employees
2021/7/21 — 11.32 255,000 — — — — 255,000 21 July 2021 to
20 July 2026
2022/111 — 9.29 — 2,493,000 560,800 — — 1,932,200 31 October 2022 to
17 October 2026
2022/1/19 — 8.42 — 234,000 — — — 234,000 18 January 2023 to
18 January 2025
2022/4/9 — 4.83 — 113,000 — — — 113,000 8 April 2023 to
8 April 2025
2022/7/6 — 499 — 1,008,000 — — — 1,003,000 5 July 2023 to
5 July 2025
2022/111 — 218 — 1,200,000 — — — 1,200,000 5 July 2023 to
5 July 2027
2022/12/27 — 49 — 224,000 — — — 224,000 27 December 2023 to
27 December 2025
Total 255,000 5,267,000 560,800 — — 4,961,200
Notes:

(a) The 27,500 share awards shall be vested in 2024;

(b) The 1,222,000 share awards shall be vested in accordance with the following schedule:
974,000 share awards shall be vested in 2024;
134,000 share awards shall be vested in 2025; and
114,000 share awards shall be vested in 2026.

(c) The 187,200 share awards shall be vested in accordance with the following schedule:
70,200 share awards shall be vested in 2024; and
117,000 share awards shall be vested in 2025.

(d) The 90,400 share awards shall be vested in accordance with the following schedule:
33,900 share awards shall be vested in 2024; and
56,500 share awards shall be vested in 2025.

(e) The 802,400 share awards shall be vested in accordance with the following schedule:

300,900 share awards shall be vested in 2024; and
501,500 share awards shall be vested in 2025.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Post-IPO Share Award Scheme (Continued)

(i) Shares awarded after the Listing (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

) The 1,080,000 share awards shall be vested in accordance with the following schedule:
120,000 share awards shall be vested in 2024;
240,000 share awards shall be vested in 2025;
360,000 share awards shall be vested in 2026; and
360,000 share awards shall be vested in 2027.

(9) The 3,097,800 share awards shall be vested in accordance with the following schedule:
1,075,050 share awards shall be vested in 2024;
1,738,250 share awards shall be vested in 2025;
219,750 share awards shall be vested in 2026; and
64,750 share awards shall be vested in 2027.

(h) The 1,519,500 share awards shall be vested in accordance with the following schedule:
506,500 share awards shall be vested in 2024;
506,500 share awards shall be vested in 2025; and
506,500 share awards shall be vested in 2026;

(i) The 411,000 share awards shall be vested in accordance with the following schedule:
82,200 share awards shall be vested in 2024;
128,300 share awards shall be vested in 2025; and
205,500 share awards shall be vested in 2026;

0 The 232,000 share awards shall be vested in accordance with the following schedule:
46,400 share awards shall be vested in 2024;
69,600 share awards shall be vested in 2025; and
116,000 share awards shall be vested in 2026;

The fair value of the awards was measured at the date of grant, which was estimated by closing price of
shares on the grant date. The fair value of the awards granted was HK$69,434,000 in total.

Subject to the discretion of the Board, the Company may further utilise the lapsed shares for other
participants under the Scheme accordingly. As at 31 December 2023, the number of awards available for
grant under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme mandate was 104,791,480 (31 December 2022:
110,766,480) including the 424,000 shares that have lapsed during the year in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the Scheme.

The fair value of the options awards was measured at the date of grant and recognised as expense in the

financial statements of the Group over the vesting or fulflment period. For the year ended 31 December
2023, the Group recognised share option and award expenses of US$3,407,000 (2022: US$3,916,000).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

31.

32.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the reporting periods are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 117 of the financial statements.

Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC, certain subsidiaries of the Group which are domestic
enterprises are required to allocate 10% of their profit after tax, as determined in accordance with the relevant
PRC accounting standards, to their respective statutory surplus reserves until the reserves reach 50% of their
respective registered capital. Subject to certain restrictions set out in the Company Law of the PRC, part of the
statutory surplus reserves may be converted to increase share capital, provided that the remaining balance after
the capitalisation is not less than 25% of the registered capital.

Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of entities of which the functional currencies are not USS$.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

The Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets of US$2,014,000 (2022: US$3,023,000) and non-
cash additions to lease liabilities of US$2,014,000 (2022: US$3,023,000) for the year ended 31 December
2023, respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for offices, warehouses, machinery and equipment.

The Group endorsed certain bills receivable accepted by certain banks in the PRC to certain of its suppliers
in order to settle the trade and other payables due to such supplies with carrying amounts in aggregate of
US$12,156,000 (2022: US$1,448,000).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Lease Bank Interest

liabilities borrowings payables

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

At 1 January 2022 13,636 34,900 —
Changes from financing cash flows (4,980) (24,024) (63)
Interest expense 653 893 145
New leases 3,023 — —
Early termination (180) — —
Loan forgiveness — (928) —
Covid-19-related rent concessions from lessors (154) — —
Exchange realignment (562) (1,605) —
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 11,436 9,236 82
Changes from financing cash flows (4,771) 20,148 (508)
Interest expense 480 626 426
New leases 2,014 — —
Early termination (562) — —
Exchange realignment (81) (207) —
At 31 December 2023 8,516 29,803 —

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the consolidated statements of cash flows is as follows:

2023 2022
US$’000 US$'000

Within operating activities 269 382
Within financing Activities 4,771 4,980
5,040 5,362

33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As any other company doing business, the Company is involved in litigation, regulatory inquiry and/or investigation
in the ordinary course of doing business. The legal actions concern, among other things, recall, consumer
protection, false advertising, infringement intelligence property rights, in connection with the Company’s
operations. These cases or inquires have progressed to various stages ranging from initial inquires, initial pleading
stages to recovery stages. From time to time, parties may file counterclaims, and the Company will seek to
vigorously prosecute and/or defend against any claims and resolve them in the ordinary course of business.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the Group’s a principal related party are as follows:

Name Relationship with the Company

Ms. Jiang Junxiu A shareholder of the Company and a director of subsidiaries

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with related parties during the year:

Withholding individual income tax on behalf of

2023 2022

US$°000 US$'000

Ms. Jiang Junxiu — 43

(b) Outstanding balance with a related party:

Other receivables

2023 2022

US$’000 US$'000

Ms. Jiang Junxiu — 43

This balance is unsecured, interest-free and had no fixed terms of repayment.

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

2023 2022

US$’000 US$'000

Short-term employee benefits 1,394 1,125
Pension scheme contributions 25 19
Equity-settled share option expense 624 865
Total compensation paid to key management personnel 2,043 2,009

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the reporting periods are
as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

2023 2022

US$’000 US$'000

Derivative financial assets 128 —

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

2023 2022
US$’000 US$'000

Equity investment designed at fair value through
other comprehensive income 1,778 1,554

Financial assets at amortised cost

2023 2022

US$°000 US$'000

Trade and notes receivables 192,082 149,217
Financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables

and other assets 5,187 9,277

Time deposits 38,487 —

Pledged deposits 82,861 13,140

Cash and cash equivalents 104,308 93,601

Total 422,925 265,235

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

2023 2022
US$°000 US$'000
Derivative financial liabilities 214 1,229
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31 December 2023

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

2022
US$'000

Trade and notes payables 113,112 60,751
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 20,463 11,795
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 29,803 9,236
Total 163,378 81,782

36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, pledged deposits, trade receivables,
trade payables, financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets, financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals, interest-bearing bank borrowings and lease liabilities approximate to
their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The fair value of the non-current portion of lease liabilities has been calculated by discounting the expected future
cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.
The changes in fair value as a result of the Group’s own non-performance risk of lease liabilities as at 31
December 2023 were assessed to be insignificant.

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments with various counterparties, principally financial institutions
with A credit ratings. Derivative financial instruments, including forward currency contracts and options for foreign
currency, are measured using valuation techniques similar to forward pricing, using present value calculations.
The models incorporate various market observable inputs including the credit quality of counterparties, foreign
exchange spot and forward rates and interest rate curves. The carrying amounts of forward currency contracts
and options for foreign currency are the same as their fair values.

As at 31 December 2023, the mark-to-market value of the derivative asset position was net of a credit valuation
adjustment attributable to derivative counterparty default risk. The changes in counterparty credit risk had no
material effect on the hedge effectiveness assessment for derivatives designated in hedge relationship and other
financial instruments recognised at fair value.

The fair value of the unlisted equity investment designated at fair value through other comprehensive income is
estimated by using a discounted cash flow valuation model based on the market interest rates of instruments with
similar terms and risks.
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31 December 2023

36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the valuation of financial instruments together with a

quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2023:

As at 31 December 2023

Significant

Valuation technique

Unlisted equity investments  Discounted cash flow
designated at fair value
through other
comprehensive income

Discount for lack of
marketability

unobservable input

Discount rate

Sensitivity of fair value to
the input

-1%t0+1% 1% increase/decrease in
multiple would result in
decrease/increase in fair
value by US$-129,000/
US$148,000

-1%t0+1% 1% increase/decrease in
multiple would result in
decrease/increase in fair
value by US$-14,000/
US$14,000

The discount for lack of marketability represents the amounts of premiums and discounts determined by the
Group that market participants would take into account when pricing the investments.

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2023

Fair value measurement using

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
US$’000 US$’000 US$°000 US$’000
Derivative financial instruments — 128 — 128
Unlisted equity investment designated
at fair value through other
comprehensive income — — 1,778 1,778
— 128 1,778 1,906
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31 December 2023

36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Assets measured at fair value: (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022

Fair value measurement using

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Unlisted equity investment designated
at fair value through other
comprehensive income — 1,554 — 1,554

Liabilities measured at fair value:
As at 31 December 2023
Fair value measurement using

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
US$’000 US$’000 US$°000 US$’000

Derivative financial instruments — 214 — 214
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments (Continued):

Liabilities measured at fair value: (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022

Fair value measurement using

Quoted prices Significant Sife]allile=Tald

in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Derivative financial instruments — 1,229 —

Total
US$'000

1,229

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 during the year are as follows:

2023

US$°000

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income

2022
US$'000

At 1 January 1,554 —
Purchases — 1,554
Total gains recognised in other comprehensive income 251 —
Exchange realignment (27) —
At 31 December 1,778 1,554

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers

into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities (2022: Nil).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing bank borrowings, cash and cash equivalents
and pledged deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised
below.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk of loss resulting from changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Fluctuations in
exchange rates between US$ and other currencies in which the Group conducts business may affect the Group’s
financial condition and results of operations. The Group seeks to limit its exposure to foreign currency risk by
minimising its net foreign currency position.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of each of the reporting periods to a reasonably
possible change in foreign currency exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit
before tax (arising from foreign currency denominated financial instruments) and the Group’s equity (due to
changes in the fair value of an equity investment instrument and financial instruments translation).

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) Increase/

foreign in profit (decrease)
currency rate before tax in equity
% US$'000 US$'000

31 December 2023

If US$ weakens against the RMB 5 767 861
If US$ strengthens against the RMB (5) (767) (861)
If US$ weakens against the HK$ 5 56 56
If US$ strengthens against the HK$ (5) (56) (56)
If US$ weakens against the EUR 5 — —
If US$ strengthens against the EUR (5) — —

31 December 2022

If US$ weakens against the RMB 5 791 873
If US$ strengthens against the RMB (5) (791) (873)
If US$ weakens against the EUR 5 1,791 1,791
If US$ strengthens against the EUR (5) (1,791) (1,791)
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31 December 2023

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets included in the consolidated statements of financial position represent the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial assets as at the end of the reporting period.

All cash and cash equivalents were deposited in high quality financial institutions without significant credit risk.

The Group groups financial instruments on basis of shared credit risk characteristics, such as instrument type and
credit risk rating for the purpose of determining significant increases in credit risk and calculation of impairment.
To manage risk arising from trade receivables, the Group has policies in place to ensure that credit terms are
made only to counterparties with an appropriate credit history and the management performs ongoing credit
evaluations of the Group’s counterparties. The credit period granted to the customers is generally from 30 to 60
days and the credit quality of these customers is assessed, taking into account their financial position, past
experience and other factors. The Group also has other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue receivables. In addition, the Group reviews regularly the recoverable amount of trade
receivables to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

The Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of
the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade receivables. The expected credit losses also incorporated
forward-looking information based on key economic variables.

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

° significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

° a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;

o it is probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

The Group has established a policy to perform an assessment of whether a financial instrument’s credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition, by considering the change in the risk of default occurring over the
remaining life of the financial instrument. The Group groups its receivables except for trade receivables into Stage

1, Stage 2 and Stage 3, as described below:

Stage 1 — When receivables except for trade receivables are first recognised, the Group recognises an
allowance based on 12-months ECLs.

Stage 2 — When receivables except for trade receivables have shown a significant increase in credit risk
since origination, the Group records an allowance for the lifetime ECLs.

Stage 3 — When receivables except for trade receivables are considered credit-impaired, the Group
records an allowance for the lifetime ECLs.
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31 December 2023

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets is
considered to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The Group classified financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets in Stage 1 and continuously monitored their credit
risk. The directors of the Company believe that there is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding
balance of financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets. As at 31 December
2023, the Group had certain concentrations of credit risk as 88.60% (2022: 87.74%) of the Group’s trade
receivables were due from the Group’s largest customer.

Liquidity risk
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of

interest-bearing bank borrowings to meet its working capital requirements.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of each of the reporting periods, based on the
contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

31 December 2023

On Less than 3to 1to 3 Over

demand 3 months 12 months years 3 years Total
Uss$’000 US$’000 US$’000 Us$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Trade and notes payables 9,050 69,873 34,189 — — 113,112
Interest-bearing bank
borrowings — 12,823 20,185 221 — 33,229

Financial liabilities included
in other payables

and accruals 20,463 — — — — 20,463
Lease liabilities — 1,046 2,946 5,030 76 9,098
Total 29,513 83,742 57,320 5,251 76 175,902
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

31 December 2022

On Less than 3to 1t03 Over

demand 3 months 12 months WEES 3 years Total
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Trade and notes payables 5,249 43,271 12,231 — — 60,751
Interest-bearing bank
borrowings — 322 8,345 764 — 9,431

Financial liabilities included
in other payables

and accruals 11,706 — — — — 11,706
Lease liabilities — 1,423 3,465 6,201 1,477 12,566
Total 16,955 45,016 24,041 6,965 1,477 94,454

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern and to maintain a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by the capital plus net debt. Net debt
includes trade payables, interest-bearing bank borrowings, other payables and accruals and lease liabilities, less
cash and cash equivalents and time deposits and pledged deposits in current assets. The gearing ratios as at the
end of the reporting periods were as follows:

2023 2022
US$’000 US$'000

Trade and notes payables 113,112 60,751
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 29,803 9,236
Other payables and accruals 59,558 39,078
Lease liabilities 8,516 11,436
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (104,308) (93,601)
Short-term time deposits (32,752) —
Pledged deposits (78,028) (13,140)
Net debt (4,099) 13,760
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 327,516 277,758
Capital and net debt 323,417 291,518
Gearing ratio N/A 4.72%

38. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no other significant events that required additional disclosure or adjustments occurred after the end of
the reporting period.

W 98 Vesync Co., Ltd
Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting periods is as
follows:

2023 2022
US$’000 US$'000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Investment in subsidiaries 11,413 8,104
Due from a related party (note (a)) 540 1,162
Total non-current assets 11,953 9,266
CURRENT ASSETS

Other receivables 2 2
Due from subsidiaries 153,497 183,600
Cash and cash equivalents 28,166 105
Total current assets 181,665 183,707
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other payables and accruals 5,333 146
Due to a related party 7,457 1,152
Total current liabilities 12,790 1,298
NET CURRENT ASSETS 168,875 182,409
Net assets 180,828 191,675
EQUITY

Share capital 1,500 1,500
Treasury shares

Share premium (note (b)) 172,273 186,955
Reserves (note (b)) 7,055 3,220
Total equity 180,828 191,675

Vesync Co., Ltd
Annual Report 2023

199



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Notes:
(a) The balances represent shares held by SWCS with an amount of US$78,000 (2022: US$43,000) and cash held by SWCS with an amount of
US$462,000 (2022: US$1,119,000) deriving from the dividend declared under the Share Award Scheme (note 30) as at the end of the

reporting period.

(b) A summary of the Company’s share premium and reserves is as follows:

Share Retained

Share award and profits/

premium Treasury option accumulated
account shares reserve losses Total
US$000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
At 1 January 2022 199,885 — 1,674 (1,826) 199,733
Profit for the year — — — 7,085 7,085
Equity-settled share award and option arrangement — — 3,916 — 3,916
Shares repurchased (2,047) — — — (2,047)
Dividends declared (10,883) — — (7,629) (18,512)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 186,955 — 5,590 (2,370) 190,175
Profit for the year — — — 16,284 16,284
Equity-settled share award and option arrangement — — 3,407 — 3,407
Equity-settled share awards vested (3) — — — (3)
Shares repurchased — (7,856) — — (7,856)
Shares purchased (14,679) — — — (14,679)
Dividends declared — — — (8,000) (8,000)
At 31 December 2023 172,273 (7,856) 8,997 5914 179,328

40. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25 March 2024.
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“2024 AGM”

“Annuity Trust I”

“Annuity Trust II”

“Annuity Trust IlI”

“Annuity Trust IV”

“Annuity Trusts”

“Articles” or “Articles of Association”

“Audit Committee”
“Board”
“CG Code”

“China” or “PRC”

“Company”

“Director(s)”
“EUR”

“Family Trusts”

“Global Offering”

“Group”or “our” or “we”or“us”

“HK$”

DEFINITIONS

the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on May 30,
2024

Lin Yang Annuity Trust I, an irrevocable grantor retained annuity trust with a term
of two years established by Ms. Yang, of which North Point Trust Company L.L.C.
is the trustee for the benefit of Family Trust |

Lin Yang Annuity Trust Il, an irrevocable grantor retained annuity trust with a term
of three years established by Ms. Yang, of which North Point Trust Company L.L.C.
is the trustee for the benefit of Family Trust Il

Lin Yang Annuity Trust lll, an irrevocable grantor retained annuity trust with a
term of two years established by Ms. Yang, of which North Point Trust Company
L.L.C. is the trustee for the benefit of Family Trust |

Lin Yang Annuity Trust IV, an irrevocable grantor retained annuity trust with a
term of three years established by Ms. Yang, of which North Point Trust Company
L.L.C. is the trustee for the benefit of Family Trust Il

Annuity Trust |, Annuity Trust I, Annuity Trust Il and Annuity Trust IV

the amended and restated articles of association of the Company conditionally
adopted on December 1, 2020 and effective on December 18, 2020, as
amended or supplemented from time to time

the audit committee of the Board
the board of Directors
the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

the People’s Republic of China, but for the purpose of this annual report only and
except where the context requires otherwise, references in this annual report to
“China” or “PRC” do not include Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative
Region and Taiwan

Vesync Co., Ltd, an exempted company with limited liability incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands on January 9, 2019, and registered as a non-Hong Kong
company under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance on June 15, 2020

the director(s) of the Company
Euros, the lawful currency of the member states of the European Union

Lin Yang Family Trust |, an irrevocable trust established by Ms. Yang as both the
settlor and trustee for the benefit of any children born to or adopted by Ms. Yang
and their respective issue

the offer of the Shares for subscription as described in the section headed
“Structure of the Global Offering” in the Prospectus

the Company and its subsidiaries

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
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DEFINITIONS

“Hong Kong”

“Latest Practicable Date”

“Listing Date”

“Listing Rules”

“Macau”

“Model Code”

“Nomination Committee”

“Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme”

“Post-IPO Share Award Scheme”

“Prospectus”

“Remuneration Committee”

“Reporting Period”
“SFO”

“Share Award Trust”

“Share Option Scheme”

“Shareholder(s)”

“Share(s)”

“Stock Exchange”

“United States” and “U.S.”
“US$”

wop

“loT”

“Voluntary Recall”

Vesync Co., Ltd
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the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

April 16, 2024, being the latest practicable date for the purpose of ascertaining
certain information contained in this annual report prior to its publication

December 18, 2020, on which the Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange and
from which dealings in the Shares were permitted to commence on the Stock
Exchange

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out
in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules

the nomination committee of the Board

the pre-IPO share award scheme adopted by the Company on June 16, 2020 for
the benefit of the employees

the post-IPO share award scheme adopted by the Company on July 20, 2021

the prospectus of the Company dated December 8, 2020 in connection with the
Global Offering

the remuneration committee of the Board
the year ended December 31, 2023
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

a discretionary trust established on June 16, 2020 with the Company as the
settlor and Bank of Communications Trustee Limited as the trustee

the share option scheme conditionally adopted by the then Shareholders on
December 1, 2020

holder(s) of the Share(s)

the ordinary share(s) of nominal value of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the
Company

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

the United States of America

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
per cent

internet of things

the voluntary recall of certain models of air fryers under the “Cosori” brand in the
United States, Canada and Mexico
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